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HIST(ﬁ" OF MANITOBA.

CHAPTER L

Portage la Prairie—Roman Catholic Mission—Indian A ttack—Smallpox
—Brandon House—Fort la Souris—White-Bearded Sioux—Expe-
dition under Captain Gillam—Hudson Bay Company—French
Dominion — North-West Company — Lord Selkirk — Emigration
Schemes—Opposition and Difficulty—Second Batch of Emigrants.

HAVING been requested by several old friends to
gather up the facts connected with the inception and
history of the Portage, which, in the various histories
extant, is either totally ignored, or receives but a
passing allusion, I felt it to be my duty to accede to
the request. With these thoughts in my mind, I was
seated one evening at my parlor window, which,
looking towards the south, overlooks what is known
as “The Island,” a tract of land containing over one
thousand acres, entirely surrounded by a wide slough,
in the shape of an immense pouch or stomach, and a
favorite resort of the Indians and pleasure-seekers
from the town.

Without, everything was calm and tranquil; the soft
hum of insects, the twittering of the birds, the shrill
cry of the whip-poor-will, and the lowing of the cattle
as they lazily wended their way homewards, were all

conducive to quiet thought.
2




10 HISTORY OF MANITOBA. ¢

My attention was, however, attracted to a group of portage of
Indians who were loudly gesticulating to each other Indians ar
in the soft but guttural language of the Sioux. It advent of |
may be that the sight of these noble red men, met in merce over
conclave, brought back the days when such meetings ward and
were often fraught with danger to the early white Ocean and
settlers. Be that as it may, the scene opened the coming wes
floodgates of memory, and I felt myself irresistibly, their goods
and yet not unwillingly, borne back over the years of Lake M;
which have passed, since with a few friends—some of them into ¢
whom have long since passpd to the spirit land, some short porta,

' billowy and
and northws

have wearied of the place and migrated to other shores
—1I settled down in this part of the province, and, as

with magic touch, that wonderful magician spread out Athabasca a
before me the pages of the past, crowding into the by the Macl
space of so many minutes the record of many years, Circle ; or,
I determined to make them the subject-matter of the Manitoba, th
following pages. Red ; thence
So associated is the history of Portage la Prairie It is also

middle of th
1730 and 17:
lished on the
area of abouf
some years ag
kind. The |
have swept a
it is simply n

with that of the parent settlement, founded by Lord
Selkirk, on the banks of the Red River, that to
understand the one, we have to revert to the other;
indeed, to know the reasons of many conditions of
society existing prior to 1870, we have to refer to
events preceding our dispensation, in some cases,
nearly two hundred years. I am obliged, therefore, to
the better elucidation of my narrative, to review, as

briefly as possible, the early history of the province, So far back
in order to gather up the connecting links between boines, who i
the past and the present. Winnipeg, m

Portage la Prairie, or, as the name implies, the trading house
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portage of the prairie, has long been known to the
Indians and traders who, many years before the
advent of the present population, pushed their com-
merce over the extensive lakes and rivers, lying north-
ward and westward, on to the shores of the Pacific
Ocean and the Arctic Sea. Here the voyageurs,
coming west along the Assiniboine, had to portage
their goods fourteen miles north to reach the shores
of Lake Manitoba ; thence their trusty canoes bore
them into the waters of Lake Winnipegoosis ; another

short portage and they were on the bosom of the

billowy and far-famed Saskatchewan ; then westward
and northward into the Athabasca River, through the
Athabasca and Great Slave Lake, and still northward
by the Mackenzie, into the Beaufort Sea and Aretic
Circle ; or, vice versa, having once reached Lake
Manitoba, then eastward with the Assiniboine into the
Red ; thence to Lake Winnipeg.

It is also on record, that somewhere about the
middle of the eighteenth century, between the years
1730 and 1750, & Roman Catholic mission was estab-
lished on the island already mentioned, occupying an
area of about fifteen acres. Private researches, made
some years ago, gave evidence of a habitation of some
kind. The improvements of later years, however,
have swept away any evidence that did remain, and
it is Einlply now a matter of record.

So far back as 1780, we find the Crees and Assini-
boines, who inhabited the plains south-west of Lake
Winnipeg, making a preconcerted attack on three
trading houses, representing three different corpora-
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tions of traders, and situated where the town of
Portage la Prairie now stands. Guarding well the
secret of their intentions, they carried their purpose
with two of the houses, killing the occupants and
looting the goods. A gentleman by the name of
Bruce, noted for his bravery, with a few men occupied
the third. The Indians, elated with their success, and
shouting their war-whoop, rushed on to the attack.
Mr. Bruce, true to his reputation, made it so hot for
his assailants that, after suffering a serious loss in
slain warriors, the Indians were glad to decamp,
leaving him in possession of their wounded and dead.
How far they intended to carry their hostilities was
never known.

The following year, 1781, a virulent type of small-
pox attacked both tribes, spreading throughout the
entire Indian territories, even to the shores of the
Hudson Bay, and so late as 1815, the bleached bones
of the victims of this terrible epidemic could be seen,
in great numbers, at several points on the shores of
the Bay.

In 1790, when the Red Lake Ojibeways came to
Pembina to trade, they found a small remnant of the
Assiniboines in that vieinity, who desired them to
come and live with them, as the country was large,
and as they were no longer able to resist their heredi-
tary enemy, the Sioux—a request which ghe Ojibeways
complied with. To-day, their descendants still occupy
the banks of the lower Red River, and the shores of
Lakes Winnipeg and Manitoba.

In 1793, the Hudson Bay Company’s servants made
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ywn of their first appearance in the Red River settlement,
ell the under the charge of Donald McKay, a veteran trader.
yurpose Pushing their way westward along the Assiniboine, as

its and far as the mouth of the Souris, they built there their
vme of first trading post south-west of Lake Winnipeg, which
scupied was called Brandon House, thirteen miles east of the
ss, and present city of Brandon, which continued to be a
attack. place of importance till it was seized by the “ North-
10t for Westers,” and the stores which it contained looted and

loss in transferred to Fort la Souris, a trading post belonging
ecamp, to the last named company, on the opposite side of
1 dead. the river. Brandon House, at this time, was in charge
38 was of Peter Fiddler, an old Hudson Bay officer, who had

done good service in Cumberland House, on the

small- | Saskatchewan,in 1806,.and who was the first to survey
ut the the lots along the Red River,and otherwise materially
of the assisted in the inception of the Selkirk colony in
bones 1812, ’13, and '14.
e seen, The York boats, trading between this point and
res of Hudson Bay, were able to make a return trip in a
single season. After the above calamity, Brandon
me to House was apparently abandoned. Dr. Bryce, visiting

of the the place in 1883, traced the outlines of a stockade,
em to which was 105 fget on the north, by 124 feet fronting
large, on the river, witlf a 10-foot gateway. The remains of
reredi- six houses were also apparent, the largest of which
eways was 64 x 16.
ceupy Fort la Souris, situated on the opposite side of the
res of river, appears to antedate Brandon House in its origin.
It is on record that, so far back as 1754, a French
made priest resided here, who imparted to the Indians
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religious instruction in the French language, the
remembrance of which was retained in 1804. The
Souris country, in those early days, was noted for its
large herds of buffalo, and this fort will be remembered
in pioneer history as the one which was seized and
pillaged, according to the order of Governor Miles
McDonald, in the spring of 1814. Five hundred bags
of pemmican, ninety-six kegs of grease, and one
hundred bales of dried meat, weighing about eighty-
five pounds each, were taken across the river, and
deposited in Brandon House. Fort la Souris was
then in charge of John Pritchard, who afterwards
became agent for His Lordship the Earl of Selkirk,
and who figures prominently in early history.
Two miles to the west of these, on the north side of
the Assiniboine, stood Stone-Indian-River House, or
“ Assiniboine House,” which was, in 1797, a central
trading depot, and from which supplies were taken as
far south as the Missouri. From this point, Thompson,
the astronomer, started on his visit to the Mandans, or
white-bearded Sioux, so-called from the color of their
beards—a strange people whose skin was almost white,
and who were supposed to have occupied the plains
south-west of Lake Winnipeg, at an early date, from
which they were driven by the more warlike Crees
and Assiniboines, southward towards the Missouri. As
a people they were well advanced in agriculture and
pottery, living in fortitied villages, and, if not the
Mound-builders themselves, are believed to be descen-
dants of the same. They appear to have suffered
terribly from the ravages of smallpox,and, as a nation,
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are almost extinct. A few still survive on the Upper
Missouri, who are known by the name of White-
Beards. This latter fort was the property of the
North-West and X. Y. companies, combined. “ To-day,
the traveller passing over these historic grounds, on
the quiet banks of the river, sees little indeed to
remind him of their bygone importance.” A gap in
the woods is all that remains of the last-mentioned.
A chimney and four unfilled cellars mark the spot
where stood Fort la Souris. Silence is ovér all. Before
the triumphant march of the iron horse, and a higher
civilization, these agencies of the past have crumbled
into nothing. A few years more, and they will live
only in history, preserved and chronicled by the pen
of the historian.

Amongst the events transpiring at an early date,
whose influence extended well into the present cen-

tury, probably the most important was the visit of the

ship Ketch Nonpareil, Captain Gillam, which\sailed
from Gravesend, England, on the 3rd of*June, 1668.
The origin of this expedition was the representations
of two Frenchmnen, De Grosslier and Raddison, who,
in 1666, had pushed their way up through our then
unknown country, as fac as Lake Winnipeg ; then by
Nelson River into Hudson Bay. Failing to arouse
sufficient enthusiasm to establish trading posts, either
by the colony in Lower Canada, or the Court of
France, on receiving letters of introduction from the
English ambassador at Paris to influential friends in
England, they made their way there, where they were
kindly received, and the above expedition fitted out to
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verify their researches. On the 4th of August, they
sighted Resolution Isle; on the 19th, Diggs Island ;
and on the 29th of September, they cast anchor at
the mouth of the Nemisco River. On the 9th of
December, the river froze up. Here they passed the
winter. With the return of April, 1669, the cold had
almost passed away, and the company made prepara-
tions to return to England, where they landed in the
following June. Before leaving the Bay, Captain
Gillam erected alittle stone fortress, which he named
Fort Charles. This was the first English settlement
on the shores of Hudson Bay.

On the return of the expedition, a company was
formed and application made to the throne for a
charter, which was obtained on the 2nd of May, 1670,
giving the sole use of the country “lying within the
entrance of the Straits commonly known as Hudson
Straits, together with all the lands, countries and terri-
tories, upon the coasts and confines of the seas, straits,
bays, lakes, rivers, ereeks and sounds aforesaid, which
are now actually possessed by any of our subjects, or
by the subjects of any other Christian prince or state,
to use and enjoy the whole, entire and only trade and
traffic, and the whole, entire and only liberty, use and
privilege of trading to and from the territories, limits
aforesaid, and to and with all the natives and people
inhabiting, or who shall inhabit, within the terri-
tories, limits or places aforesaid, which are to be known
as Rupert’s Land.” )

So reads the memorable Hudson Bay charter, given
by Charles IL in 1670, the privileges contained
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HISTORY OF MANITOBA. 17

in which, as to fur trading, were insisted upon, until
public opinion got so strong ‘on the matter, aided by
the influence of new settlers, who were not unmindful
to express themselves on this important matter, that
the company had to quietly back down upon it. The
last case which was tried in court was that of
William Sayre, a French half-breed, in 1849, which we
refer to.dn succeeding pages. The charter itself was
not legally revoked until the Government of Canada
had purchased the country and its privileges from the
Hudson Bay Company in 1869. Thus,for two hundred
years, the country was practically in the hands of a
monopoly, ready at any or all times to insist upon
privileges granted by a king who gave what he did
not then possess. ,

In 1685 we find the Hudson Bay Company with five
flourishing factories, situated on the Albany, Moose,
Rupert, Nelson, and Severn rivers.

The following year, 1686, a Frenchman named
DeTroyes came from Canada and took Rupert, Moose,
and Albany Factories; D’Iberville attempted to
take York Factory, but, failing in this, succeeded in
capturing New Severn ; from this to ¥697, the capture
and recapture of these posts by the English, and
French fleets, was the order of the day; in 1697 the
treaty of Ryswick was executed, which left the
French in undisturbed possession till 1718, when

another treaty, known as the'treaty of Utrecht,
restored all the territories on the Bay once more, and
for good, to British possession.

During the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries,
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many adventurous spirits, amongst whom we might
mention Champlain, in 1613, Verandrye, in 1731,
Mackenzie, in 1739, pushed their way west and north,
as far as the Rocky Mountains and the Arctic Sea.
But with these we have not specially to do at present.
As early as 1700 we find fur traders from France
extending their operations as far inland as the Assini-
boine valley, which had so developed, that in 1766 a
large trade in furs was carried on by merchants from
Montreal, who pushed their enterprises through the
whole of British America to the Pacific shores.

In 1784, the North-West Company of Montreal was
formed, composed largely of the above traders, with
the brothers Frobisher and Simon McTavish as man-
agers. From this date a feeling of rivalry sprung up,
which led up to acts of aggression and violence on the
part of these two great fur companies towards each
other, which, looked at from the standpoint of to-day,
cover those transactions with an odium which cannot
be wiped out. The Hudson Bay Company, though
insisting on the privileges of their charter, were more
humane and honorable in their dealings, though these
were often high-handed and tyrannical. The North-
Westers, once roused to opposition by these measures,
failed not to use the low cunning and cruelty of the
savage, intensified by the free use of fire-water, to
return evil for evil, and inflict on an innocent, helpless,
and suffering colony, miseries which the pen of the

historian can never faithfully record. For the present
we leave these, as we shall have occasion to refer to”

them further on.
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While these events were transpiring here, agencies
were at work in England, destined to wield a mighty
influence on this great Lone Land. In the beginning
of the present century, Thomas Douglas, fifth earl
of Selkirk, a young man of philanthropic disposition,
whose heart had been touched by the sufferings of his
countrymen throughout the Highlands of Scotland,
seeing no remedy for this evil but emigration; ad-
dressed the British Government anent this impor-
tant matter. No response being forthcoming to this
appeal, he resolved to settle a colony on waste lands
given him by the Government in Prince Edward
Island ; and the better to insure success, personally
undertook to oversee this enterprise, and gathering
together about eight hundred of these poor people, who
sorrowfully bade farewell to those heath-clad hills,
dear to them as life itself, they reached their future
home in the early part of September, 1803.

By the middle of the month they had settled on
their lots, building in groups of four and five families
together. Lord Selkirk arrived in Montreal in the
same month, On visiting his colony in the following
year, he was gratified to see very material progress.
Land was cultivated to the amount of two acres per
working hand, and they were busily engaged in
securing their harvest. Boats had been built, and the
sea itself had also contributed plenteously to their
wants. To-day the descendants of these people are
numbered by the thousands, scattered .over Prince
Edward Island. ' o

During his stay in Montreal, Lord Selkirk made




20 ~ HISTORY OF MANITOBA.

good use of his time. He was cordially received in the
city, and every attention and hospitality shown to the
noble traveller. He was particularly interested in the
region known as Hudson Bay and Rupert’s Land, and
despite the difficulties of transit, conceived the idea of
forming a colony inland on the banks of the Red River.
In order to do so more successfully, he agdin, in
1805, addressed the British Government and nation,
relative to a more extensive emigration as the only
possible remedy for a superabundance of population.
This was presented to the public in the form of a book
of over two hundred pages, in which was shown the
successful issue of the colony in Prince Edward
Island, a venture which had been predicted by many
as likely to end in failure.

In order to further his purpose, he bought largely of
Hudson Bay stock, which at this time had depreciated
from 250 to 50 per cent.,in consequence of misfortunes
or mismanagement, and which was considered as then
on the verge of insolvency. .His purchases extended
to nearly £40,000, while the whole amount of the com-
pany’s stock was under £100,000. This gave him a
powerful control in the administration of the com-
pany’s affairs and in the disposal of the property.

A general court was convened, by public notice, in
May, 1811, when the stockholders were informed that
the Governor and Committee considered it beneficial
to their general interests to grant Lord Selkirk 116,000
square miles, of what was supposed to be their terri-
tory, on condition that he should establish a colony
and furnish, on certain terms, from among the settlers

sueh lal
their tr
A wri
was Sigr
of Lord
The {
and his
a territo
area of
Ireland.
The f¢
“ Begi,
pomnt on
west to |
peg), the
lake g0 g,
thence
western |}
Assiniboj,
intersect;,
waters
the Misso
direction |
River wj,
the prinei
Lake Sag;
waters, an




. in the
to the
_in the
ad, and
idea of
[ River.
;g}jn, in
nation,
ae only
mlation.
s book
own the
Edward
Yy many

argely of
yreciated
sfortunes

| as then
extended
the com-
ve him 2
Lhc com-
prty. _
notice, In
rmed that
beneﬁci&\
rk 116,000
heir terri-
) a colony
he settlers

HISTORY OF MANITOBA. 21

sueh laborers as would be required by the company in
their trade. :

A written, protest was entered against this, which
was signed by every one present, with the exception
of Lord Selkirk himself. :

The grant, despite the opposition, was confirmed,
and his Lordship found himself the ideal proprietor of
a territory only 5,115 square miles less than the entire
area of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and
Ireland.

The following is the text of the grant:

“ Beginning at the shores of Lake Winnipeg, at a

point on 52° 50’ north latitude, thence running due
west to Lake Winnipegoosis (then called Little Winni-
peg), thence in a southerly direction through the said
lake so as to strike its western shore in latitude 52°
thence due west, where the parallel 52 intersects the
western branch of the Red River, otherwise called the
Assiniboine River, then due south to that point of
intersection to the height of land which separates the
waters running into the Hudson Bay frgm those of
the Missouri and Mississippi Rivers, then in an easterly
direction along the height of land to the sources of the
River'Winnipeg, meaning by such the last named river,
the principal branchof the waters which unite in the
Lake Saginaw, then along the main stream of those
waters, and the middle of the several lakes through
which they flow, to the mouth of the River Winnipeg
and thence in a northerly direction, through the middle
of Lake Winnipeg, to the place of beginning, which
territory is to be called Assiniboia.”
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The grant.obtained, his Lordship at once dispatched
agents to Ireland and throughout the Highlands of
Scotland, to engage servants, some for the Hudson
Bay Company’s service, and others to labor in the
colony. These last were known as his Lordship’s
servants, and were engaged for a term of years, at-the
expiration of which they became entitled to 100 acres
of land, free of cost. They were placed under the
command of Miles McDonald, who was jointly appointed
by his Lordship and the Hudson Bay Company the
first governor of the new colony.
The first batch of Scottish immigrants arrived at
York Factory late in the fall of 1811. The factory
was then in charge of William Auld, Esq., Superin-
tendent of the Northern Department of Rupert's Land,
who was reputed to be stern and despotic in the exer-
cise of his authority. After remaining a short time at
the fort, our pioneers were sent forward to Seal’s
Creek, a place about fifty miles distant up the Nelson
River, under the charge of their captain and Governor
Miles McDonald and Mr. Hillier, a Justice of the Peace.
" The winter being near at hand, they were at once em-
ployed in building log huts for shelter in this ‘inhos-
pitable region. For some reason a mutual distrust
arose between the officers and men, tending to make
matters go worse than they would otherwise have
done. On the opening of the spring they resumed
their journey to the Red River valley, reaching what
is now known as Point Douglas late in August, 1812
No sooner had they arrived than a party of armed
men, painted, disfigured, and dressed like savages,
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approached the little band of colonists, and warned
them that they were unwelcome guests and that they

must depart. The lack of food, coupled with the
notice to quit, together with

the appearance of their
armed and apparently savage ?@p so influenced the
pioneers that they resolved to” proceed to Pembina,
seventy miles distant. A-bargain was made with
the painted warriors, who really were North-West
employees, to conduef the colonists to the latter place,
in which the N‘prtﬁ-Westers had certainly the best of
it. The making of the bargain is said to have been
ludicrous in the extreme — between QGaelic, broken
English, Indian jargon, and mongrel French, with signs,
rimaces, and wry faces thrown in. At all events they
led our pioneer fathers to the little frontier town of
embina, where they passed the winter in tents accord-
ng to the Indian fashion, living on the products of the
hase in common with the natives. In May, 1813,
hey returned to the colony to commence the labors of
griculture. A small supply of seed wheat, procured
om Fort Alexander, a trading post on the Red River,
jelded them handsome returns. One man from four
arts reaped twelve and a half bushels. They had,
pwever, great difficulty in saving it from the myriads
blackbirds and wild pigeons which abounded.
eir living, during the summer, had been fish, roots,
d berries, as also wild parsnip. The wheat raised
pm this crop they determined to save for seed for
ther year. With this object they resolved to pass
p winter again at Pembina, which they did ; but the
eption by the French half-breeds was so different
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from that accorded them the previous year, that many forever.
of them resolved never to return thither under any “Farewe
circumstances. out, and
While matters were going thus with our colonists had bee
in Red River, Lord Selkirk, in 1813, visited Ireland, Mr. Kev
where he employed agents to engage servants for the for his ¢
fur trade and the colony, as also in the north of Scot- under hi
land, where among the evicted tenants of the Duchess fleet anc
of Sutherland he found many unfortunate fellow- new for
countrymen, driven by the force of cruel and un- voyage \
natural laws from their humble homes, with no tion on
knowledge whatever where to find a shelter for them- tween de
selves and families, and who were only too anxious to session o
avail themselves of any favorable opportunity to reach some cou
the prairies of the western world, the fertility of of both s
whose soil was just beginning to be known through the faith
the efforts of Lord Selkirk and others who had pre- what wa
ceded him. hatches, ]
On the 28th of June the Hudson Bay ships, the that whe:
Prince of Wales and the Eddystune, the latter con- they wer
taining the servants, the former the colonists, accom- their pet
panied by a brig bound for the Moravian missions on In the
the coast of Labrador, all under the protection of the type app
Brazen, a sloop of war, sailed out of the little harbor remains
of Stromness. I shall not attempt to portray in words the deep.
the intensity of that last look on hill and dale and and after
rugged mountain top, dear to those eyes as life itself ; boat whil
I cannot, if I would, paint the anguish of those High- with then
land hearts, as speeding out on the great deep those they buil
scenes faded away never more to be seen by their April, may

earthly eyes, but treasured in their heart of hearts the fever,
3
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forever. I can hear in their sobbing voices the words,
“Farewell, dear old land, farewell,” and so they passed
out, and calling at Sligo they took on board those who
had been engaged in Ireland, amongst whom was a
Mr. Kevaney, who figures prominently in after history
for his cruelty and overbearing manner towards those
under his charge. On the 12th of August the little
fleet anchored in the Churchill River, close by the
new fort Prince of Wales. The monotony of the
voyage was relieved in the Kddystone by an insurrec-
tion on the part of the sailors and “passengers be-
tween decks,” who became desirous of obtaining pos-
session of the ship with the intention of taking her to
some country at war with Great Britain and disposing
of both ship and cargo, dividing the proceeds amongst
the faithful. The captain, being quietly informed of
what was going on, placed armed men to guard the
hatches, loading the quarter gun with grape shot, so
that when the conspirators attempted to gain the deck
they were literally thrown back into the hold and
their pet scheme nipped in the bud.

In the Prince of Wales, typhus fever of a virulent
type appeared, causing a number of deaths, and the
remains of many of the sufferers were committed to
the deep. At Fort Prince of Wales they were landed,
and after a short stay they were forwarded, some by
boat while others had to walk, dragging their burdens
with them, to a place known as Colony Creek. Here
they built log huts and remained until the following
April, many of them still suffering from the effects of

the fever, while others were worn out by their efforts
3
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in attending the sick and dying, most of them ill-pre-
pared to stand the rigors of a winter “in which the
thermometer ranged from 30° to 50°, and even as low
as 60°, below zero.” To receive the scanty rations doled
out to them by the Hudson Bay Company, they had
to perform a journey of thirty miles on snow-shoes
every week. During the winter the white grouse or
willow partridge became very plentiful. The poor, half-
fed Highlanders' hearts were gladdened with the sight
of this, to them, heaven-sent manna, and like Peter of
old, they began to kill and eat, when, judge of their
surprise, they were commanded by Mr. Auld to hand
into his keeping the locks of their guns, on pain and
penalty of having their rations stopped. The reason
of this landlordism over the fowls of the air has never,
even at this distance of time, been apparent. Amongst
the Jast words addressed to these people at Stromness
by Lord Selkirk was the advice to take no money nor
portable articles of comfort, as these could be pro-
cured at Red River as cheaply as at home. Very dif-
ferent did these poor wanderers find it, many of them
- ill-clad or not sufficiently so to stand the extreme cold
of this northern land. Clothing could only be procured
for hard cash, of which they had none, and at extreme
prices; indeed, his lordship’s commissariat to meet the
wants of his settlers was certainly, to say the least of
it, faulty to culpability. No one, at the present stage
of our prosperity, can form an adequate idea of the
trials and sufferings of those first pioneers; and though
many of them are unknown, their memory deserves
to be honored for braving the inclemencies of a
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country which, though generous in its returns, is often
severe in the extreme, and requires all the protection
which art and science can give. At length, the long
winter came to a close. Towards the last of April
they left Colony Creek, making their way to York
Factory, having previously received back the locks of
their guns. On their way towards the latter place
they found plenty of game, which they were allowed to
shoot at pleasure, and were also kindly received at the
factory by Mr. Cook, a kind-hearted but eccentric old
gentleman, who was in charge of the latter place, and
who, for many reasons, desired the successful formation
of the colony, as he and other traders began to look
on it as likely to become, in the course of time, a
desirable and convenient place of retirement where
they could enjoy the pleasure of spending the evening
of life in the bosom of their families and in society.
During the fall they reached Fort Douglas, where
they were received by Mr. McDonald, who presented
each head of a family with one hundred acres of land
and an Indian pony. A few days later they were

* again mustered, treated to a glass of spirits, and fur-

nished with a musket, bayonet, and ammunition, with
the admonition that “the strong dictated to the weak.”
There was apparently no preparation for agricultural
pursuits, as there were no implements, nor even iron to
make them. There was, however, a field battery
with ammunition, as also a large supply of muskets
and bayonets. After a short residence at Fort Doug-
las, the colonists were necessitated to raise their
camp and proceed south to Pembina, to be within
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easy reach of the buffalo, the only apparent source of
their winter’s supplies, and which, with the addition
of fish, was at this early period the staple food of the
country. Here,aided by the company’s servants, they
built log huts, wherewith to shelter themselves, sur-
rounding the whole with a stockade, and named it
Fort Daer, in honor of Lord Selkirk. In consequence
of the continued scarcity of food, the party had again
to break up, some going to the Hudson Bay post on
Turtle River, while others joined the hunters in pur-
suit of the buffalo. |

During the summer of 1813, peace and good-will
prevailed in the Red River valley ; though strongly
opposed to the settlement, the Canadian traders, rep-
resented by the North-West Company and others, had
as yet made no overt act against the Hudson Bay
people. On the other hand, many acts of kindness
were shown by the North-West Company’s servants to
the tried and suffering colonists.
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I WiTH the progress of the American arms along the
in pur-

Canadian lakes, the North-West partners feared the
interception of their provision-laden canoces. Mr.
McDonald, on behalf of the Hudson Bay people, and
acting on instructions received from Lord Selkirk, also

;ood-will
strongly
lers, rep-

b had recognized the gravity of the situation, and the time
ers, ha

as one suitable to serve his Lordship’s interests, and
began at once a series of aggressive movements against
the North-West Company and their employees. The
colonial fort was so situated that canoes pasging
from Fort William, the principal post belonging to
the North-West Cothpany, on Lake Superior, to remote
stations on Lake Winnipeg, could not do so without
being observed by the Hudson Bay employees. They
were fired upon from the fort as also from batteries
erected on the bank of the river, no resource being
left them but to pull to shore. The cance was
vigorously searched, and all provisions taken and
placed inside Fort Douglas. Foraging expeditions
were also organized on the plains, and supplies dealt
out to the North-West servants demanded at the
point of the bayonet, as was the case with Jean Bap-
tiste, Demaris, and others. But the crowning act of

son Bay
kindness
rvants to
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all was the seizure of Brandon House, at the mouth of
the Souris River, by which a large quantity of pr(gtE
visions was secured, which was, according to Governo
McDonald’s proclamation, to be paid for in currency,
but which, like many other arrangements of the com-
pany, was never fulfilled. The following is the text of
the proclamation. After defining the limits of his Lord-
ship’s grant, the proclamation ran as follows :

“ And whereas the welfare of the families at present
forming the settlement on the Red River, within the
said territory, with those on their way to it, passing
the winter at York or Churchill Fort or Hudson
Bay, as also those who are expected to arrive next
autumn, renders it a necessary and indisfensable part
of my duty to provide for their support. In the yet
uncultivated state of the country, the ordinary resources
derived from the buffalo and other wild animals hunted
within the territory are not more than adequate for
the requisite supply. Wherefore, it is hereby ordered,
that no person trading in furs or provisions within the
territory for the Hudson Bay Company, North-West
Company, or' any unconnected individual, person or
trader whatever, shall take out provisions, either of
flesh, dried meat, grain or vegetables, procured or
raised within the said territory, by water or land car-
riage, for twelve months from this date, save and
except what may be judged necessary for the trading
parties at the present time within the territory to
carry them to their respective Jestinations, and who
may, on due application to me, obtain a licensg for the
same. The provisions, procured and raised gs above
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shall be taken for the use of the colony; and that
no loss may accrue to parties concerned, they will be
paid for by British bill, at the customary rates ; and be
it hereby further made known, that whoever shall be
detected in attempting to carry out, or shall aid
or assist in carrying out, or attempt to carry
out, any provisions prohibited above, either by land
or by water carriage, shall be taken into custody and
prosecuted as the law in such cases directs; and the
provisions so taken, as well as any other goods or
chattels, of what nature soever, which may be taken
along with them, and also the craft, carriage and
cattle instrumental in conveying away the same to

any part but the settlement on Red River, shall be
forfeited.

“QGiven under my hand at Fort Daer, 8th day of
anuary, 1814.

“(Signed) MiLes McDoNALD, Governor,

“JOHN SPENCER, Secretary.”

For this act Mr. McDonald and his sheriff Mr.
Bpencer, were arrested and taken to Montreal, Canada,
o be tried for the robbery of Brandon House. Spencer
vas arraigned before the courts of Lower Canada on

is charge, and a true bill found against him for
rand larceny by the jury. A plea, however, was
resented, representing that by virtue of his office, and
nder the charter of the Hudson Bay Company, he
as authorized to seize. Time was given by the court
) procure evidence, and obtain legal opinion from
pthorities in England. Spencer was admitted to
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bail. The court, judging from opinions received later
that there would be a failure in proving the felonious
intent, allowed the prosecution to drop. Previous to
McDonald’s arrest, which occurred in the fall, the
partners of the North-West Company, in the Northern
District, as was their usage, met in the first week of
June at head-quarters, where they received supplies for
the trip to Fort William. This year, finding their
stores empty, and knowing that Mr. McDonald had a
large supply of pemmican, a good proportion of which
had been seized from the North-West Company’s ser-
vants, and not having decided as yet to meet arms by
force of arms, which they were well qualified to do, they
entered into arrangements with the colonial governor,
whereby to receive as much supplies as would carry
them to Fort William. McDonald condescended to do
8o. On arriving at the latter fort, they were met by
their partners from Montreal, a council was held, pre-
sided over by Mr. McGillivray, and a decision arrived
at, to resist by force of arms all further encroachments
on their property and persons by the Hudson Bay
Company and their agents. The first outcome of this
decision was the arrest of McDonald and Spencer ; the
next in importance was the shooting of Mr. Johnston,
who was in charge of a Hudson Bay station at Isle a
la Crosse, in an altercation between the companies over
a fox trap. Fortunately,though there was considerable
firing, and many blows struck, only one life was lost.
On the 11th June, another melee oceurred, in which
Mr.McDonald,of the Qu'Appelle House,a North-Wester,
with a company of men, took possession of a grove of
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trees near Fort Douglas, and opened fire on the fort.
Four of the Hudson Bay men were wounded. While
Mr. Warren was in the act of discharging a blunder-
bus in the bastion, the piece exploded, giving him a
wound, of which he afterwards died on his way from
Red River to Norway House.

The high-handed policy pursued by Miles McDonald
was the means of not only putting the two companies -
at war with each other, but also of alienating the sym-
pathies of the settlers themselves, who, in the brigand-
age which ensued, suffered very materially.

In the midst of these stormy scenes, a fresh batch of
emigrants were preparing to leave Stromness, accom-
panied by a new governor and g staff of clerks. These
were largely drawn from Sutherlandshire and the
parish of Kildonan. They sailed from the above port
on the 17th of June, 1815, in the Headlow, the Prince
of Wales and the Eddystone. They were also accom-
panied by a slogp of war. Governor Semple, with a
staff of clerks, occupied the Prince of Wales, while the
Headlow and the Eddystone were occupied by the
colonists,. They reached “ Five Fathoms Hole,” in
James Bay, on the 18th August, and arrived at their
destination in the Red River valley in the August fol-
lowing. Like the previous emigrants, they were
doomed to trouble and disappointment. All they could
obtain from the company’s stores, and that, too, only
for a short time, was a few ounces of rancid butter
and a small quantity of unground wheat, per day, for
each family., The winter approaching, they were sent
to Pembina, in order that they might be near the buf-
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falo, on which they must depend for their winter’s
sustenance. All the young and active, and as many as
could be spared of the company’s servants, were

placed in two boats and proceeded up the Red River

to Fort Daer. During the night there was a heavy

fall of snow, and the river froze over. Provisions

a‘so gave out, and the nearest place of relief was Pem-

bina, forty miles distant. There being no help for it,

fathers and mothers had to bind their children on

their backs, Indian fashion, leave the boats, and

trudge throdgh the long grass covered with snow,

till they reached Fort Daer. Here they erected huts.

Again the scarcity of food compelled them to go one

hundred and fifty miles farther south, to where the

hunters, half-breeds and Indians were camped. These
received them kindly, and seemingly vied with each
other as to who could show them the greatest kind-
ness. The suffering of these poor people on this weary
journey, ill protected with clothing from the pitiless
wind sweeping over these bleak and treeless plains,
was such that they could not narrate the story with-
out feelings of horror. Even here their lot was not a
happy one, as they virtually became hewers of wood
and drawers of water to these rude savages.

With the arrival of Governor Semple, came a lull in
hostilities, for a short time at least. In the beginning
of March, 1816, Mr. Semple went west to inspect the
posts on the Assiniboine, Lake Manitoba and Swan

Lake, leaving Mr. Colin Robertson in charge. On the
16th of March, Mr. Robertson, with a company of
armed followers, attacked Fort Gibraltar, a North-
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West post, taking prisoner Mr. Cameron, who wasip
charge, as also his clerks and servants; removing all
the public and private arms, trading goods, furs, books
and papers to Fort Douglas. The furs were shortly
afterwards sent to York Factory. They also captured
the North-West Company’s express from Fort William,
imprisoned the two men in charge, seized the corre-
spondence, opened and read all communications, with
the exception of three letters addressed to Mr. Cam-
eron’s clerk, Mr. Sieveright. These were handed to that
gentleman unopened. That same day Mr. Cameron
sent Mr. Sieveright to Robertson, requesting the restora-
tion of Fort Gibraltar to its lawful owners, and to
allow them to resume their trading operations. Rob-
ertson replied, that being situated at the confluence of
the two rivers, the Red and the Assiniboine, it was the
key to the position, and he was determined to keep it
at all hazards. The same day a squad of men, with
cannon and muskets, was sent from Fort Douglas to
guard Mr. Cameron and his men. These kept guard
for some time. They then turned all the Canadians,
with the exception of Mr. Cameron and two others,
out of the fort. Mr. Sieveright being one of the
expelled, made his way to Fort Qu'Appelle, where Mr.
Alexander McDonald was in charge.

Following up his advantage, Mr. Robertson attacked
the North-West Company’s post on the Pembina River,
where it joined with the Red, captured Bostonais Pang-
man, who was in charge, with two clerks and six trip-
men, took them to Fort Daer for three days, then to
Fort Douglas, where they were kept in close confine-
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ment for two weeks, then turned out. By this move
considerable provisions were secured, as also a quantity
of Indian corn and potatoes. Not satisfied with what'
he had already done, Mr. Robertson and his men
attempted, in the early part of April, to carry Fort
Qu'Appelle. But Mr. McDonald was prepared for
them, and they were forced to retire. Recognizing
the disorganized condition of the North-West Com-
pany’s affairs in the country, McDonald sent mes-
sengers to the agents on the Swan and Saskatchewan
rivers, inviting their co-operation to recover some-
what of their lost prestige and provisions. To this
appeal a number of French half-breeds were sent to
him, who were certainly as barbarous as their parent-.
age. About this time five flat-bottomed boats, laden
with pemmican and from thirty to forty packs of furs,
under charge of James Sutherland, were on their way
to Fort Douglas. McDonald seized the whole, but
restored one and provisions sufficient to carry Mr.
Sutherland and his men to their destination, all of
whom they allowed to go with the exception of James
Bird, jun., and Mr. Pambrun, who were retained as
prisoners. )

When Robertson learned from Mr. Sutherland of
McDonald’s movements in the west, he concluded to
get to Hudson Bay as speedily as possible. He had
Mr. Cameron sent off at once in a light boat to York
Factory, where he remained for several months before
he was shipped to England ; the ice becoming too thick
ere the ship reached Hudson Straits, she was com-

pelled .to return and winter at Charlton Island. From
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this she sailed in July, 1817, reaching England in
safety. Mr. Cameron, after seventeen months’ im-
prisonment, was released without even a trial. He
returned, after a short stay, to Canada, where he spent
the latter part of his years.

No sooner was Cameron out of Fort Gibraltar than
Robertson had the walls pulled down, and all the
material serviceable rafted down the river to Fort
Douglas, where it was utilized in new erections within
the fort.

About the middle of June, Mr. MeDonald, with his
half-breeds from Qu’Appelle, made his appearance at
Portage la Prairie, expecting the arrival of a brigade
of canoes from Fort William, on the Red River, about
the 20th; and knowing that the Hudson Bay people
at Fort Douglas could blockade the river at that point
and intercept communication between the expected
canoes and himself, and that any attempt to pass
would force a collision which might prove fatal to the
North-Westers and disastrous to their interests. To
avoid this, he determined to open commun‘cation by

land, and despatched sixty mounted men, most of
whom were half-bréeds, with a quantity of pemmican,
part of which they were to use and part to give to
the oceupants of the canoes. On leaving the Portage,
he gave them orders to pass at a distance from Fort
Douglas and the colony; to molest no one, and avoid
observation if possible. This the first part of the
brigade accomplished, reaching Frog Plains on the

other side, where, meeting four settlers, they made them.
prisoners, but treated them well.

The second party,
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as they were proceeding by the edge of a swamp about
two miles from the fort, was observed by a sentry,
with the aid of a telescope, who informed Governor
Semple of the fact. With the reader’s permission I
will, at this point, introduce the evidence of Mr.
Pritchard, an Englishman, who had been in the employ
of the North-West Company, but had left their ser-
vice and become a settler at Red River, and whose
testimony has_been accepted as trustworthy by both
parties.

“In May, 1816, I was living at Red River, and in
that month and long before, frony the Indian and free
men who lived in our neighbotrhood, I heard of its
being intended to attack us; I heard this as early as
March, and in May and June the report became general.
In consequence of this information we were constantly
on the look-out day and night; a watch was kept for
the express purpose of giving the earliest notice of
their approach. On the evening of the 19th of June, I
had been upstairs in my own room in Fort Douglas.
About six o’clock I heard the boy at the watch-house
give the alarm that the Bois-brules were coming. A
few of us, among whom was Governor Semple, looked

through a spy-glass from a place that had been used
as a stable, and we distinctly saw armed men going
along the plains. Shortly after, I heard the boy call
out that the party on horseback were making toward
the settlement. About twenty of us, in obedience to
the Governor, who said we must go and see who these
people were, took our arms; he could only let about
twenty go;at least, he told about twenty to follow
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him. There was, however, some confusion at the time,
and I believe a few more than that number accom-
panied us. Having proceeded about half a mile
towards the settlement, we saw behind & point of the
woods which stretches down to the river that the party
had increased very much. Mr. Semple, therefore, sent
Mr. Bourke to the fort for a cannon, and as many
men as Miles McDonald could spare. Mr. Bourke not
soon returning, Governor Semple said, ‘ Gentlemen, we
had better go on,’ and accordingly proceeded. We had
not gone far before we saw the Bois-brules returning
towards us, and they divided into two parties, sur-
rounding us in the shape of a half-moon or circle. On
our way we met a number of the settlers erying and
speaking in Gaelic, which I do not understand, and
they went on to the fort. By this time the party on
horseback had got pretty near to us, so that we could
see that they were painted and disguised in the most
hideous manner. Upon this, as we were retreating, a
Frenchman named Boucher advanced, riding up to us,
waving his hand, and called out in broken English,
‘What do you want ? What do you want ?’ Governor
Semple replied, ‘What do you want?’ Mr. Bourke
not coming with the cannon as soon as was expected,
the Governor directed the party to proceed onwards.
We had not gone far before we saw the Bois-brules
returning upon us. Upon observing that they were
numerous, we extended our line and got more into the
open plain, retreating as they advanced towards us;
but they divided themselves into two parties, and
again surrounded us in the shape of a half-moon,
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“Boucher, who was on horseback, then came out of
the ranks of his party, and advanced towards us, call-

ing out in broken English, as before, ‘ What do you

want? What do you want?’ Governor Semple

answered, ‘What do you want?’ Boucher replied,

‘We want our fort” The Governor said, ‘ Well, go to
your fort.” After that I did not hear anything that
passed, as they were close together. I saw the Gover-
nor put his hand on Boucher’s gun; expecting an
attack to be made instantly, I had not been looking
at Governor Semple and Boucher for some time, but
just then I happened to turn my head that way and
immediately heard a shot, and directly afterwards
general firing.

“I turned round upon hearing the shot, and saw Mr.
Holte, one of our officers, struggling as if he was
shot; he was lying on the ground. On their approach,
as I have said, we extended our line on the plain by
each taking a place at a greater distance from the
other ; this was done by the Governor’s orders, and we
took such places as best suited our individual safety.
Not seeing the firing begin, I cannot say from whom
the first shot came, but on hearing it I turned, and saw
Lieutenant Holte struggling with a blacksmith named
Heden and a settler named Mackay; they were pre-
sent at the affair, and distinctly state that the first
shot fired was from the Bois-brules, and that by it
Lieutenant Holte fell ~As to our attacking our
assailants, one of our people, Bruin, I believe, did pro-
pose that we should keep them off; and the Governor
turned round and asked who could be such a rascal as
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to make such a proposition, and said he hoped he
should hear no word of that kind again; he was very
much displeased, indeed, at the suggestion made. A
fire was kept up for several minutes after the first
shot, and I saw a number wounded ; indeed, in a few
minutes, almost all our: people were either killed or
wounded. I saw Sinclair and Bruin fall, either
wounded or killed, and a Mr. McLeal, a little in front
of me, defending himself, but by a second shot he also
fell. At this time I saw Captain Rodgers getting up
again, but not observing any of our people standing, I
called out to him, ‘ Rodgers, for God’s sake give your-
self up ; give yourself up!” Rodgers ran towards them,
calling out # broken French and English that he
surrendered, that he gave himself up, and praying
them to save his life. Thomas Mackay, a Bois-brule,
shot him through the head, and another Bois-brule
dashed upon him with a knife and disembowelled him,
using the most horrid imprecations. I did not see the
Governor fall; I saw his corpse the next day at the
fort. 'When Rodgers fell I expected to share his fate.
As there was a French-Canadian among those who
surroundéd me, and who had just made an end of my
friend, I said, ‘Lavigne, you are a Frenchman, you .
are a man, you are a Christian, for God’s sake save my
life; for God’s sake try and save it, I give myself up,
I am your prisoner” Mackay, who was among this
party and who knew me, said, ‘ You little toad, what
do you do here?’ I fully expected then to lose my
life; T dgain appealed to Lavigne, and he joined in

entreating them to spare me, I told them over and
4
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" over again that I was their prisoner, and had some-

thing to tell them. Th&seemed determined, however,
to take my life, strikthg at me with their guns.
Lavigne caught some of the blows, and joined in
entreating for my safety, reminding them of my kind-
ness on different occasions. I remonstrated that I
had thrown down my arms and was at their mercy.
One of them, Primeau by name, wished to shoot me;
he said I had formerly killed his brother. I reminded
him of my former kindness to him at Qu'Appelle. At
length they spared me, telling me I was a little dog
and had not long to live, that Primeau would find me
when I came back. I then®went to Frog Plains
(Kildonan) in charge of Boucher, where I was again
threatened by one of the party and saved by Boucher,
who conducted me in safety to the plain. I there saw
Cuthbert Grant, who told me that they did not expect
to have met us on the plain, but that their intention
was to surprise the colony, and that they would have
hunted the colonists like buffalo; he also told me they
expected to have got round unperceived, and at night
would have surrounded the fort and shot every one
who left it, but being seen, their scheme had been
destroyed or frustrated. They were all painted and
disfigured, so that I did not know many. I should
not have known that Cuthbert Grant was there,
though I knew him well, had he hot spoken to me. -
“Grant told me that Governor Semple was not
mortally wounded by the shot he received, but that
his thigh was broken. He said he spoke to the Gover-
nor after he was wounded, that Semple asked to be
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taken to the fort, not being mortally wounded. Grant
said he could not take him himself, as he had some-
thing else to do, but that he would send some person
to convey him,on whom he might depend, and that he
left him in charge of a French-Canadian and went
away ; but that almost directly after he had left him
an Indian, who, he said, was the only rascal they had,
came up and shot him in the breast, killing him on the
spot, saying, ‘ You dog, you have been the cause of all
this, and shall not live. :

“The Bois-brules, who very seldom paint or disguise
themselves, were, on this occasion, painted .as I have
been accustomed to see the Indians at their war-dance.
They were very much painted and disguised in a
hideous manner ; they gave the war whoop when they
met Governor Semple and his party, and made hideous
noises. I knew from Grant, as well as from other
Bois-brules and settlers, that some of the colonists had
been taken prisoners. Grant told me that they were
taken to weaken the colony and prevent its being
known that they were there, they having supposed
that they had passed the fort unobserved.

“Their intention clearly was to pass the fort. Isaw
no carts; though I heard they had carts with them. I
saw five of the settlers prisoners at the camp at Frog
Plain. Grant said to me, ‘ You see that we have had
but one of our people killed, and how little quarter we
have given you ; now if Fort Douglas is not given up
with all the public property, instantly and without
resistance, man, woman and child shall be put to
death.” He said the attack would be made upon it
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that night, and if a single shot was fired, that. would
be a signal for the indiscriminate destruction of every
soul. I was completely satisfied myself that the
whole would be destroyed, and I besought Grant,
whom I knew, to suggest or try and devise some
means to save the women and children. I represented
to him that they could have done no harm to anybody,
whatever he or his'party might think the men had.
I entreated him to take compassion on them, and
reminded him that they were his father’s country-
women ; and in his deceased father’s name I hegged
him to take pity and compassion on them and spare
them. At last he said if all the armed and public
property were given up, we should be allowed to go
away. After inducing the Bois-brules to allow me to
go to Fort Douglas, I met our people ; they were un-
willing to give up, but at last our Mr. McDonald, who
was now in charge, consented. We went together to
Frog Plain, an inventory of the property was taken.
When we had returned to the fort, the fort itself was
delivered over to Cuthbert Grant, who gave a receipt
on each sheet of the inventory, signed Cuthbert Grant,
acting for the North-West Company. I remained at
Fort Douglus till the evening of the 22nd, when all
proceeded down the river, the settlers the second time
on their journey into exile.
“The colonists, it is true, had little now to leave.
They were generally employed in agricultural pur-

suits, in attending to their farms, and as servants of
the Hudson Bay Company, attending their pursuits
in their ordinary avocations; they generally lived in
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tents and huts. In 1816, at Red River, there was but
one residence, the Governor’s, which was on Point
Douglas ; the settlers had lived in houses previous to
1815, but in that year they had been burnt down in
the attacks that had been made upon them. The
settlers were employed during the day-time on their
land, and used to come up to the fort to sleep in
some of the buildings in the enclosure.
left behind.

“The Bois-brules’ victory being now complete, a
messenger was despatched westward to tell the news
tar and near.” This concludes Pritchard’s narrative.

All was now

o

_|STORY OF PIERRE PAMBRUN.

«1 had been for some time under the orders of Mr.

Semple, and on the 12th of April, 1816, I left Fort
Douglas, under his directions, to go to the Hudson Bay
Company’s house on Qu’Appelle River. I set out with
as much provisions as would las} us six days, when we
would get to Brandon House, about 120 miles west of
Red River. To this place, according to instructions, I
was to go first, and from thenee, if prudent, to the

Hudson Bay fort at Qu'Appelle. On the 15t of May
I left the fort with five boat-loads of pemmican and
furs. As we were going dowr™ the river on the 5th
of May, near the Grand Rapids, I made the shore in a
boat, and a party of armed Bois-brules immediately
came and surrounded me, and forced me to give up the
boats, furs and pemmican. The pemmican was landed,
and the boats taken across the river.

I was kept a
prisoner for five days.

Cuthbert Grant, Peter Pang-
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man and Thos. McKay were of the party that made me
prisoner. I was taken back to the North-West Com-
pany’s post on the Qu’Appelle River, and kept there
five days. Mr. Alex. McDonald was in command at this
station. I asked him why I had been made a prisoner,
and by whose orders I had been arrested. He said it
was by his own. There were about forty or fifty
Bois-brules at this fort. Cuthbert Grant frequently
said they were going to destroy the settlement; and I
was told Mr. McDonald said the business of the year
before was a trifle to what this would be. Cuthbert
Grant frequently talked with the Bois-brules about
going, and they sang war songs, as if they were going
to battle.

“On the 12th, I left Qu'Appelle; we drifted down
to the place where I had been stopped, and the pemmi-
can which had been landed from our boats was re-
embarked by the North-West people. We encamped
at the forks of the Qu’Appelle River. The people who
were taken with me had been liberated some time
before, and had gone away, and I had been left a pri-
soner. The next morning we encamped. The people in
the two boats which went with Mr. McDonald, sent
for some Indians, who were camped a short distance
from us; they came and went into Mr. McDonald’s
tent, who made a speech to them. A party went also
on horseback from Fort Qu'Appelle armed, but I was
in one of the boats with Mr. McDonald. In going

down the river, they talked freely of breaking up the
settlement, and taking Fort Douglas, and the people
frequently told me that McDonald had said that the

business
this woy
to this ef
b&shfullj
All our g
are now
people he
you and
right, T
You will
stop, but
not; for
brules ar(
some of y
McDonald
interprete
about it, ¢
young mey
then said :
to drive th
your land
next mornij
“The pa
the Grand
among who
& number ¢
Prisoner, by
by two of {
horseback
House, w)
about the g




HISTORY OF MANITOBA. 47

business of the year before had been nothing to what
this would be. MeDonald’s speech to the Indians was
to this effect : ¢ My friends and relations, I address you
bashfully, for I have not a pipe of tobacco to give you.
All our goods have been taken by the English, but we
are now upon a party to drive them away. These
people have been spoiling fair lands which belgng to
you and the Bois-brules, and to which they have no
right. They have been driving away the buffalo.
You will soon be poor and miserable if the English
stop, but we will drive them away, if the Indians do
not; for the North-West Company and the Bois-
brules are one., If you (addressing the chief) and
some of your young men will join us, I shall be glad.’
McDonald spoke in French, and Pangman and Primeau
interpreted. The chief said that he knew nothing
about it, and would not go himself—if some of the
young men went, it was nothing to him. MeDonald
then said: ‘ Well, it is no matter; we are determined
to drive them away, and if they make any resistance,
your land shall be drenched with their blood.” The
next morning the Indians went away.

“The party drifted down the Assiniboine River to
the Grand Rapids. From there about thirty started,
among whom were Mr. McDonald, Cuthbert Grant and
a number of Bois-brules. I was left behind still a
prisoner, but in the evening a spare horse was brought
by two of them for me, and I accompanied them on
horseback to the North-West fort near Brandon
House. When I approached I saw a crowd assembled
about the gate. I suppose there were from forty to
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fifty persons present. Their arms were/down by the
gate, and as I entered -a number of them presented
their guns at me, making use of insulting language.
I complained to MecDonald of this treatment, and
asked him if it was by his orders. He said he would
speak to them about it, but I do not think he ever
did. I saw at this fort tobacco, capenter’s tools, a
quantity of furs and other things which had been
brought over from Brandon House, our fort, near by.
“About the 24th/or 25th of May, the party was sepa-
rated into smaller/divisions and chiefs appointed, The
property was embarked, and the whole set off to go to
Portage la Prairie~ A part went by water, but the
Bois-brules generally went by land, on horseback.
Having arrived at Portage la Prairie, the whole pem-
mican and packs were landed and formed into a sort
of breast-work, or fortiﬁcﬁt?m‘g having two small brass
swivels there, which the year before had been taken
from the stores of the settlement.

“On the morning of the 17th of June, being at. Por-
tage la Prairie, which is still about sixty miles from the
main settlement, the Bois-brules mounted their horses
and set out for it. They were armed with guns, pis-
tols, lances, bows and arrows. Cuthbert Grant was
with them and a number of his race. I remained
behind, as did also Mr. McDonald and others. About
thirty or forty men stayed to help guard the pemmican.
The object of this expedition was to take Fort Doug-
las and break up the settlement. If the settlers took
to the fort for protection, then thé'whole were to be

starved out. The fort was to be watched strictly at
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al] times, and if any of them went out to fish or get
water, they were to be shot if they could not be taken
prisoners. I certainly had, from all I heard, very seri _
ous apprehensions for my friends. I do not remember
that Cuthbert Grant said anything in particular or

the morning he went away. On 20th June, a messen-

ger arrived at Portage la Prairie from Grant. When
McDonald saw him approaching Portage la Prairie, he
went out and spoke with him, and presently gave
three cheers. Upon this the other gentlemen asked
what the news was. McDonald said, in French, it was
good: twenty-two English are killed, and among
them Semple and five of his officers. He then an-
nounced it to the people in French. The gentlemen
present all shouted with joy, especially Lamarre,
McDonald and Sieveright. Pangman, commonly called
Bostonais, inquired whether there were any killed .on
their side, and was answered that one had been, and
on hearing who it was, said it was his cousin, and
then exclaimed: ‘My cousin is killed, and I will be
revenged. The affair shall not end here ; they shall all
be killed, for solong as these English are let go out of
the river they always will be coming back as they did
last year, and so sure as th‘y return they will always
cause disturbance and mischief.” Upon this, two men,
Latour and Montour, were ordered to get horses, and
immediately despatched on horseback to Red River,
with directions to detain the settlers till McDonald
should arrive. . We then pursued our journey by land
towards Fort Douglas to within about thirty miles of
it. The remainder of the way I went by water.
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“Arrived at Fort Douglas, I found all our people
gone; I met none of them there at all. The fort and
property was in possession of the Bois-brules, the same
I had before seen leave Portage la Prairie for Fort
Douglas. Cuthbert Grant was also there, and a number
I have before mentioned. Altogether there were about
forty-five in the fort. There were none in the settle-
ment. I asked McDonald to let me go to the spot
where the accident had occurred, which: he did, and I
went by myself. The limbs of the persons who had
been killed were out of the ground, and many of their
bodies in a mangled condition. After this, I heard

Grant say that he had fired upon Governor Semple

and upon McLean. The general account of the Bois-
brules was that Grant was a brave man, and had con-
ducted himself well in the engagement. They did not
seem to be sorry for, or to hide, what they had done.
After these events I was sent to Fort William.”

THE STORY OF FREDERICK DAMIEN HUERTER.

“A short time beforé our regiment was reduced, I
obtained my discharge by order of . Lieutenant-
General Sir Gordon Drummond, and engaged myself
at Montreal, in April, 1816, for three years as a'clerk
in the service of the North-West Company, at a yearly
salary of one ‘hundred pounds. Before I left that
place I was told by Mr. Archibald Norman McLeod, a
partner of the said company, that I must, by all
means, take with me to the Indian country the regi-
mentals that I had, saying, - We shall have occasion to
show a little military practice in the interior’ I
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embarked at Lachine; the 2nd of May, with Alexander
McKenzie, commonly called the Emperor, and other
clerks of the North-West Company. There was also
with us Charles Rheinard, late a sergeant in De
Meuron's regiment, who had engaged himself as a
¢lerk with the North-West Company, at eighty
pounds a year. We embarked in three large canoes,
navigated by fourteen men each. At Coteau du Lac,
Mr. McLeod embarked in the canoes with Lieutenants
Missani and Brumby, of De Meuron’s regiment, and
their servants, who were privates in the same regi-
ment. On the 31st of May I arrived at Fort William,
where I remained three days, and was desired, along
with Rheinard, to go into a store and choose arms
for ourselves, which we accordingly did. At Fort
William the large canoes were changed for five North
canoes, and I set out before the rest in a loaded canoe,
and was overtaken by the brigade next day, when I
joined them. At a portage, about three days’ journey
from Fort William, we came up to a loaded canoe
navigated by two Iroquois and two French-Canadians,
one of whom was Laverdure, a man between sixty
and seventy, who was too weak to work as hard as
the others and carry over the portages. Our com-
mander, McLeod, asked him why he did not tarry
over the portages, and when the man complained of
being too old and infirm, he knocked him down, kicking
him severely, at the same time calling him abusive
names. Lieutenant Missani at length took MecLeod
by the arm, and spoke to him.

“At the portage near the fort, near Rainy Lake,

A S ——
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the gentlemen stopped a little while to dress, when
Missani came to me and told me that it was McLeod’s
desire that Rheinard and myself should put on our
regimentals, which we accordingly did. = After we had
dressedpMcLeod said to me, ‘The fort at Rainy Lake
is a great place of resort for Indians, and it is impor-
tant that you all appear in regimentals, to show them
that you belong to the King.’ At the fort, McLeod
made a speech to the Indians. I understood that he
ordered them to follow him to Red River. I saw two
large kegs of liquor and some tobacco, which were
given to the Indians on this occasion. Upwards of
twenty followed us. Going down Winnipeg River, we
arrived at the entrance of the river, into Lake Winni-
peg. Here we were ordered to make ball cartridge,
on the 18th of June, which we did. I again put on
my regimentals at the request of the officers. At this
point there were two brass guns, three-pounders ;
these and a number of muskets were put in order.
We were ordered to drill the voyageurs. A French-
Canadian, Forcier, positively refused to take a gun,
and most of the men were very reluctant, saying that
they had been engaged as voyageurs, not soldiers.
We took the guns with us, and our canoes being
delayed by weeds and otherwise, we reached Netley

Creek, on the Red River, about forty miles from the ,

settlement, on the 21st. We were here assured that a
party of forty, from Swan River, and about eighty
Bois-brules, from Qu’Appelle, would meet us, and then
the first attack would be made. We started on the
23rd of Juné for the colony, four days after the attack
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on Governor Semple’s party, though yet we knew
nothing of this, On that day we had gone but a
short distance, when we met seven or eight boats con-
veying a number of men, women and children, who, as

\Qon as I heard, were the settlers and others driven

from-the colony, under the charge of the sheriff of the
colony, we ntw(;nce prepared for action. The colonists
were ordered by our commander to stop. I then first
heard of the rencontre in which Governor Semplé and
twenty of hisj)beople had lost their lives. The whole
party was-sfopped, and ordered ashore. McLeod then
ordgred me and others to make a strict search for
papers among the baggage belonging to the colonists,
to open all trunks, boxes and packages, and to take
possession of all letters, papers or account books what-
soever. No key being found for the trunks of the
late Governor Semple, McLeod ordered them to be
broken open, which was accordingly done with an axe.
On the 24th, the expected brigade arrived from Swan
River, and on the same day the settlers were liberated,
and allowed to proceed on their way down to Lake
Winni#g. Charles Grant was sent after them, to see
that they had actually gone on their journey.

“On the 26th, I went up the river to Fort Douglas.
There were many of the partners of the North-West
Company with us. At Fort Douglas the brigade was
received with discharges of artillery and firearms.
The fort was under Mr. Alexander MecDonald, and
there was a great gathering of Bois-brules, clerks and
interpreters, as well as partners of the company. On
our arrival, Archibald Norman McLeod, our leader
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took the management and direction of the fort, and all
made whatever use they chose of the property it con-
tained. The Bois-brules were entirely under the
orders and control of McLeod and his partners.
McLeod occupied the apartments lately belonging to
Governor Semple. After my arrival, I say all the
Bois-brules assembled in a large outer room, which
had served as a mess-room for the officers of the
colony. At this time, such of them as were not actu-
ally at table with the partners were called into the
Governor’s apartments, where I saw McLeod shake
them heartily by the hand, give them each a dram,
express the happiness he felt at seeing them, thanking
them for what they had done, and for their attach-
ment to the North-West Company. The next day all
the servants and employees of the company were
assembled behind the principal building in Fort
Douglas, where McLeod made a speech in which he
told the Bois-brules and others who had been engaged
in the affair of the 19th of June, that he was very
happy to see them assembled there; that they had
defended themselves and their land well; that. the
English had no right whatever to build upon their
land without their permission. After his speech,
MecLeod said to me, * What do you think of these
fellows, Huerter? Do you think his Lordship Lord
Selkirk will ever get the better of them?’ MecLeod
went, accompanied by Alexander McKenzie and all
the partners, as also the Bois-brules and others, on
horseback, a short distance up the river to the forks,
where he made a speech, through an interpreter named
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Primeau, to two Saulteaux chiefs, named Peguis and
L’Homme Noir, and their bands, in which I heard
him reproach them for having refused to take up arms
against the colony when called upon to do so, and for
having allowed the English to take Duncan Cameron
and send him away a prisoner. He called them a
band of dogs, and threatened to punish them very
severely if they ever dared to befriend the English
again.

“I rode, the same day, to the field of Seven Oaks,
where Governor Semple and so many of his people
had lately lost their lives, in company with a number
of those who had been employed on that occasion, all
on horseback. At this period, scarcely a week after
the 19th of June, I saw a number of human bodies
scattered about the plain and nearly reduced to skele-
tons, there being then very little flesh adhering to the
bones ; and I was informed, on the spot, that many of
the bodies had been partly devoured by dogs and
wolves. This spectacle, at which I was greatly
shocked, was viewed with every mark of satisfaction
and exultation by the persons who accompanied me
on this occasion ; all were laughing heartily at the
jests which each strove to pass. The Bois-brules were
eagerly contending to point out to the approbation of
their masters their particular feats on the 19th of
June, which were listened to with pleasure; and I
remarked particularly that the approbation of McLeod,
McKenzie and McDonald seemed to be the principal
object of the Bois-brtiles and others, and was lavishly
bestowed on such as pointed out to them the deeds of

e ——————————————————
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cruelty by which they claimed distinction. Francois
Deschamps, an old French-Canadian, was praised by

the partners as a person who had distinguished him--

self by his zeal in their service. Deschamps is gener-
ally reputed and believed to have committed acts of
cruelty in murdering the wounded who were calling
for quarter. In recounting the deeds of this man to
his partner, Mr. Alexander McDonald remarked what
a fine, vigorous old man he was. There was a scene
of great rejoicing the same evening at the fort, the
Bois-brules being painted and dancing, naked, after
the manner of savages, to the great amusement of
their masters. On the 29th of June, most of the part-
ners and the northern brigade set off for the rapids at
the mouth of the Saskatchewan. The departure of
the grand brigade was signalized by the diseharge of
artillery from Fort Douglas.”
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CHAPTER IIL

Lord Selkirk Raises a Regiment to Defend his Colonists—Fort William
—Prisoners Taken and Sent East for Trial—Attempt to Arrest Lord
Selkirk—A Vigorous Policy—Coltman and Fletcher Sent out—Lord
Selkirk TakemFinal Leave of the Colony—Grasshoppers.

THE scene of the terrible encounter, Seven Oaks, was
near where now stands St. John’s College, and close
by the old home of John Inkster. The news of the
breaking up of the colony, with all the attendant cir-
cumstances, and the further threatenings of the Bois-
brules, was transmitted to Lord Selkirk, through his

agents. He determined at once to visit Canada, and,
if possible, the infant colony at Red River. He
arrived at New York late in the year 1815, accom-
panied by his wife, son, and two daughters. He
hastened on to Montreal, which he reached about the
end of October, too late to penetrate into the interior.
Previous to this, in February of this year, dreading
the threatenings of the North-Westers, he represented
to Lord Bathurst, British Secretary of State, the
necessity of an armed force—not necessarily a large
one—being stationed in the Red River Colony, to
maintain order in the then existing condition of affairs.
On the 11th of November, after arriving in Montreal
he again addressed Sir Gordon Drummond, Governor
-of Lower Canada, giving a detailed account of the
expulsion of the settlers from their homes, and of the

many acts of violence perpetrated at the Red River
b
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in 1815. Nothing being gained by these representa-
tions, he determined personally to organize an expedi-
tion and proceed to the assistance and relief of his
people. Two regiments (the De Meurons and the
Watteville), which had done good service in the Euro-
pean war with Napoleon, and which at the close of
that campaign had been sent to Canada, to assist in
the war against the States, were at this time stationed,
the De Meurons at Montreal, the Watteville at King-
ston. Orders were received by Sir Gordon Drum-
mond, to disband these, which was ddne in May, 1816.
From these two regiments Lord Selkirk undertook to
provide his colony with soldiers, and, at the same time,
settlers who would defend it. Early in June, 1816, he
chose of the De Meurons forty officers and eighty men,
who at once proceeded westward to Kingston, where
they were reinforced by about twenty of the Watte-
ville regiment, and one hundred and thirty canoe-men.
The terms of agreement between his Lordship and
these men were as follows:

1st. He made character the basis in all cases.

2nd. To thpose who came to terms with him, he
agreed to give a sufficient portion of land, agricultural
implements, and $8 per month for working the boats
on the voyage. ;

3rd. Should any choose to leave Red River on reach-
ing it, they should be brought back free of expense by
his Lordship. From Kingston the expedition pushed
on to Toronto, then northward to Lake Simcoe and
the Georgian Bay. Crossing Lake Huron, they pushed
rapidly on to Sault Ste. Marie.
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Having been granted, for personal protection, by
the Governor of Canada, a sergeant and six men,
Lord Selkirk left the expedition here, and proceeded
to Drummond’s Island, where was stationed the last
British garrison in Upper Canada. During his stay
here, a council was held with an Ojibeway chief
named Ca Kaw-tawa-betay, Lieutenant-Colonel Maule,
of the '104th regiment, presiding. The red man
informed the council that two North-West traders
(McKenzie and Morrison) offered him and his people
all the goods and merchandise at Fort William, Leach
and Sand Lakes, if they would make and declare war
against the Red River settlers. Kaw-tawa-betay
asked the traders if this was at the request of the
great chiefs at Montreal and Quebec. McKenzie and
Morrison replied, that it was solely from the North-
West Cor agents, who desired the destruction
of the sett The chief further stated that an
agent na offered him two kegs of rum and
- twg carro acco, to send some of his young
men in search of certain parties bearing despatches to
Red River, and forcibly take from them the papers
with which they were entrusted, killing if necessary
to do so, to get possession of the same On being
asked by Lord Selkirk as to the feelings of the
Indians towards the settlers, he replied, that at first
they did not like it, but now they were glad of its

being settled.

Having received from the garrison a sergeant and
six men, his Lordship proceeded on his journey, over-
taking his expedition at the Sault—the proposed
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route being westward, towards the extreme point of
Lake Superior, near where the city of Duluth now
stands, then north-westward through Minnesota to

Red Lake, thence by boat through Red Lake and Red

River, into the very settlement itself. Hardly, how-

ever, had they left the Sault, in the last week of July,
when they were met on Lake Superior by two Hud-
son Bay canoes, in one of which was Miles McDonald,
the former Governor of Red River Colony, who
brought word of the second destruction of the colony
and the murder of Governor Semple and his atten-
dants. The story of the sufferings of the poor High-
land settlers, led by him from homes where, though

poor, their lives were at least safe, was too much for
his Lordship, who resolved to change his course and
go to Fort William, the head-quarters of the North-
Westers.

Being a Justice of the Peace for Upper Canada, as
also for the Indian territory, he resolved to act on
that commission alone, having failed to get two magis-
trates—Messrs. Ermatinger and Askin, of Sault Ste.
Marie—to accompany him in that capacity. Writing
to Sir J. C. Sherbrooke of this, Selkirk says: “I am,
therefore, reduced to the alternative.of acting alone
or allowing an audacious crime to go un;mmshed In
these circumstances, I cannot doubt that/it is my duty
to act, though I am not without appréhensions that
the law may be openly ‘resisted, by a set-of people
who consider force as the only true criterion of right.”
Having so decided, his Lordship at once proceeded
towards Fort William, where he arrived on the 12th
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of August, camping on the south side of the Kaministi-
qua River, about eight or nine hundred yards from
the fort. Cannon were at once placed in position and
loaded, and all necessary military preparations made

to capture the same.
Fort William was built in 1805, on the occasion of

the union of the North-West and X. Y. Companies, and
was named in honor of the Hon. William MeGillivray,
the head of the North-West Company, who, with Mr.
Kenneth McKenzie, exercised direction over it. At
this time it was simply a square of houses and stores,
surrounded by a strong, lofty stockade fifteen feet in
height, containing an ample supply of arms and am-
munition, and capable of considerable resistance. At
the time that Selkirk, with his force, appeared before
it there were probably about 500 men within its
walls, consisting of the wintering partners, who had
been appointed, at the general meeting, to take charge
of the stations on Red River, Winnipeg River, as also
in the vicinity of Lake Superior, together with the
voyageurs, or wintering servants of the company,
who were to navigate the canoes carrying the supplies
to the different trading stations, and also the Montreal
canoemen, who were to carry down the furs; there
were also in the stores 600 packs of the finest furs, the
value of which, in the English market, would be not
less than £60,000 sterling.
On the day following the arrivalof Selkirk’s troops,
a demand was made on the fort by McNabb and
McPherson, who acted as constables on his Lordship’s
behalf, and who demanded the release of a number of
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persons who had been captured at Red River after the
destruction of the colony and brought to Fort William.
They arrested Mr. McGillivray, who immediately
offered to attend his Lordship as Justice of the Peace,
and took with him Mr. Kenneth McKenzie and Dr.
McLauchlin to give bail for him. They were guarded
by about twenty soldiers, who had accompanied the
constables. On reaching the other side of the river,
they were received by a party of the 37th regiment,
under arms, who conducted them into Lord Selkirk’s
presence. After taking McGillivray’s deposition,
McKenzie and McLauchlin were informed that, instead
of being accepted as bail for their principal, they were
involved in the same charge. Having also taken the
depositions of Pambrun, Lavigne, Nolin, Blondeau,
Brisbois and others, it seemed evident to Lord Selkirk
that most, if not all, of the partners were guilty of
inciting attacks on the colony, and of approving the
outrages committed ; he therefore determined to place
a number of the leaders under arrest. This he did by
a regular legal process, and by warrants served upon
them personally. They were allowed, however, to
remain at Fort William, military possession of which
had been taken by his Lordship’s soldiers. The names
of the prisoners were: John McDonald, Alexander
McKenzie, Hugh McGillis, Simon Fraser, Allan
Macdonell, Daniel McKenzie and John MecLauchlin.
On the first-mentioned making some slight show of
resistance, the constables called to their aid a party of
the De Meurons, when the following scene occurred,
well described in the protest drawn up and signed by
the prisoners:
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“We, the undersighed agents and partners of the
North-West Company, being this day, the 14th of
August, assembled in a body at Fort William, in the
district of Kaministiqua, do hereby formally protest
against the violent proceedings done and committed
upon our persons and property at the above-mentioned
place, in the afternoon of ,that day, by a troop, to the
number of fifty or sixty disbanded and intoxicated
soldiers, formerly belonging to the regiment of Colonel
De Meuron, at present in the seryice and pay of the
Earl of Selkirk, headed by Captain D’Orsonnes and
Lieutenant Fauche, and afterwards joined by Captain
Matthy and Lieutenant Grieffenreid, who, forcibly
entering the fort, spread out their troops in every
direction, having their bayonets fixed, and shouting a
most horrid hurrah, which spread a general terror
amongst. the inhabitants of the fort, after which they

placed two pieces of cannon in the centre, and sentinels
in all quarters, and proceeded, by order of the Earl of
Selkirk, with armed force, leaving there Dr. Allan, his

Lordship’s medical attendant, at their head, to seal up

the papers and desks in the North-West Company’s

office, and those of the private rooms of the agents.

We do, therefore, most solemnly protest against those

acts of violence and against all those it may concern.

“(Signed)
“ WILLIAM McGILLIVRAY., ALLAN M4CDONELL.
KENNETH MCK ENZIE. JOHEN McLAUCHLIN.

Huaee McoGiLLis.
DanieL McKENZIE.”

JOoHN McDoONALD.
SiMON FRASER.

The
spoils,”
kirk to
the fori
the info
the fan
lars. A
he déciq
Toronto,
manned
William

Fauche, ¢
ing the b
by two s¢
accompan
according
embarkme
at the fort
sented his
send off th
the Indian
kirk replie
being Pprovi
interior, T
him these ;
search wag
the Hudso
MCGi“ivray
interior, (
deprived of
McGiHina,y,




The old adage that “to the victors belong the
spoils,” was well exemplified in this case. Lord Sel-
kirk took special pains to examine into everything in
the fort, placed guards over his prisoners, elicited all
the information possible as to the number of cattle on
the farm, produce of the harvest, ajd other particu-
lars. After a further examination/of the prisoners,
he decided to send them under a strofig escort to
Toronto, Upper Canada, for trial. Three canoes well
manneéd were despatched with them, leaving Fort
William on the 18th under command of Lieutenant
Fauche, one of the De Meuron officers. Before enter-
ing the boat, their baggage and persons were searched
by two soldiers. MecGillivray, it is said, desired to be
accompanied by his own servants, but the request,
according to Vandersluy, was refused. During the
embarkment two loaded pieces of artillery were placed
at the fort gate. Previous to this, a request was pre-
sented his Lordship by the clerks, for permission to
send off their canoes into the interior with goods for

the Indian trade, as also the furs to Montreal. Sel-

kirk replied, that he could not authorize this without
being provided with invoices of goods intended for the
interior. The clerks, in order to secure despatch, gave

him these ; he then demanded to see the goods, and a

search was made for some furs said to be stolen from

the Hudson Bay Company. On the 20th, John

McGillivray and two gentlemen arrived from the

interior. On entering the gate they were stopped,

deprived of their baggage, and a warrant served on

McGillivray, making him a prisoner.. On the 21st, a
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canoe arrived from Montreal with despatches from the
North-West Company; these were taken from the
guide, and placed in the custodyof a soldier of the
27th regiment. Vandersluy, the secretary, on learn-
ing of this; wrote a protest to the Earl on the follow-
ing day. Selkirk informed him that the despatches
were seized on the same principle as the other papers
of the North-West Company, and were equally liable
to be examined, and that he intended to do so a few
hours later. He also handed Vandersluy the follow-
ing letter :
“ Fort WiLLIAM, August 28nd, 1816.

“ GENTLEMEN,—In order to obviate the possibility of
any mistake, ] beg your answer in writing to this
query : Whether the forty-four packs of furs marked
R. R., which you have pointed out as set apart by
order of the North-West Company, to be given up to
the Hudson Bay Company as their property, and
whether, on this principle, you are ready to send them
down to Montreal consigned to Messrs. Maitland
Gardner & Auldjo, agents for that company?

“] am,
“ SELKIRK.”

The following answer was given:

. “In reply to the letter which was handed us this
morning by your Lordship, we beg to state that the
thirty-four packs of furs marked L. R., which have
been set apart from the peltries of the North-West
Company, cannot be given up to the Hudson Bay
Company, but that we are ready to send them to
Montreal in the care of some house unconnected with
either fcompany. ) + “ VANDERSLUY.”
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The canoes, on leaving Fort William, had proceeded
some distance on their way to Sault Ste. Marie, when
they were overtaken by a storm and had to change
their course, but before they could make the land, the
smallest, which contained twenty-one persons, three
of whom  were North-West partners—Kenneth
McKenzie, Allan Maedonell and Dr. MecLauchlin—
sunk, and seven of its occupants were drowned,
amongst these latter being Mr. McKenzie. The guards
\ were ordered to convey their prisoners to Sandwich, in
the western district of Upper Canada, where warrants
directed their committal to the common gaol. On
arriving at Toronto, the judges and Attorney General
being on their circuit at Kingston, the guards were
directed by the Governor to take them thither. On the
judges finding the crimes with which the prisoners
were charged had been committed in the Indian terri-
tory, the Governor directed them to be taken to
Montreal. On arriving there they were brought be-
fore the Court of Queen’s Bench, the crimes imputed
to them being treason, conspiracy and murder. They
were, however, admitted to bail. MecGillivray at once
sought redress, and had a warrant issued for the arrest
of Lord Selkirk and his officers by a magistrate of the
Western District of Upper Canada ; and the under-
sheriff, Mr. Smith, and an assistant were despatched to
put it into execution. Smith at once hastened to
join his assistant, M. D. Rocheblave, at Sault Ste. Marie.
The latter arrived at the Sault on the 19th of October,
having no information of the proceedings taken at
Quebec or Upper Canada. He, as a preliminary
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measure, despatched a constable and twelve men
with warrants issued by Dr. Mitchell, of St. Joseph.
These arrived at Fort William on the 7th of Novem-
ber, and executed their warrant by arresting Lord
Selkirk and his foreign officers. Selkirk hesitated at
first what course to pursue, but considering that they
had gone possibly too far to recede, he refused obedi-
ence to the constable’s authority, imprisoned him for
a few days, then released and ordered him to leave
the fort.

Rocheblave and his party, on account of the scarcity
of provisions and the lateness of the season, set out on
their return to Canada, meeting on their way, on Lake
Huron, Mr. Smith, who was on his way to join them.
They returned to the Sault, embarked on board the
North-West schooner The Invinecible, to cross Lake
Superior, were caught in a gale of wind and totally
wrecked on the 13th of November. The crew and
passengers were, however, saved. Having no other
conveyance to reach Fort William, they were obliged
to return to Montreal, which place they reached on
the 23rd of December, after a fatiguing journey per-
formed mostly on foot. Lord Selkirk, in a communi-
cation addressed to Governor Gore, refers to the fore-
going thus:

“Fort WiILLIAM, November 12th, 1816.

“SIr,—A few days ago a canoe arrived here, bringing
two clerks of the North-West Company, accompanied
by a man who gave himself out as a constable, charged
with the arrest of several gentlemen here, myself
amongst the rest. On examining his warrant, I ob-
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served it to be in several respects irregular, and
founded on a recital full of the grossest perjuries. It
was signed by Dr. Mitchell, of Drummond’s Island,
whose notorious habits of intemperance made it, in
the highest degree, probable that his signature had
been obtained surreptitiously. The constable, when
asked whether he had any letters or credentials of any
kind, could produce none, which confirmed the idea of
his being an impostor. I could not suppose that, after
the information which had been trapsmitted to your
Excellency, you would have sanctioned so strong a
measure as the arrest of a magistrate, without some
. direct statement of your disapprobation; and that, at
all events, a person sent by competent authority on
such a mission would have some document to show
that he acted by orders from Government. We were
particularly struck with the eircumstance that, though
the warrant was issued on Drummond’s Island, the
commandant of the garrison there had sent no orders
on the subject to the militury guard, which had been
detatched from there, to accompany us, and would
certainly have been instructed to support the execu-
tion of the warrant, if it had not been improperly
obtained. Under these circumstances, I trust it will
not be ascribed to any disposition to resist the regular
execution of the law, if the gentlemen concerned do
not thivk fit to go five hundred miles across such
waters as Lake Superior, at this season of the year, to
comply with a form of process which there is every
reason to believe irregular and surreptitious.
I have, ete.,
“ SELKIRK.”
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Meanwhile his Lordship occupied Fort William,
Parties were organized, from among the De Meurons,
who attacked and carried the North-West trading fort
at Fond du Lac on the river St. Louis, where it falls
into the west end of Lake Superior, near where
the city of Duluth now stands, making prisoner Mr.
Grant, who was in charge, as also the fortsat the Pic
and Michipicoton. At the latter, Mr. McIntosh and
his clerks were taken prisoners, and the goods taken
possession of for his Lordship’s benefit. Meclntosh,
Grant, and a few others were also sent to Montreal, on
a charge of aiding and abetting the troubles of the
previous spring. They arrived at Sault Ste. Marie, in
charge of a party of De Meurons, while Rocheblave
and his party were waiting Smith’s arrival. Roche-
blave took the canoes from the guards, but did not
otherwise iterfere. McIntosh, Grant and the other
prisoners proceeded on their way and surrendered
themselves to the authorities, and were admitted to
bail, as the others had been.

Another party, under the command of Mr. Fiddler,
was sent to capture the fort at Lac la Pluie, which
was next in importance to Fort William. The clerk
in command refused to surrender, and Mr. Fiddler,
not having force enough to compel him to do so,
returned to Fort William- A party of soldiers, with
two field-pieces, was at once despatched under charge
of Captain D’Orsonnes. Mr. Dease, the clerk in
charge, finding that the blockade cut off his supply
of food, which consisted of fish, and being assured
by the Captain that resistance might enrage his men
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to such a degree that he would not be responsible

for their conduct, agreed to surrender, and opened
the gates. The besiegers took unconditional possession
of the fort and all it contained, amounting in value to
several thousand pounds.

Having possession of this fort, situated midway
between Lake Superior and Red River, D’Orsonnes
could easily keep open communication with Fort
William in his rear, as also mature his plans for the
taking of the North-West Company’s trading posts on
the Red River. The captain, with abundance of
stores at his command, dealt them out liberally to the
Indians, in order to purchase their friendship, on his
intended journey to Red River. All things being
ready, in the begihning of February, he started out,
travelling by Rainy River and the Lake of the Woods.
Thence, conducted by Indian guides, he passed through
the forest that intervenes between the Lake and Red
River, on reaching which, they followed its course
northward for a distance of twenty-five miles, then
turned west and reached the Assiniboine, near what is

now known as the parish of St. James. After spend-

ing some time in making scaling ladders, a favorable

opportunity presented itself for carrying Fort Douglas.
One stormy night, when the howling winds drowned
every sound, and the thickly falling and drifting snow
obscured the sight and concealed the enemy’s approach,
ladders were planted on the outside. The top of the
palisade once gained, others were placed inside, and in
a short time the De Meurons, in large numbers, were
on the terrified guards, who threw down their arms
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and fled to the house pursued by the soldiers, who
made prisoners of all who fell in their power, amongst
them Mr. Archibald McLaren, who -was afterwards
sent to Canada for trial, for participation in the
murder of Keveny. The rest were set at liberty, to go
where they pleased. = A special messenger was des-
patched to Jack River,; to invite those who had been
banished on the death of Governor Semple and the
breaking up of the colony, to return to their former
homes, assuring them of protection and security in the
future. To this these poor people responded at once,
some of them arriving before the breaking up of the
ice. On their banishment from the settlement by
Cuthbert Grant, they had made up their minds to bid
farewell to the country” and all that was in it. For
the purpose of carrying out this intention they
addressed a letter to Mr. James Bird, who became
Superintendent of the Northern Department on Mr.
Semple’s death. Mr. Bird replied, pleading inability
to provide a safe passage for so many, as there was no
certainty that a ship of sufficient capacity would
arrive in the Bay that season, and that, in the absence
of such probability, they had better remain where they
were, as their condition would be incomparably worse
if reduced to the necessity of wintering on the bleak
shores of Hudson Bay. In the light of after events
this advice was both timely and wise. The Britannia,
a ship of considerable burden, arrived late in the season
at York Factory, delivering her cargo and receiving
the returns of the preceding season. She at once
sailed with a considerable number of servants whose
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contracts had expired, and who were desirous of
returning to. Europe. On reaching the straits, they
found the sea bound in icy fetters. The ship returned
to land, and was run ashore fifty miles north of the
Severn River, and towards spring was accidentally
burned to the water’s edge. Those who had shipped
in her made their way as best they could inland.

Thus counselled, the colonists decided to remain at
Jack River, where they prepared abodes to protect
themselves from the inclemency of the winter, which
often registers fifty and fifty-five below zero. Fish
was their principal food supply, in the catching of
which they soon became adepts. Urgent necessity in

the matter of clothing compelled them to take advances

from his Lordship’s stores. These goods were pur-

chased in England at high prices, and retailed in this
country at an advance of one hundred and one hundred
and fifty per cent. on prime cost. Here began the
debt which so severely taxed their industry in more
favorable times. Despairing of being able to return
to their native land, the tidings of Lord Selkirk’s
success at Forts William and Douglas was good news
indeed.

On May 1st, Lord Selkirk left Fort William and,
accompanied by his body-guard, reached Red River in
the last week in June. The remainder of those who
wintered at Jack River also arrived about this time.
Selkirk at once commenced locating the De Meurons
at what is now known as Point Douglas, which was
surveyed into lots containing a few acres each, and

fronting on the river. A wide street lay to the back,
6
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connecting with the highway, being set apart for their
use, affording easy access to a common which lay
beyond the road, in which the settlers on the RBoint
had the right of pasture and hay-making. = Point
Douglas being all appropriated, and a number of the
troops being still without land, these were provided
for on the east side of the river opposite the Point.
All were paid and rationed for the time by his Lord-
ship. Non-commissioned officers were settled on lands
among the soldiers ; the superior officers lived at head-
qu:rters,and became members of the Colonial Council.
During the time of Lord Selkirk’s occupation of Fort
William frequent appeals had been made by the North-
west Company to the Imperial Government for pro-
tection for their traders against the proceedings of his
Lordship’s servants. '

The evidence taken before the courts of justice of
the robberies committed by the Hudson Bay Com-
pany, the brutal massacre by the French half-breeds
on the 19th June, 1816, by way of retaliation, ol
pointed out to the Imperial authorities the necessity of
placing matters on a more satisfactory basis in the
Indian territories. His Royal Highness the Prince
Regent instructed Earl Bathurst to use the means at
his disposal to put an end to these enormities. On
receipt of the following instructions from Earl Bathurst,
the Governor-General commissioned’ Colonel Coltman
and Major Fletcher as a court of inquiry in the Indian
territories, to cause restitution to be made of forts and
property, and commit the guilty of both parties for
trial. The following are the instructions: “ You will
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also require, under similar penalties, the restitution of
all forts, buildings, or trading stations, with the
property which they contained, which may have been
seized or taken possession of by either party, to the
party who originally established the same, and who
were in possession of them previous to the recent dis-
putes between the two companies. You will require
also the removal of any blockade or impediment by
which any party may have attempted to prevent the
free passage of traders, or others of His Majesty’s sub-
jects, or the natives of the country with their merchan-
dise, furs, provisions, and other effects, through the
lakes, rivers, roads, and every other usual route of
communication heretofore used, for the purpose of the
fur trade in the interior of North America, and the
full and free admission of all persons to pursue their
usual and accustomed trade or occupation without
hindrance or molestation.”

These gentlemen left Montreal on the opening of
navigation in May, 1817, proceeding by the usual
route to the interior. On arriving at Fort William,
they found it was restored to its lawful owners by
virtue of a writ of restitution, issued by the magis-
trates of Upper Canada, and directed to the sheriff,
but not until after Selkirk had evacuated, and the
North-West Company’s canoes had arrived. Pushing

on, the Commissioners arrived at Fort Douglas before

his Lordship had left, and proceeded at once to exe-
cute the commission, by compelling each party to
restore—so far as restitution could be made—the pro-
perty taken from their opponents. The under-sheriff,
who executed the writ of restitution founded on,the
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verdiet obtained at Sandwich in 1816, obtained $500
damages against Lord Selkirk. The succeeding years
of his Lordship’s life were embittered by what might
be termed wholesale litigation over these unfortunate
events, too lengthy to detail in the present volume; and
a newspaper war ensued, in which no less a person
than Bishop Strachan, of Toronto, entered the lists

. against him, in a pamphlet published in 1816. The

Montreal Herald, from May, 1816, to November of
that year, also had communications pro and con, anent
his Lordship’s responsibility for outrages perpetrated
in the North-West.

In 1817 was made the first Indian treaty executed
by Lord Selkirk, to remove all annoyance from his
settlers with the Saulteaux and Cree Indians, for the
surrender of their right, title and interest in the
lands comprised in his grant from the Hudson Bay
Company, the southern end of which extended as far
south as the Grand Forks, Dacotah Territory, and
was signed by five chiefs, Mache-wheoab, Le Sonnat,
Nech-kad-eiik-onair, La Robe Noir, Kaya-jiesk-ebiona,
L'Homme Noir, Pegois, Onck-idoat, Premier.

The consideration was an annual payment of 100
pounds of tobagco, to be paid on the 10th of October,
each year; o;&alf to be paid to the Saulteaux
chiefs, at Fort Garry, the other half to the Cree chiefs,

“at Portage la Prairie.

After having restored peace and order in the settle-
ment, with those who had to leave the colony after
the engagement at Seven Oaks reinstated in their
lands, Lord Sélkirk called a public meeting of the

colbnists on the west bank of the Red River, about
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two miles below Fort Garry, where he promised con-
cessions to all who had suffered, in consideration of
their losses and misfortunes. To some who had lost
all, he made a grant of land of twenty-four ten-chain
lots, in what was termed free “soccage.” These had
lately been surveyed by Mr. Fiddler, the first surveyor
in the settlement, on the left bank of the river, and
were the only free lands granted to emigrants in the
colony. “Here,” said his Lordship, pointing to Lot
No. 4, on which they had congregated, “ you shall build
your church and manse, the nex$ 19t on the south side
of the creek shall be for your schgol, and for a help to
support your teacher; and in commemoratlon of your
native parish it shall be called Kildonan.” His Lord-
ship also promised, in response to an urgent appeal, to
send them a minister of their own persuasion.

The conclusion of the deed of conveyance reads as
follows: “In consideration of the hardships which the
settlers have suffered jn consequence of the lawless
conduct of the North-West Company, Lord Selkirk
intends to grant the aforesaid twenty-four lots, gratui-
tously, to those of the settlers who had made improve-
mente on their lands before they were driven away
from them last year. Provided always, that as soon as
they have the means, they shall pay the debts which
they owe the Earl of Selkirk, or the Hudson Bay Com-
pany, for goods or provisions supplied to them, or
other expenses incurred on their account.

“ SELKIRK.
“Fort Douglas, Red River Settlement,
“ August, 1817.”
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These matters arranged, his Lordship took a final
leave of a colony he was destined never to see again,
the founding of which cost him £200,000, and which
was purchased from his executors by the Hudson Bay
Company, in 1835, for the sum of £84,111.

Accompanied by a guide and two or three atten-
dants, he crossed the plain between Red River and
St. Peter’s, thence through the United States to
Canada, where he remained for a time, becoming
involved in a vortex of litigation over the seizure of
Fort William, and other matters pertaining to the
Red River adwministration. His health failing, he
resorted to travel in Europe as a means of restoration,
but without success. He died at Pau, in France, on 8th

of April, 1820.

The following year, 1818, was established the
experimental farm of Hayfield, with a Scotch farmer
named Ludlow as manager. Barns, yards, parks and
houses of every description were provided, and all this
while there was not an.ox to plough nor a cow to milk
in thé~whole settlement. To crown all, a splendid
mansion, at a cost of £600, was built, which was
reduced to ashes through a drunken frolic, just as it
was completed. This farce was continued till 1824

"when it was sold for £400, the whole undertaking
costing Lord Selkirk £2,000. The year 1818 was also
an eventful one with the colonists. They had just
returned from wintering at Pembina ; food was scarce,
even fish, herbs and roots, which in previous years had
come to their aid, failed. Their catechist, r. Suther-
land, had been forcibly carried off to Canada by the
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North-Westers. In the midst of this.desolation they
planted their crops with the hoe, which coming up
strong and vigorous, cheered them amidst the gloom
of their surroundings like a ray from heaven. When
late in the afternoon of the 18th of July, a beautiful,
cloudless day, their wheat and barley was nearly ripe,
their vegetables and garden stuff were doing well, sud-
denly a partial darknesss overspread the sky; looking
up to see the cause, they discovered the air full of
winged insects falling to the ground, till the latter was
literally covered. Night setting in prevented them
from realizing the calamity which had befallen them.
In the morning, when they awoke, everything had
perished save a few ears of half-ripe barley, which the
women were enabled to gather in their aprons. This
was too much ; like the Israelites of old, they lifted up
their voices and wept.

In the midst of this desolation, the Rev. Joseph
Norbert Provencher, afterwards Bishop Provencher,
and the severe Damoulin, with several French families,
arrived in the settlement. This not only increased the
evil, but called forth fresh exertion. To Pembina once
more they retired, to repeat the old story of moral
degradation, under men whose habits and condition of
life they had been taught to despise; there they spent
the winter. Returning in the spring of 1819, they
commenced sowing what seed remained after the
ravages of the grasshoppers, to be again disappointed,
by the countless swarms produced in the ground from
the larvee of the previous year, a description of which
I shall borrow from Mr. Ross. “As early as the latter
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end of June, the fields were overrun by this sickening
and destructive plague, nay, they were produced in
masses two and three inches, and in some places near
water, four inches deép. The water was poisoned by
them. Along the river they were to be found in heaps,
like sea-weed, and might be shovelled with a spade.
It is impossible to describe adequately the desolation
thus caused. Every vegetable substance was either
eaten up, or stripped to the bare stalk. The leaves of
the bushes and bark of the trees shared the same fate,
and the grain vanished as fast as it appeared above
ground, leaving no hope of seed to the sower or bread
to the eater; even fires, if kindled out of doors, were
immediately extinguished by them, and the decom-
position of their bodies was still more offensive than
their presence when alive.” These disappointments so
discouraged our Scotch colonists, that they turned
their backs on Red River and sought a life freer from
care at Pembina, in the buffalo hunt—for by this time
they could “ buffalo” walk on snow-shoes, and in many
respects were emulating the natives. This life, pleasing
enough while it lasted, gave way to reflection; with
the reflection came the resolve to send men to purchase
seed grain and return to the settlement in the spring,
which was done; and messengers were despatched on
snow-shoes to Prairie du Chien, a town on the Missis-
sippi, several hundred miles distant, who purchased
250 bushels of seed grain at 10 shillings per bushel,
and returned in flat-bottomed boats to Red River in
June of 1820.




CHAPTER 1IV.

Last Conflict between the Rival Companies—Emigrants from Switzer-
land—Bulger Becomes Governor—An Indian Lashed—Buffalo Wool
Co.—Massacre by Indians—Introduction of the Plough and of
Domestic Cattle—Famine—Flood.

IN 1818 occurred the last fracas between the rival
companies. William Williams, Esq., was sent from
England to superintend the Hudson Bay affairs in the
Northern Department of Rupert’s Land. Mr. Williams
had previously been a naval captain in the East
India Company’s service. On arriving at Hudson Bay,
he passed a few days at York Factory, then proceeded
inland to Cumberland House, where he spent the
winter. On the return of spring he left his winter
quarters and returned to Red River, arriving there
early in May. Here he found a vessel rigged, prepared
and manned for lake navigation, with two field-pieces
and a strong guard of armed De Meurons, called a
gunboat. As soon as Lake Winnipeg had opened, this
war craft, accompanied by some river boats, whose
crews were fully equipped for the campaign, left Red
River and made its way to the big fall, to intercept
the North-West Company’s brigade of canoes that was

_soon expected to arrive from all parts of the North.

Mr. Williams made his head-quarters on an island at

the foot of the fall. Landing a couple of field-pieces,

he placed them in a position bearing on the river and
the road over which the passengers travelled and the
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goods were carried. Ambuscades were also placed at
suitable points, and sentinels placed on the upper
landing. Gathering his men around him, Mr. Williams
harangued them on the righteousness of their cause,
promising that if any perished in the strife, they
had his Excellency’s promise that their widows and
orphans would be carefully watched over and cared
for by the company, until able to provide for them-
selves. Mr. Williams and his men had not long to
wait till the first brigade of the North-West canoes
came to the portage, of which the parties along the
road were informed by the sentinels at the upper
landing. As soon as the canoes came to the landing-
place, they began putting the packs on shore. The
gentlemen passengers stepped out of the boats, and
with cloaks thrown loosely over their shoulders, trade
style, commenced travelling over the path to the lower
landing. They did not proceed far before their armed
foes, concealed behind bushes and trees, surrounded
and made them prisoners, conveying them to head-
guarters on the island, where they were consigned to
the tender sympathy of a guard of De Meurons. Five
gentlemen of the first rank in the North-West Company
were captured—Angus Shaw, John G. McIntosh, John
Duncan Campbell, William MecIntosh, and Mr. Fro-
bisher.

With a number of guides, interpreters and bateliers,
these were all forwarded to York Factory on Hud-
son Bay, where they were confined until the ships
were ready to sail for Europe. Shaw and MecTavish
were sent to England, Duncan, with a number of guides
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and laboring men, to Montreal. Frobisher and a few
of his men were kept in rigid confinement at York
Factory, and would in all probability have had to pass
the winter in that inhospitable place, but managed
to elude the vigilance of their keepers one dark and
stormy night in the beginning of October. Finding
an Indian canoe lying at the river, they embarked
and proceeded inland towards Lake Winnipeg, passing
several of the Hudson Bay forts unobserved. Without
provisions, and without' the necessary requirements by
the aid of which they might procure game or other
articles of food, they struggled on day after day until
within a few days’ journey of Moose Lake, where they
camped for the night in a log hut. Here they were
confined for some time by a storm of wind and snow,
and here, in this wretched hut, poor Frobisher breathed
out his life in November, 1819. When the weather
moderated his companions departed, leaving the body
unburied. In a few days they reached the North-
West Company’s fort at Moose Lake, where their
wants were supplied and their lives preserved. Here
they told the sad tale of their own suffering and Fro-
bisher’s miserable end. Thus ended the last scene in
a guerilla warfare, discreditable to all parties con-
cerned, and extending over a period of ten long weary
years, full of trial and suffering to many on either side.

The keen competition in trade had not only created
a greater outlay in trading goods, but during the
above period the number of servants employed by each
of the contending companies had been doubled and
their wages increased. To this must be added the
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large sums spent in litigation in the Canadian courts.

Long and ardent as the struggle had been between
these potent rivals, neither had apparently gained
any advantage over the other; both were at this
time on the brink of insolvency, and prudent men
in each company’s service became anxious to devise
some means by which such an unsatisfactory state of
affairs might be brought to a termination. In 1810,
propositions had been made by the leading merchants
of the North-West Company to his Lordship, but these
had been rejected. They were again renewed in 1814,
but the position assumed by the Hudson Bay Com-
pany, with reference to the country, was one which
the North-Westers could not recognize. Again nego-
tiations ceased. The course pursued since that date
had been ruinous in the extreme. The only course
open now was a union, which was warmly supported
by leading men of both companies, and consummated
in March, 1821.

The new company’s wintering partners were divided
into twq grades, chief factors and chief traders. The
stock itself was divided into one hundred shares, the
stockholders reserving for themselves the profits on
sixty of these shares ; the remaining forty were divided
into eighty-four parts, of which the chief factor
received annually the profits of two, and the chief
trader one. In prosperous times this yielded a fair
remuneration to those gentlemen. On retiring from
the service, each of the commissioned officers’ interest
in the profits remained for seven years. During the
first year of his retirement he received a full share,
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the remaining six, only a half. During this period he
must not enter into competition with his former
employers ; if he did, they reserved the right to with-
hold his share. The interest of superannuated clerks,
whose servicé”was no longer required, was also con-
sidered ; in order to give these a small annuity for a
limited time—seven years—the. profits on a few shares
were assigned. At the expiration of that time, the
sums accruing from the aforesaid shares were applied
to the formation of a reserve fund;and the old servants
left to provide for themselves.

While the fur companies were completing their
negotiations, another batch of emigrants arrived at
York Factory from Switzerland, under the guidance
of Count D’Eusser, who was sent by the Swiss
Government to report on the colony, the nature of the
soil, climate and government. These people were, as
a rule, of the poorest class, mostly mechanics, few, if
any of them, agriculturists. After spending a short
time at the factory, they were sent on by the fall
boats into the interior. Unaccustomed to the con-
tinuous and laborious routine of rowing, as also trans-
porting their goods over the portages, of which there
were no less than thirty, progress was slow indeed. To
add to their discomfort, cold, with frost and snow, over-
took them at Lake Winnipeg; many of them suffered
severely from frost-bites, all of them from dearth of
food. At length they arrived at Fort Douglas in
November. The scarcity of provisions compelled them,
like the preceding settlers, to go to Pembina, the
head-quarters of the hunters. The trip to them was a

toilsc
dogs,
were
keen
and i
thoug
were |
others
for bri
were (
in cha
but als
said, ne
The
l'ipen v
was the
without
also de)
during ]
Mississip
In 18
event wl
union of
hitherto |
in 1821,
i",‘,’ in fr
nationalit;
and the )
the ]andg
and Kildc

accompuni(



riod he
former
5 with-
clerks,
0 con-
y for a
shares
1e, the
\pplied
rvants

- their
ved at
idance
Swiss
of the
‘ere, 88
few, if
, short
1e fall
g con-
trans-
there
d. To
, over-
iffered
rth of
las in
them,
a, the
was a

HISTORY OF MANITOBA. 87

toilsome and weary one. Having neither horses nor
dogs, they had to hitch themselves to sleds, on which
were deposited their children and baggage, while the
keen cutting winds pierced through their lightly clad
.and ill-protected persons. After reaching the camp,
though the buffalo was plentiful on the plains, they
were unskilled in approaching them ; and even when
others hunted for them they were destitute of means
for bringing the hunt into camp. Thus situated, they
were often reduced to the necessity of receiving food
in chﬁxrity, from not only the colonists and half-breeds,
but also from the Indians, who, to their honor be it
said, never withheld food when they had it.

The grain, through late sowing in 1820, did not
ripen well, but matured sufficiently for seed. This
was the last occasion on which the settlement was
without seed grain, and cost Lord Selkirk £1,040. It
also demonstrated the practicability of navigation,
during high water, between the Red River and the
Mississippi.

In 1820 occurred the death of Lord Selkirk, an
event which, to a very large extent, accelerated the
union of the great fur trading companies, which had
hitherto been at fariance, and which was consummated
in 1821. 'Phe year 1820 found the settlement increas-
ing in /numbers, and composed of the following
nationalities : Scotch, Swiss, Irish, French-Canadians,
and the Metis or Half-breeds. The Scotch occupied
the lands now divided into the parishes of St. John
and Kildonan. The De Meurons, or soldiers who
accompanied his Lordship from Montreal in 1816,
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settled along the banks of the Seine River, which, rising
in the forest to the east, falls into the Red River
about a mile below its junction with the Assiniboine.
Part of the Swiss settled amongst the De Meurons,
while some located further up the river, near Fort
Garry. The Protestants arriving in the settlement
settled along the Red River, in what is now knhown as
the parishes of St. Paul and St. Andrew. The settle-
ment in all numbered about 1,600 souls.

In 1822, Mr. McDonald,who had governed the colony
from the death of Mr. Semple, was succeeded by Bulger,
McDonald retiring to his farm. Early this year Mr.
Halket, one of Lord Selkirk’s executors, arrived in the
settlement.  Considerable dissatisfaction being ex-
pressed at this time with the system of entries, and
the mode of conducting business with the Hudson Bay
Company, taking advantage of Mr. Halket’s presence in
the colony, the settlers appeared by delegates before
him and stated their grievances. To these he lent an
attentive ear, and at once instituted an investigation.
The Governor and his subordinates were brought to
task. Book-keepers and salesmen of former years
having: left the country, and their successors in office
having no vouchers, could not throw any light on the
debts that had accumulated, and which the debtors
asserted contained many false entries, and the non-
entry of sums which should have been credited.
After mature consideration, recognizing the impossi-
bility of finding out from the books the true state of
affairs, Mr. Halket ordered one-fifth of the debt to be
thrown off, also the five per cent. interest added, which
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he pronounced illegal and oppressive. During his stay
in Red River, he saw with regret the unsatisfactory
manner in which his Lordship’s mercantile affairs had
been managed, and determined to discontinue supplying
the colonists any longer with goods. He left for York
Factory on the 20th of July.

Capt. Bulger had not been long in office, when an
Indian brave, under the influence of liquor, attempted
to stab him as he passed along a dark passage in his
dwelling-house. The Indjan, who was known to the
settlers as a dangerous character, was immediately
arrested, court-martialled, and sentenced to receive a
dozen lashes with the cat-o-nine-tails. Surrounded
by his kindred, who were half drunk, there was some
difficulty in procuring an executioner to carry out the
sentence of the court. After some delay, and many
threats on the part of the Indians, a tall muscular
soldier, of the De Meurons, stepped forward and called
for the whip, which he applied vigorously to the
offender’'s back. The Indians began to chant their
war-song, and rushed to arms; but Capt. Bulger was
not going to be terrified by either their howling or
their threats, and quietly informed the chief, that if
he did not cease his bravado, and order his followers
to lay down their arms and quit their musie, he would
have him lashed to the gun, and served with a few
lashes too. This bit cf well-timed advice had the de-
sired effect. No sooner was the savage set free, than
the whole band took t> their canoes, and made for
Lake Winnipeg. This woll-merited castigation had a

wholesome effect on the Indians who lived in the
7
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In 1822 was incgpted the Buffalo Wool Company®
scheme. This was priginated on the share system, the
total number of shgres being placed at 200, and capable
of being increased at any future period. Mr. John
Pritchard was the moving spirit of the new company,
whose objects werp as follows:

1. To provide & substitute for wool, as it was sup-
posed from the nfimber and destructive habits of the
wolves, that shegp could not be raised or preserved in
Red River, at lepst, to any extent.

2. The substjtute contemplated was the wool of
the wild buffalo, which was to be collected on the
plains, and manufactured both for the use of the colo-
nists and for export. ‘

3. To establish a tannery for manufacturing the
buffalo hides for domestic use.

Mr. Pritchard thought that it would not require
much labor or skill to accomplish these important
ends; others thought differently, and asserted that
success would depend entirely on economy and good
management. No sooner was the £2,000 placed to the
credit of the new company in the Hudson Bay Com-
pany’s books, than operations were at once commenced.
A large establishment was erected in the heart of the
settlement, all the buffalo-hunters enlisted in the
enterprise, and exhorted by every means to preserve
the hides; the women were encouraged to gather all
the wool they could, by being promised a liberal price
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for it at the factory; and all the available hands in
the settlement, male and female, were called into opera-
tion. The men and boys manipulated the hides, which,
before they could be freed from the wool, had to go
through the operations of soaking, heating, and pulling.
An expert at pulling could make from six to ten
shillings per day; even boys were dissatisfied unless
they made from four to five. Female labor was also
encouraged, and all who could spin were invited to
the factory to make the wool into yarn, for which they
were allowed one shilling per pound. At this early
period the buffalo were in large numbers a few miles
south of Pembina, and a large number of people from
the various races on the land congregated here to hunt
them—in fact, this seemed to be a favorite feeding-
ground. Operatives were brought from England—
wool-dressers, furriers, curriers, saddlers and harness
makers; an outfit of goods was also procured, and a
store opened in the establishment for the convenience
of the employees. Leather and cloth were manufac-
tured, but neither of them could compare with similar
articles brought from Europe. Rum was also imported,
and this last capped the climax; drunkenness and
disorder prevailed, hides were allowed to rot, through
carelessness the wool spoiled, the tannery proved a
failure ; and when, in 1823, the affairs of the company
were wound up, it was found that they had not only
expended their original capital of £2,000, but *were in
debt to their bankers £500. This debt hung over the
heads of the stockholders for several years, till the
company generously relieved them by cancelling it.

’/ \
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Taken on the whole, the scheme was beneficial to
the colony, the industry of which was not only stimu-
lated, but turned into a new channel, from which was
obtained money and credit with the Hudson Bay Com-
pany, neither of which could have been realized from
the produce of their farms. By these latter many of
the settlers obtained their first stock ; the crops of the
season also proved the most abundant ever reached in
the colony.

The Lower-Canadians who came into the country
at this time settled at Pembina, forming quite a
village ; their numbers were augmented from time to
time by others of their countrymen, who had left the
North-West Company’s service, having become free
men, and who settled down amongst them. In the
spring of 1822, food becoming scarce, a party left the
little settlement to hunt the buffalo on the plains ; as
these did not return at the expected time, fears were
entertained for their safety. A trader named Hess,
who lived in the village, and who was suffering in
common with his neighbors, resolved to go in quest of
them, in company with two settlers and his two
daughters; he travelled through the Dacotahs with
great precaution.

Sighting some buffalo on the sixth day, he left his
companions to shoot some, if possible. Having been
some time away, he returned to his cart, when to his
horror he found one-of his companions scalped and his
feet cut off, a little farther on lay one of his daughters
stuck in her heart, while still a little farther were the
lifeless remains of his other companion. Further
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search failed to reveal the whereabouts of his other
daughter, whom he concluded had been taken captive.
He at once returned to Pembina, travelling three days
and three nights without food. A panic seized the
villagers on the recital of his story, and poor Hess
could get no one to accompany him even to bury the
dead. Obtaining information that the missing
daughter was a captive in a Yankton lodge, and
nerved by despair, he resolved to rescue or die in the
attempt. After a long journey over the plains he
sighted the tepees; before he had reached them, how-
ever, he was accosted with the chpllenge, “ Friend or
foe?” Prompted to the highest physical courage by his
terrible loss, Hess replied, “ You know me as your
foe, you know me by the name of Standing Bull; you
have killed one of my daughters, and taken the other
prisoner.” The Indian, impressed by his fearlessness,
extended his hand to him, and took him to the camp,
where he was kindly treated. Here he found his
daughter, and was cheered to know that she had also
been kindly dealt with; her captor was at first unwill-
ing to let her go, but consented on the production of a
certain ransom. )

A blacksmith of the name of Tully, who had been
for some time in the service of Lord Selkirk, was
desirous of crossing the plains to the United States in
company with some Americans, who had brought in a
herd of cattle, and who were to return immediately on
the completion of their business. Tully, impatient of
delay, moved on to Pembina, where he expected the
traders would join him. As they did not turn up at
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the expected time, he secured a half-breed for a guide,

and started out on the trail that led to Grand Forks.

Arriving there safely, he resolved to wait for those

who were to come after. While here, however, they

were discovered by a partj; of restless and cruel

Dacotahs, who were on the war path in search of here-
ditary foes, the Ojibeways. Taking the infant from
Mrs. Tully’s arms, they dashed out its brains against
a tree, then butchered, scalped and cut to pieces the
unhappy parents; they also made prisoners of two
boys, who were redeemed some time after by Ameri-
can traders, and who remained at Fort Snelling, where
they died. The half-breed, hearing the tramp of the
enemy’s footsteps, swam the river, gained the cover of
the woods, and returned to the village, where he told
his tragic story, which sent a thrill of sorrow through
every heart The frequency of these barbarous and
cruel murders, with the dangerous proximity of their
village to the territory of the scalping Dacotahs,
induced the settlers to retire from Pembina, and join
the colonists at St. Boniface, Red River.

The year 1823 saw the introduction of the plough, the
average return being forty-four bushels to the acre,
with the plough, with sixty-eight after the hoe. Three
hundred head of domestic cattle were also imported
into the settlement this year by some Americans, and
rapidly bought up. The herd is described as “large-
boned and fine,” but deteriorated in a few years, owing
to want of care and the severity of the climate. These
were the first domestic cattle in the settlement, with
the exception of an English bull and two cows,
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received from the North-West Company. In 1824,
another band of 500 was imported, also by Americans,
and disposed of. Trained oxen brought from eight to
nine pounds each ; milch cows from six to seven, while
inferior*animals were sold at much lower prices. The
settlers realizing the fact that they could not force
the soil to give them bread, without the necessary
means to subdue it, ploughs alsq came into demand.
These had to be manufactured in the settlement. The
country furnished abundance of wood suitable for [the
construction of these, but iron to mount them could
not be had in the colony. Those desirous of obtain-
ing it, and who had money ‘in the company’s hands,
had to send to York Factory, where it cost them one
shilling per pound, with the addition of threepence
per pound for freight inland. The blacksmiths of
those days also charged four pounds sterling for iron-
ing off. Notwithstanding this expense, a large num-
ber of new ploughs were prepared for spring opera-
tions, and a considerable extent of new land turned up
and sown.

In 1826 the colony was again doomed to trouble,
probably the most disastrous since its inception. The
fall of 1825 was very stormy, with heavy snow-storms
succeeding each other at short intervals, so much so that
in January, 1826, the snow, where undisturbed in the
woods, was five feet deep. With the reader’s permis-
sion, I will again quote from Mr. Ross, whose thrilling
account cannot be overrated : “ As early as the month
of January reports had reached the colony that the
hunters were starving, but such reports being common,
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and as often false as true, they passed for a time
unheeded. About the middle of February business
led me to Pembina, where I found ample verification
of the report, and had the satisfaction of assisting Mr.
McDermot in his benevolent efforts in ministering to -
the wants of the sufferers. Having communicafed
with Donald McKenzie, Colonial Governor at Fort
Garry, that gentleman immediately sent party after
party with provisions and clothing; in fact, at this
moment all depended on the officers of the Hudson
Bay Company, and even with all-the assistance they
could command, the difficulties were almost insuperable.
The distance the sufferers were beyond Pembina, one
hundred and fifty to two hundred miles, through deep
snow, made any conveyance -other than the dog-train
impracticable, so that the labor was great, and the
task a tedious and trying one; but everything was
done that man or beast could do, and with such des-
patch as saved hundreds of the people’s lives, nor were
private individuals wanting in their contributions—
every one lent a willing hand. The disaster began in
December. About the 20th of that month there was
a fearful snow-storm, such as-hadl not been for years,
which lasted several days, driving the buffalo beyond
the hunters’ reach, and killing most of the horses.
Owing to the suddenness of the visitation, none were
prepared for the inevitable famine which followed, the
hunters being so scattered that they could not render
each other assistance nor discover their whereabouts.
Families here and there, despairing of life, huddled
together for warmth; and in many cases their shelter
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proved their grave. The heat of the bodies melted
the snow, they became wet, and being without food or
fuel, the cold soon penetrated, and in several instances
~ froze the whole into a body of solid ice. Some were
found in a stage of wild delirium, frantic mad, while
others were picked up here and there, frozen to death
in their fruitless attempt to reach Pembina. One
woman was found with an infant on her back within
a quarter of a mile from Pembina” This poor creature
must have travelled at least 0;(23 hundred and twenty-
five miles in three days and/ nights, till she sank at
last in fhe unequal struggle for life. Those that were
found alive had devoured their horses, dogs, rawhides,
leather, and even their shoes ;\so great was the suffering

that some died on their way to-the colony, after being

relieved at Pembina. I passed two who were scarcely

cold, and saw forty-two others, in seven or eight parties,
crawling along with great difficulty. To the most
reduced I was enabled by good fortune to give a
mouthful of bread. At last, with much labor and
anxiety, the survivors were conveyed to the settlement,
where they were supplied with the comforts they so
much needed. One man with his wife and three chil-
dren were dug out of the snow, where they had been
buried for five days and nights, without food or fire or
the light of the sun ; the woman and children recovered,
but the husband died. Thirty-three lives were lost.
The colonists had hardly recovered themselves from
these exertions when a greater calamity overcame them.
The winter had been unusually severe, the snow
averaged three feet deep on the plains and in the woods
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from four to five, the cold was intense, the thermometer
ranging often forty-five below zero, while the ice
measured five feet in thickness.
“Towards spring the flow of water from the melting
snow became really alarming. On the 2nd of May,
before the ice started, the water rose nine feet in
twenty-four hours. Such a rise had never been noticed
“in the Red River. Even the Indians were startled, and
putting their hands to their mouths exclaimed, ‘ Yea he,
yea ho!” (What does this mean ?) On the 4th the water
overflowed the banks of the river, and spread so fast
that before the people were aware it had reached their
dwellings. Terror was depicted on every countenance ;
so level was the country and so rapid the rise of the
water, that on the 5th all the settlers abandoned their
homes and sought refuge on higher ground. Every
description of property became a secondary considera-
tion, and was involved in one common wreck, or
abandoned in despair. The people fled from their

homes for dear life, some of them saving only their

clothes on their backs. The shrieks of children, lowing
of cattle, and the howling of dogs added terror to the
scene. The company’s servants exerted themselves to
their utmost, and did good service with their poats.
The generous and humane governor of the colony,
Donald McKenzie, sent his own boat to the assistance
of the settlers, though himself and family depended on
it for their safety, being in an upper story with ten
feet of water rushing through the house, By means
of these exertions the families were all conveyed to
places of safety, while the cattle were driven many
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miles off to the pine hills and rocky heights. The
grain, furniture and utensils came next in order of
importance; byt by this time the country presented
the appearance of a vast lake, and the people in the
boats had no resource but to break through the roofs
of their buildings, and thus save what they could.

“The ice now drifted in astraight course from point
to point, carryi estruction before it, and the trees
were bent like willows by the force of the current,
while the frightened inhabitagts were collected in
groups on any dry spot that remained visible above
the waste of water. Their houses, barns, carriages,
furniture, fencing and every description of property
might be seen floating over the wide extended plain
to be ingulfed in Lake Winnipeg.”

Hardly a house or building of any kind was left
standing in the colony. Many of the buildings drifted
along whole and entire, and in some dogs were howl-
ing dismally, cats jumping frantically from side to
side ; but the most singular spectacle was a house in
flames, drifting aleng in the night, one half immersed
in water, the remainder burning furiously. Phe water
continued rising till the 21st, and extended far over the
plain; where cattle used to graze boats were plying in
full sail. On the 22nd the water appeared to stand,
and, after a day or two, began gradually to fall. The
height to which it rose above ordinary years, was fifteen
feet. Its subsidence was very gradual. During this
heavy trial only one man lost his life, but many were
the hairbreadth escapes. As, for example, at one spot
the writer fell in with a man who had two of his oxen
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tied together, with his wife and four children fixed on
their backs; the docile but terrified animals wadéd or
floated as best they could, while the man himself, with
a long line in his hand, kept before them, sometimes
wading, sometimes swimming, guiding them to the
highest ground. With considerable trouble we got
“them conveyed to a place of safety, and but for our
timely assistance they must all have perished, for the
water was gaining on them fast; they were already
exhausted and had somé distance to go. The actions
of the De Meurons durmo this trouble merited the
contempt with which they were afterwards regarded—
killing the settlers’ cattle, and selling the meat-at three-
pence a pound. Wheat, which had fallen to two shil-
lings per bushel, at the commencement of the disaster,
rose to fifteen shillings. The cause of the flood has
been the subject of many conjectures; we prefer to state
the only conclusion which appears to us natural and
consistent with well-known facts. The previous year
had been unusually wet, the country was thoroughly
saturated, the lakes, swamps and rivers, at the fall of
the year, were full of water, while a large quantity of
snow had fallen in the preceding winter. Then came
a late spring, with a sudden burst of warm weather ; a
south wind blowing for several days, the snow melted
at once, and Red Lake, Otter Tail and Lake Traverse
all overflowed their banks. To these causes must be
added the large quantities of ice carried down by the
Red River, which, coming in contact with the solid
ice of Lake Winnipeg, thus stopping the cugrent,
seem to have caused the overflow of back water
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on the level surface of the plains. This opinion is
strengthened by the fact that, as the ice of the lake
gave way, the water began to fall, and fell as rapidly
as it rose. Mr. Nolan, one of the first adventurers in
the Red River valley, describes the flood of 1776 as
still higher than on this occasion, having sailed that
year from Red Lake River, round by way of Pembina,
and down towards the colony, the whole country
being under water, and the river appearing to him
rather like a lake. The Indians mention a flood about
the year 1790, while in 1809 the water rose unusually
high.




CHAPTER V.

Hardships and Difficulties—New Arrivals—Second Experimental Farm
—A New Fort Built—A New Company—Tallow Trade—Attempt
to Introduce Sheep—Colony Transferred to the Hudson Bay Com-
pany—New Governmental Arrangements—Disappointments and
Failures —Third Experimental Farm —Harsh Measures—Indian
Animosities—An Epidemic—Soldiers from England—Traders Pro-

secuted-—Census Taken.

ON the 15th of June the settlers returned to their

desolated homes. The colony now found themselves

divided into two parties—first, the Scotch and others

who still resolved to remain despite the discourage-

ments ; second, the De Meurons, Swiss and other rest-

less spirits, who were determined to try somewhere else.

So little was the presence of the latter desired, that
food was furnished them gratis in order to hasten
their departure. On the 24th of June, 243 of these
took their departure, and the colony never saw, nor
had any desire tp see, them again. Once more, and
for the fourth time, our Scotch colonists, with every-
thing gone, commenced on their desolate fields. With
the advanced state of the season, they could not hope
for much of a crop; yet barley, potatoes, and some
wheat, sowed as late as the 22nd of June, matured, as
it were, to encourage them.

The year 1827 brought to the little colony an impetus
in fresh arrivals, some of whom hailed from the Orkney
Islands, filling up the gap made by the exodus of the
De Meurons. Agriculture was pushed with a spirit
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formerly unknown; houses multiplied, fields fenced,
out-houses erected to shelter the cattle; and now
began to be felt the lack of market facilities, to
encourage their agricultural efforts. The Hudson
Bay Company were able only to take a limited
quantity of produce of all kinds, while for grinding
facilities they had to depend on the windmills erected
throughout the settlement—the first of which cost,
when placed in position, the sum of £1,500—or other-
wise on the quirne stanes many of them had brought
from their native hills. In this year, also, the Hudson
Bay Company, acting on an idea suggested by Lord
Selkirk a short time previous to his death, opened out
a road through forest and swamp, eighty-one miles in
length, between Oxford House and a point on Fox
River. Goods designed for the settlement were
forwarded .rom the Bay to the first-mentioned post
by boat, then by dog-trains in winter, from the house
along this new route to Red River. The first season
showed the unfitness of dogs for this kind of work.
In 1828, stables were built jalong the route, at a dis-
tance of eleven miles apart, and provisioned with hay.
Oxen were then procured from Red River, but through
mismanagement, gave equally poor satisfaction. Bale
after bale of goods had to be thrown off the sleighs,
and never looked after again. In 1829, the undertak-
ing was relinquished, after having cost the company
in men’s wages, oxen, goods lost and destroyed, some
thousands of pounds sterling.

In 1830 was commenced the second experimental
farm under Governor Simpson’s regime. This was
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established on a rich and fertile spot on the Assiniboine
River. Houses of every description were erected,
barns, corn-yards and stables, with a noble residence
for the manager; parks and enclosures were also
formed. The best breed of cows was purchased; a
stallion worth £300, imported from England, as also
brood mares from the United States; the most costly
and improved ploughs, harrows, drills—in fact what-
ever was necessary, even to the milk pail and axe
handle, with men and women servanfs to fill every
station. Thus provided, it was thought sure to-be
successful. The choice of a manager lay with a
gentleman, zealous, active and persevering in whatever
he was acquainted with, but in no wise qualified to
Jjudge of farming operations. He selected as his
choice Chief Factor McMillan. The appointment was
an unfortunate one. Mr. McMillan, though a good man
in his own way, knew nothing whatever of farm work,
and the staff was in keeping with the principal. Their
knowledge consisted in having seen wheat, barley and
potatoes raised in the simplest manner. Butter and
cheese making was a science absolutely new and
unknown to them. The result was, as could be plainly
seen, failure. Flax and hemp grew luxuriantly, but,
after growing, was neglected, and allowed to rot
on the ground. The most common grain raised
was inferior in quantity and quality to that raised by
the humblest Scotch settler in the colony. System
there was none, and the want of it ruined the whole.
After running this concern for ¢ix years, it was sold
out, the loss to the company amounting to about
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oine . £f4"000' This scheme was a pet one of Governor
ectod, Simpson’s, and from it he looked for magnificent
‘idence results t:O the colony. On learning the result he said,
s « Red‘Rlver is like a Libyan tiger, the more we try to
od; o t,a.me it, the more savage it becomes ; so it is with Red
+ also River, every step I try to bring it forward, disappoint-
costly ment drags it two backwards.” The only benefit reaped
et by the colony was an improvement in the breed of horses.
1 s The failure of this grand scheme brought experimental
every farms into contempt, and passed into a by-word in
t0bo the colony, particularly among the half-breeds, who
7ith & said, “Ice barn farmers are bad, but experimental

atover farmers are still worse.”
ied to In 1832, Governor Simpson, annoyed at the unceas-
s his ing turbulence of the French half-breeds, determined
1 was to remove his residence from Fort Douglas to a more
4 man eligible spot, twenty miles farther north, on the Red
work, River. In October of 1831, he commenced operations,
Their digging foundations, quarrying stones, and preparing
- and timber, where now stands what is known as the
;r and lower, or stone fort. The river bank at this place
+ and being composed of fossiliferous limestone, furnished
ylainly sufficient stone for lime, which was burned on the
v, but, spot; the unbroken forest on the east side of the
to rot river supplying abundant timber and fuel for that
raised purpose. During the summers of 1832 and 1833 a
sed by commodious dwelling-house and capacious store were
system finished, in which Governor Simpson and family
whole. passed the winter of 1833 and 1834. Goods were sold
s sold at the store to settlers inhabiting the north end of the
about colony, obviating the necessity of travelling many

8
\\
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miles to the upper fort for their purchases, as also
forming a market for those who lived close by.

In 1839, a stone wall was commenced, three to four
feet thick, with embrasures for small arms at regular
distances of fifteen feet apart. A capacious round
tower occupied each of the four angles, forming the
interior into a large square, with a gate on the south-
east side opening on to the river, while another on
the north-west side fronted the plains. The lower
fort from its inception became one of the most impor-
tant posts the company had in the country, on account
of its being the terminus of steamers engaged in
lake navigation. From this post they received their
cargoes of trading goods, which were transported to
the big fall at the mouth of the Saskatchewan, where
they were forwarded to the districts lying north and
west of the same. To this post, also, the steamers
returned, bringing the furs collected on that river and

. the northern stations during the winter, and from here

they were forwarded through the United States to
England.

About this time also, Lord Selkirk’s original settlers
who had remained in the colony were pressed to pay
the heavy debt incurred by them during their first
few years’ residence. This had accumulated in some
cases to as much as £300, and no family owed less
than £100. These debts had to be paid in produce, for
which they were allowed very low prices. The quan-
tity thus delivered fully supplied the only market the
farmer then had, completely shutting out those who
were not in debt, and leaving them no avenue wherein
to dispose of their season’s crop.

In
t&“ovq
place¢
£5 ea
SIX me

. Was dy

Were g

as follc

old, £2
herd gt

four hy,

The ¢

those ap

Initialg, '

to pasty,

to the e
the care
month 4

a xn()w_fa
altogether
followeq 1,
cattle wer,
regularly {
h&d .qpru”g
only fooq i
the b“’-nche
picked up |
leaving poy
he result 0
Summer, g
the undertq)



HISTORY OF MANITOBA. 107

| also In April, also of this year, was inaugurated the

tallow company scheme, the capital of which was

. four placed at £1,000, divided into two hundred shares of

oular £5 each. The directorate consisted of a chairman and

;\md six members; any one owning six shares in the concern

+ the _ was duly qualified to become a director. These shares

:)uth- were at once taken in cattle, the values placed being

er on as follows: For a year-old, £1 each ; for a two-year-

lower old, £2; three-year-old, £3; and so on. The entire

mpor- herd at the commencement of the scheme consisted of
count four hundred and seventy-three head.

od in The cattle, according to promise, were delivered to

| their those appointed to receive them, and branded with the

ted to initials, T. T.—Tallow Trade—and by them conveyed

where to pasture grounds at the foot of the Pine Hills and

h and to the east of the settlement, and there placed under

,amers the care of two herdsmen. On the 30th of this same

or and month a storm came from the north, bringing with it

n here a snow-fall of about eighteen inches, a circumstance

tes to altogether unusual at this time of the year. This was

followed by cold and stormy weather. Some of the

ettlers cattle were lean, all of them had been housed and

to pay regularly fed during the winter, the new grass which

r first had sprung up was buried deep in snow and water, the

| some only food that remained for the suffering herd was

ad less the branches of trees and tops of willows, which were

\ce, for picked up by the stronger animals taking the lead,

. quan- leaving nothing for the weaker ones that followed.

cet the The result of this was that twenty-six died during the

e who summer. However, the herd improved rapidly, and

rherein the undertaking seemed to gain favor. Preparations
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were made for their protection during the coming
winter ; sheds without roofs were erected, apparently
for the purpose of keeping them together and pre-
gerving them from the wolves, rather than the intense
cold. Hay was put up in proportion of about one

load per head. Into these sheds the cattle were driven ; .

there they stood huddled together for warmth. In
the morning when let out they were so benumbed
with cold and standing all night that they could
scarcely walk, and were unable to procure their food
in deep snow during the day. ]In this manner they
passed the winter, with the result that thirty-two died
from the effects of the cold and want of food, fifty-
three were destroyed by wolves, the ears, horns and
tails of many of them froze and fell off, and many of
the cows also lost their teats.

In the beginning of the second winter the cattle
were removed to new pasture farther distant from
the settlement but more sheltered, new herdsmen
engaged, and a sufficient quantity of hay put up, warm
sheds erected, the cost of which was defrayed by a
call of five shillings per share. After the winter had
set in the cattle were driven in every night and fed
regularly, and matters so arranged that eattt director
in his turn should visit the cattle once a week. Despite
these precautions sixteen died of cold and twenty
were killed by wolves. The stockholders, discouraged
by these losses, resolved to put an end to the concern,
and in October of 1834 the herd was disposed of by
auction, the shareholders realizing the full amount of
their investment, but sacrificing the interest of their

stock.
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In 1833, a joint stock company was also formed by
Governor Simpson to introduce sheep into the colony.
The sum of £1,200 was raised, and Mr. Rae, a
Hudson Bay clerk, associated with J. P. Bourke, and
four men, despatched to purchase the required number.
Though late in the season, they crossed the inhospitable
plain to St. Peter’s, from thence to St. Louis, and on
through the State of Missouri. The people, believing
from reports that had preceded them, that the strangers
intended to purchase some thousands, instead of hun-
dreds, demanded ten shillings per head. Rae was so
wrathy at this extortion, as he considereqd it, that
though the price was afterwards reduced seven
shillings and sixpence per head, he refused to deal
with the Missourians at all, and pushed on to Kentucky,
four hundred and fifty miles farther. In vain Bourke
remonstrated on the increased difficulty of transport
and other contingencies, Rae would hear nothing. After
a variety of adventures they reached Kentucky, to
find very little difference in the price. Here Rae pur-
chased 1,475; and now the difficulties which Bourke
pointed out began to be experienced. They had to
pay for pasture every night, while many of the sheep
died from hard driving. On their way up the Missis-
sippi, seeing ‘that the flock were suffering from the
burden and heat of their fleeces, they halted at a cer-
tain place to clip them, having agreed to sell the wool
to a certain individual for a specified sum. Not having
the full amount in cash, Rae refused to let him have
value for the cash he had. A number of poor people
having collected around, combined and made him an
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offer; but their proposition coming short of the value
he had placed on the wool, he caused it to be burned
rather than-that any of them should get it. Of the
1,475 sheep purchased only 251 reached Red River,
the rest all perished by the way. Rae and Bourke
rode on in front, with the men behind ; every now and
then one of the drivers would ride up to them with
the word that so many of the sheep could not be made
to move on. “Cut their throats, and drive on!” was
the invariable order. In one morning alone over forty
were thus disposed of. When any of them dropped
behind through exhaustion, their throats were immedi-
ately cut and their carcasses left behind. This con-
tinued till the men became so thoroughly disgusted
that they refused to perform ‘the inhuman order,
leaving the leaders to do it themselves. On their
arrival in Red River, despite the facts above stated,
they were presented with a vote of thanks from the
Governor and managing committee. There was a
class, however, who, dissatisfied with the management,
were disposed to pass a vote of censure on the Gover-
nor and management. Mr. Simpson, to silence these,
declared his willingness to pay back all the money
that had been subscribed, and keep the sheep himself
until they became numerous enough to give all who
desired an opportunity to purchase a few. By this
means the latter class was shut off, and the sheep
turned over to the care of the experimental farm. In
the course of three years they were auctioned off, and
80 keen was the competition, that, taking one with
another, the flock brought from two to three pounds
each. :
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111
alue In 1835, for a monetary copsideration of £85,000,
-ned the colony was transferred by the young Earl of Sel-

the kirk to the Hudson Bay Company. - This change was
yer, known only to a few, and was done with a view to
ke strengthening the hands of the company in the govern-
and ment of the country. The Governor, with a few other
vith

gentlemen, was selected, and commissioned by the
\ade Board of Directors in London; these, with the Governor-

Was in-Chief, formed a legislative council empowered to
sty make laws, to regulate civil affairs, and for the punish-
iped ment of parties guilty of crime. The members of the
odi- Council having been appointed, the personnel was
on- as follows : President—Sir George Simpson; Govern-
sted ment Councillors—Alex. Christie, Governor of Assini-
der, boia : Right Rev. Bishop of Suliopolis; Rev. D. T. Jones, |
heir Chaplain H. B. C.; Rev. Wm. Cochrane, Assistant-Chap-
ted, lain H. B. C.; James Bird, Esq., formerly Chief Factor
the H. B. C.; James Sutherland, Esq.,, W. H. Cook, Esq., “
. & John Pritchard, Esq., Robt. Logan, Esq., Alex. Ross, 4
ent, Esq.,John McAllum, Esq.; John Bunn, Medical Adviser; “L:: ‘
ver- Andrew McDermott, Esq. ; Cuthbert Grant, Warden of ,"?,
ese, the Plains. The President summoned the_Council to i
ney a meeting at Upper Fort Garry on the 12th February, Iég
self 1835, when he delivered the following address: I
vho “ Gentlemen, in order to guard as much as possible |
this against misapprehension within doors, or misrepre-
eep sentation without, on the subjects which I am now
In about to bring under your consideration, I shall, then,
and

briefly notice them. From their importance they can-
rith not fail to call forth due attention, and from the deep
and lively interest you all feel in the welfare and

nds




112 HISTORY OF MANITOBA.

prosperity of the colony, I am satisfied you will afford
me the best of your assistance and support towards
carrying into effect such measures as may appear
best calculated, under existing circumstances, to answer
every desirable object.

“The population of the colony has become so great,
amounting to about five thousand souls, that the
personal influence of the Governor, and the little more
than nominal support afforded by the police, which,
together with the good feeling of the people, have
heretofore been its principal safeguard, are no longer
sufficient to maintain the tranquillity and good govern-
ment of the settlement; so that, although rights of
property have of late been frequently invaded, and
other serious offences committed,' I am concerned to
say we were under the necessity of allowing them to
pass unnoticed, because we had not the means at com-
mand of enforcing obedience and due respect, on
account of the existing state of things.

“Under such circumstances, it must be evident to one
and all of you, that it is impossible society can hold
together ; that the time has at length arrived when it
becomes necessary to put the administration of justice
on a more firm and regular footing than heretofore,
and immediate steps taken to guard against danger
from abroad or difficulties at home, for the mainten-
ance of good order and tranquillity, and for the security
and protection of lives and property.” A

At this meeting the following resolutions were
passed, and becawme law, most of which guve some
satisfaction for a time:
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1. That an efficient and disposable force be embodied,
to be styled a volunteer corps, consisting of sixty
officers and privates, to be at all times ready to act
when called upon, and to be paid as follows:

Commanding officers, £20 per annum; sergeant, £10
per annum ; privates, £6 per annum—with extra pay
for sérving writs. When not so employed, their time
was to be their own. Alexander Ross was appointed
their officer.

2. That the settlement be divided into four districts:

The first to extend from Image Plain, down-

wards ;

The second, from the latter place to the junction of

the Red and Assiniboine Rivers, with James Sutherland,
Esq., for magistrate ;

The third, from the forks upwards on the Red River,

with Robert Logan, Esq., as magistrate ;

The fourth, the White Horse Plains or Assiniboine
River, with Cuthbert Grant, officer.

These magistrates to hold quarterly courts of sum-
mary jurisdiction on the third Monday in January,
April, July, and in October.

3. That said courts have power to pronounce final
judgment in all civil cases where the debt or damage
claimed may not exceed five pounds; and in all cases
of trespass or misdemeanor, which, by the rules and
regulations of the district of Assiniboia, not being
repugnant to the laws of England, may be punished
by a fine not exceeding the sum of five pounds.

4. That said courts be empowered to refer any case
of doubt or difficulty to the supreme tribunal of the
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colony, at its next ensuing quarterly session, by giving
intimation of the reference in open court, and a written
notice of the same under the hands of a majority of
the three sitting magistrates, at least one week before
the commencement of said quarterly session, and their
being compelled to state any reason for so doing.

5. That the court, and Governor, and Counecil, in
its judicial capacity, sit on the third" Thursday of
February, May, and November, and at such other
times as the Governor-in-chief of Rupert’s Land, or
in his absence, the Governor of Assiniboia, may deem
fit. .
6. That in all contested civil cases involving claims
of more than ten pounds, and in all eriminal eases, the
verdict of the jury shall determine the fact or facts in
dispute.

7. That a public building, serving the double purpose
of a court-house and gaol, be erected as early as possible,
at the forks of the Red and Assiniboine Rivers; that
in order to raise funds for defraying such expenses as
may be found necessary towards the maintenance of
order, and the erection of public works, an import
duty shall be levied on all goods and merchandise of
foreign manufacture imported into Red River colony,
either for sale or for use, at seven per cent. on the
amount of invoice, and that an export duty of seven
per cent. be levied on all goods, provisions, and live
stock, being the growth, produce, or manufacture of
the Red River colony.

At the close of the business, Governor Simpson
intimated that the fur trade would make a grant in
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aid of public works in Red River. On this being
announced, a vote of thanks was returned the Governor
and Council of Rupert's Land, for their grant, and the
Council adjourned. This gift indicated both wisdom
and liberality on the part of the fur trade council,
enabling the local authorities to procure timber and
build the court-house and gaol. '

The population of the colony looked with a jealous
eye upon the constitution of this council, remarking
the fact that only a member was in a position, if he
had the inclination, to take an independent stand for
their rights and privileges. The heavy duty of seven
per cent. on all imports was specially aimed at those
who were trading outside of the Hudson Bay Com-
pany ; and they saw in the proposal to constitute the
volunteer corps, an effort on the part of the company
to be able to enforce by military measures, if necessary,
the enactments, however objectionable they might be
to the people for whom they were meant.

Notwithstanding this dissatisfaction, the condition
of the settlement was much improved. A general
quarterly court was held, presided over by the Governor
and a bench of magistrates, the jury system introduced,
forming a link between the governing und the governed.
The sheriff, being without a voters’ list, as a rule
chose the most intelligent from amongst the community,
who were generally only too pleased to be called upon
to aid in dispensing justice to their fellow-colonists.

The following year, 1836, was full of disappointments
and failures. On the 8th of June, a hard frost fell in
some localities, cutting down not only the grain and
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root crop, but also the leaves on the trees. Three days
after, a thunder storm with heavy rain came. On
strong, rich land, the wheat and potatoes recovered,
but the barley, where frozen, died out. On the 19th
of August, another heavy frost came, injuring the
standing wheat even where the ear was full, and making
any that had been sown late useless, even for seed.
The plain hunters returned from their summer trip
with half loads. The annual ship from London to
York Factory was driven from her moorings at that
place by a storm. The captain, instead of trying to
re-enter the harbor, made sail, with all the yearly
supplies for the colony, back to England, thus causing
a dearth of European goods in the settlement. The
cold, drizzling, frosty weather which followed, in
October, destroyed the fall fisheries, which had con-
stituted hitherto their principal food for the winter.
The clamoring of the population for something better
than the arbitrary justice administered by the magis-
trates appointed by the Council, made it apparent to
the company that judicial procedure must be sustained
in a more efficient manner, and that by a lawyer who,
under the title of Recorder of Rupert’s Land, or other-
wise, could exercise all the powers of a judge. Mr.
Thom, who was resident in Montreal at this time, and
who had been called to the bar of Lower Canada this
same year, was appointed, at a salary of £700 per
annum. He reached Red River in 1839.
In 1836, the first petit jury was empanelled, and a
man named Lewis St. Dennis found guilty of theft,
and sentenced to be flogged, a mode of punishment
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which was never repeated in publie, from its unpopu-
larity with the settlers. The second occasion when,
according to law, this operation should be performed
was in 1841; it was then done in the prison, the oper-
ating official being masked, and for security locked up
until after dark.

In 1837 was begun the third and last experimental
farm by the directors of the Hudson Bay Company,
and a gentleman by the name of Captain George Mar-
cus Carey, a half-pay officer, engaged in London gt a
high calary to proceed to Red River, accompanied by
seven men with their families. These arrived in the
Bay in the fall of 1836, and, with the exception of Mr.
Carey himself, passed the winter at York Factory.
Not relishing the bleak look of the Bay, Captain
Carey made his way to Red River during the winter.
After reconnoitring around the fort, the Captain
selected the rich alluvial point north of where the
Assiniboine enters the Red River, and adjoining the site
of Old Fort Garry. Operations were begun in March.
Lumbermen were sent to the woods, timber taken out
and rafted down to the spot selected, and builders
at once put to work to erect houses for those who had
wintered at York Factory, and who arrived at Fort
Garry late in July. The most improved and costly
implements were imported from England, and the
enterprise launched on a scale far beyond anything
known hitherto in the country. Elated by the spirit
of the enterprise in which they were engaged, the
new-comers would boast of the wonders they intended
to perform, not only in raising cereals, but in every
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other branch of agriculture, and the profitable results
that would follow, first to their employers, and,
secondly, to the settlement. Considerable interest was
raised, and it was considered almost a forégone con-
clusion that the Hudson Bay Company would be able,
by this means, to supply their own demands and close
up the only market the settlers had for their surplus
crops at that time. By the spring of 1838 there were
twenty acres in crop and an area of one hundred acres
enclosed, half of which was allowed t® remain undis-
turbed by the plough. Sheep were also procured, and
shepherds brought from Scotland to tend them, there
being sometimes a flock of three hundred, the wool
from which was sold annually by auction, averaging
about twenty-five cents per pound. It was soon
apparent that experimental farm number three was
going to be no more successful than its predecessors,
notwithstanding its superior facilities. It took all
they could produce to feed the employees; and the
company continued, as before, to take the eight bushels
from each man who had no other means of earning a
shilling.

The laborers brought from England became noto-
rious for their beer-drinking, and as their contracts
expired, the Captain was only too pleased to sign
their discharge. This institution continued in exis-
tence from March, 1837, to June, 1847, ten years and
two months, when Captain Carey left with his family
for Canada. What the results were to the Hudson
Bay Company is not known. There can be no doubt
that as far as the Captain was concerned, the specula-
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tion was profitable. On applying for the renewal of
their license in 1837, we find in the report submitted
to the Colonial Office by Governors Simpson and Pelly,
on behalf of the Hudson Bay Company, a reference
made to these experimental farmns, as well as to thir-
teen schools, two Protestant and some Catholic mis-
sions. It is only just to say that out of the thirteen
schools referred too only one, namely, that of St.
John’s, received a grant from the company. The other
twelve, where the rank and file of the community
received their education, were unendowed, and practi-
cally unknown to.the great fur traders.

In 1840, the Hudson Bay Company considered it
necessary, in the interest of their trade, to take advan-
tage of the provision contained in their charter giving
them the exclusive right in the fur trade. A Cana-
dian named Regis Laurent had infringed on those
rights. His house was forcibly broken open, and -the

furs therein seized by the company’s officers.

Two
other seizures followed.

The last culprit they sent a
prisoner to the shores of Hudson Bay, with the threat
that he would be sent to England and punished for

his crime. These harsh measures only enraged the

population, and instead of stamping out, only made
the principle of free trade to strike the deeper.
Between the Sioux or the Dacotah Indians, and the

settlement, there had been for anumber of years a
bitter animosity, and collisions were often prevented
by the intervention of the half-breeds, who latterly
were drawn into the dispute themselves, and who, be-
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tween the years 1840 to 1844, had joined the Saulteaux
in giving battle to the Sioux whenever a hostile meet-
ing occurred. A peace was effected between the half-
breeds and the Sioux in the fall of 1844, on the
strength of which the hunters returned to the plains,
smoked the peace pipe, and passed the summer
amongst the Dacotahs. Shortly after, a number of
Sioux returned the compliment by making a friendly
visit to the whites in the settlement, where, after a
brief stay, they returned to their own country in
safety. A second party came to Fort Garry in the fall
of the same year. On one occasion during this visit,
and while the Sioux, Saulteaux and whites mingled
freely with each other in apparent good fellowship,
suddenly the discharge of a gun was heard, and two
Indians fell dead, one a Sioux, the other a Saulteaux,
the same ball‘seriously wounding a white man also.
Fearing this to be an outbreak on the part of the
Saulteaux, the visiting Sioux were lodged safely inside
the fort, the two bodies were brought in, and inquiry
elicited the fact that it was a Saulteaux who had fired
the shot; he was found standing close by, while all
the rest of his tribe had fled. On being questioned,
he said, “The Sioux killed my brother and wounded
myself last year, I then vowed the revenge that I
have now taken; I am satisfied ; let the whites do with

me as they will.” He was instantly committed to

prison, tried by a jury, found guilty, and sentenced to
be hung. The gallows was erected over the prison
gate, and he was executed on the 5th of September,
1845. Being the first, it was thought by the authori-
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ties that an attempt at rescue might be made, but
none such was attempted. This had a salutary effect
on the red men of the settlement, who were becoming
overbearing and insolent towards the whites.

In 1846, a severe epidemic visited the settlement.
The winter had been uncommonly mild. Early in
the year, after a prevalence of influenza, measles broke
out, succeeded by a bloody flux, which, after decimat-
ing the Indians, committed fearful havoc among the
whites. From the 18th of June to the 2nd of August,
the death-rate averaged per day an aggregate of one to
every sixteen of the population. In September of the
same year, several companies of the 6th Royals,
amounting in all to about 500 nen, including artillery
and sappers, under command of Colonel Crofton, who
was also appointed Governor, arrived in the settle-
ment. These troops, sent out under secret instruc-
tions from the War Office, proved a boon to the settlers,
by giving a tone to society, creating a home market
for the consumption of their produce, quieting dis-
affected persons, and defending the frontier line during
the trouble made by the Americans on the Oregon
question. They were recalled in 1848, expending
during their stay in the settlement no less a sum than
£15,000, besides giving an impetus to matters gener-
ally. The Royals were succeeded by 140 pensioners,
under Major Caldwell, who was also appointed Gover-
nor, and who, during the regime a]lotted‘hi , did not
give entire satisfaction to the people. These were re-
called in June, 1855, and succeeded by the Canadian

Rifles in 1857, who were the last British troops in the
9

q
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colony, until the arrival of Sir Garnet Wolseley in
1870.

The spirit of free trade, which had been gtowing
stronger and deeper, despite the company’s efforts to
stamp it out, received a fresh impetus in 1849.
William Sayre, a French half-breed, was arrested and
imprisoned for trading with the Indians in furs. Some
time previous to this, three half-breeds—McGinnis,
Laronde and Goulette—had been similarly dealt with,
but were held on bail to stand their trial at the first
criminal court. On the day appointed, the 17th of

,May, large bands of the Metis, or half-breeds,

congregated round the court-house, thoroughly armed.
No attempt was made to disturb the proceedings of
the court, but it was well understood that they were
there to protect the free traders, as they were then
called, from punishment. Sayre admitted that he had
traded furs with the Indians, and a verdict was found
against him; but he was discharged on proving that
he had received permission from one of the company’s
oﬁicerq to doso. McGinnis, Laronde and Goulette were

ded against ; and as the prisoners left the
cour u:;}ody they were greeted with applause, the
disch f firearms, and the shouts of “ Vive la
libertie, and trade is free.”

This trial brought to a crisis a disaffection which
had existed ever since Mr. Thom’s appointment. Many
of the eettlers persisted in looking at him, not only as
a recorder, but as the paid servant of the Hudson Bay
Company, and though none could impeach his upright-
ness and integrity, they held that he could not be
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completely unbiased in his decisions, and particularly
80, where the interest of his employers was concerned.
The display of armed force on this occasion, with the
demonstration succeeding the trial, so influenced Mr.
Thom, that he retired from the bench until 1850.
Meantime Colonel Caldwell presided as judge, con-
ducting the proceedings of the court after the manner
of a court-martial. In 1850, a case involving compli-
cations of a very serious and scandalous nature came
before the court, Fosse vs. Pelly, the complainant in
this case being an officer of the pensioners, and the
defendant an officer in the company’s service; the
charge, that of defamatory conspiracy. A large num-
ber of witnesses were called from the ‘most influ-
ential residents of the settlement. As it was believed
that only a man of Jarge legal experience could
thoroughly weigh the multitude of conflicting influ-
ences and assertions crowding into such a dispute, it
was arranged for Mr. Thom to take the bench. The
verdict of the jury was in favor of Captain Fosse, the
complainant, with dautages for three hundred pounds.
Colonel Caldwell, who had attended court as Governor,
was so dissatisfied with the conducting of the case and
the verdict, that he addressed a statement of his views
thereon to the Board of the Hudson Bay Company, in
London, England. Mr. Thom was removed from the
office of recorder, but accepted the clerkship of the
court on a scale of pay equal to that which he had
drawn as judge. Colonel Caldwell assumed the duties
of judge till 1854, when he returned to Scotland, and
was succeeded by Mr. Johnston, a distinguished pleader
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at the Canadian bar, who, during the four years of
his occupancy, was fortunate enough to escape adjudi-
cating on any cases in which public prejudice had
asserted itself, either for or against. In 1858 he
returned to his practice in Canada. From that date
until 1862 the duties attendant on the position were
discharged by Dr. Bunn, the principal doctor in the
colony, in an able and efficient manner. On the death
of this gentleman, in 1861, Governor McTavish suc-
ceeded him as president of the court till the appoint-
ment of John Black, in 1862, who retained it till the

transfer of the country to the Canadian Government.
A census taken this year showed the colony t6

contain 5,391 souls, represented as follows: 873 men,
married and widowers ; unmarried men, 145 ; women,
married and widows, 877 ; sons, over sixteen years,
382 ; under, 1,314 ; daughters, over fifteen, 373 ; under,
1,292, The material prosperity of the colony was
represented by the following : Seven churches, twelve
schools, two water and eighteen windmills, 745
dwelling-houses, 1,066 stables, 335 barns ; in live stock,
there were 1,095 horses, 990 mares, 2,097 oxen, 155
bulls, 2,147 cows, 1,615 calves, 1,563 pigs, and 3,096
sheep. In implements there were 492 ploughs, 576
harrows, 1,918 carts, 428 canoes, 40 boats, and 6,329
acres under cultivation.
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CHAPTER VI.

Inception of the Portage Mission—Influx of New Settlers—The Flood
of 1852—Erection of First Church—Education—More New Settlers
—Dr. Schultz—The First Newspaper—Mail Service—The Old Fort
—Steamer International.

THE venerable Archdeacon Cochrane is one whose
name will ever remain associated with the history of
the Province, for to his untiring zeal and efforts much
of its prosperity is due, especially in the opening and
building up of new settlements, one of which is that
of Portage la Prairie.

The Archdeacon, seeing that through the natural
increase of population, and the advent of colonists
seeking new homes in this western world, the parent
settlement on the banks of the Red River was getting
overcrowded, came west along the Assiniboine, in the
spring of 1851. His observant eye soon perceived
that with the lighter soil the harvest would come in
from one to two weeks .earlier than in the former
district. Having decided to open a new mission here,
the Archdeacon purchased from Chief Pe-qua-ke-kan
the point of land on which the town of Portage la
Prairie now stands, for a certain sum, paying for the
same in mission goods. The old chief also Lequegthed
to the settlers, along what is now known as the Slough
'Road, and to their children, the island of which men-
tion is made in my introduction, for the consideration
that every man should give him a bushel of wheat,
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yearly, as long as he (the old chief) should live. The
consideration was observed, on the part of the settlers,
until his demise.

On returning to the rapids, the Archdeacon com-
municated the " result of his observations to his
parishioners, a number of whom, in the following year,
accompanied him to his new mission field, taking up
claims and settling thereon. Amongst these were
Peter, William and John Garrioch, Fred Bird and
family, Charles and Martin Cummins with their
families, Gavin Garrioch, John and Henry Hudson, and
a few others.

The year 1852 is memorable as being that in which
the fifth and most disastrous flood on record occurred,
in describing which I cannot do better than follow
the graphic account of Alexander Ross, who was an
eye-witness and participator in these events, and who
writes as follows:

“On the 7th of May the water had risen eight feet
above the high-water mark of ordinary years, over-
flowed the banks of the river, and begun to spread
devastation and ruin in the settlement. Boats and
canoes were in great request for the saving of lives
and property. All was hurry, bustle and confusion.
Some had to ‘take shelter in the garrets, some on
stages, some here, some there, in little groups on spots
higiter than others, anxiously waiting a boat or some
friendly hand to save them from a watery grave.
From one hundred and fifty yards wide, the usual
breadth of the river, it spread to three miles on each
side, and for several days rose at the rate of nearly an
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inch per hour. On the 12th, half the colony was under
water, and a clean sweep was made of all fencing and
loose property on both sides of the river for a distance
of twenty-two miles in length. In all this extent so
low and flat is the country that not a single house was
excepted, all were submerged ; not an inhabitant but
had fled. The crying of children, the lowing of cattle,
squeaking of pigs, and the howling of dogs, completed
this strange and melancholy scene. On the 22nd,
the water was at its height, and the remarkable
coincidence was observed that on the same day of the
month twenty-six years previously the water had
been at its height also, but eighteen inches higher than
the time of which we now write. During eight days
before the change dwelling-houses and barns were
floating in all directions, like sloops under sail, with
dogs, cats and poultry in them. Outhouses, carts,
carioles, boxes, cupboards, tables, chairs, feather beds,
and every variety of household furniture drifting
along, added to the universal wreck. In 1826
only one man was drowned, so also in 1852.
Some few horses, horned cattle and pigs were drowned
in the hurry and bustle. But in other respects the
destruction was general. The very mice, snakes and
squirrels could not find a hiding-place above or below
ground. All their efforts to save themselves were
vain, the destructive element forced them to surrender ;
they struggled and died ; even the frogs were overcome
in their favorite element, and could be seen sitting and
seeking refuge on every log, plank and stick that
floated along; the very birds and insects deserted the

e ——— e —————————
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place, so complete was the. desolation.  Nothing was
to be heard but the howling of the dogs in the distance,
nothing seen, far as the eye could reach, but water,
water, water. No cock-crowing in the morning, not a
plough at work, not a bushel of seed in the ground,
men half bewildered, pensive and mute, looked at each
other and mourned their loss. The Sabbath almost
undistinguished in the week days, the churches empty,
the l}ells mute, the sound of the mill-stone no longer
heard ; where cattle used to feed boats sailed and fish
swam. Twenty-six years of labor of man and beast
hastened to be ingulfed in Lake Winnipeg; many
houses gone, many deprived of their all, the loss to
the sufferers who can estimate, especially that felt by
the Canadians and half-breeds. The people, like a
retreating army, lost tnuch in their flight. Little fire-
wood, less shelter, few tents, the weather cold and ice
on the water, deprived them of all comfort. On the
breaking-up of the river, the channel got choked up
with ice, which caused the water to rise seven feet in
an hour or two. This, occurring at night after the
people had gone to bed, came on them so suddenly
that before they were aware themselves and their beds
were afloat. Cattle and sheep were drowned, and two
men who had gone to rest on a hay-rick found them-
selves in the morning drifting with the current some
three miles from where they had lain down the night
previous. Others again, in the absence of canoes or
other assistance, took to the house-tops, some to the
water, hanging to the branches of trees and busheg till
daylight brought them relief. In the midst of this
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scene of distress some pigs were swept away, one of
which was known to swim two days and two nights
without relief, and yet was caught alive. The cold
as well as the water pressed so hard that one man was
forced to cut up his plough into firewood to save his
children from freezing. Other articles of furniture
shared a similar fate. At its height the water had
spread out on each side of the river six miles for a
distance of fourteen miles in length. Not a house was
excepted. Loaded boats could be seen sailing over
the plains far beyond the habitations of the people.
The spectacle was as novel as it was melancholy.
Three thousand five hundred souls abandoned their all
andtook to the openplains. The loss of property, besides
that of the crop, is estimated at £25,000 sterling, or
over $100,000. The people were huddled together in
groups on every height and hillock: that presented
itself ; the Canadians and half-breeds on the Assini-
boine; the pensioners and De Meurons at the Little
Mountain, and the Scotch with their cattle at the
Strong Hill. In the midst of the suffering attendant
on such a calamity it is pleasifg to notice the efforts
of Colonial Governor Caldwell, Bishop Anderson and
Dr. Black, of Kildonan, to render what assistance they
could to the stricken people in their distress. A whole
month elapsed, from the 12th of May to the 12th of
June, before they could return to their desolated homes,
and begin the work of rebuilding or repairing, as the
case required.”

The Bishop of Rupert's Land, in his notes
on the flood, speaks thus, referring to that of
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1826 : “Though there is greater suffering and loss,
there is greater elasticity and power to bear, as also
larger means to meet it. In 1826, the settlement
was then in its infancy, there were but few cattle; a
single boat is said to have transported all in the middle
district in one forenoon ; now each settler of the better
stamp has a large stock. The one whose record of the
first flood of 1826 we had read at home, who had then|
but one cow, has now, after all his losses, fifty or sixty
head. Then, too, tHere was but little grain, and the
pressure of want was felt even when the waters were
rising. Their dependence throughout was on the
scanty supply of fish or what might be procured by
the gun. Now there is a large amount of grain in
private hands, and even with the deduction of the land
which is this year rendered useless, a far larger number
of acres under cultivation. In this light it is compara-
tively less severe ; the whole of the cultivated land was
then under, and nearly all of the houses carried off by
it. It was, as many have called it, a cleaner sweep.
But there were then few houses or farms below the
middle church or on the Assiniboine above the upper
fort ; the rapids and the Indian settlement were still
in the wildness of nature. In 1826, a larger number
of those who were unattached to the soil and without
ties in the country left the settlement. Since that a
large population has sprung up who are bound by
birth to the land and look to it as their home, whose
family ties and branches are spread over and root
themselves in its very soil, making a happy and con-
tented population proud of the land of their birth.
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Compared with 1826, the flood of 1852 will occupy a
far larger space in the public mind. Instead of a few
solitary settlers, unknown and almost forgotten by
their fellowmen, they are now parts of a mighty
system linked by sympathy and interest to other
lands.”

The cause of the flood of 1852 has been the matter
of much dispute, some attributing it to an ice-jam on
Image Creek. But the more reasonable explanation
not only of this, but of all the historic Red River floods
occurring previous, and subsequent to 1852, is that
which attributes them to an increase in the volume of
the head waters. When we consider the vast extent
of country drained by a comparatively narrow river
like the Red, it will be evident that a very small
increase in volume, in each’ of its many tributaries,
would cause any of those disastrous floods which have
become matters of historic interest. The Red River
rises in Otter-tail Lake, Minnesota. At Fort Aber-
crombie it is joined by the Cheyenne River, and from
thence flows north into Lake Winnipeg. Near the
city it receives also the waters of the Assiniboine —“the
swift flowing.” Its entire length is about six hundred
and sixty-five miles, five hundred and twenty-five
of which are in the United States. In its course of
one hundred and forty miles through British territory
it drains about ten thousand square miles in the
Province of Manitoba, and is navigable for about two
hundred. Its valley is noted for its excellence and
fertility. The Assiniboine, whose waters it receives
at Winnipeg, rises near the North Saskatchewan, hav-
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ing as its principal tributary the Qu'Appelle, or “ Who
calls 7” River, as also the Little Souris. After travers-
ing about five hundred miles from'its source, it joins
the Red at the above-mentioned place, draining, on its
way thither, about sixty-six thousand square miles of
territory, largely composed of rolling prairie lands.
It is navigable for about six hundred miles west of the
city of Winnipeg. The great basin which receives the
flow, not only of the waters already spoken of, but
also of the mighty Saskatchewan, or “the swift cur-
rent,” which we call Lake Winnipeg, is two hundred
and eighty miles long, and from five to fifty-seven
miles wide, having a coast line of upwards of one
thousand miles, with an drea of nine thousand. At its
northern extremity it discharges its waters into the
Nelson River, which enters Hudson Bay at Port
Nelson. Lake Winnipeg receives the drainage of
nearly four hundred thousand square miles of terri-
tory.

Previous to leaving the Red River for the Portage
settlement, Jobn Garrioch purchased from Mr. Bird,
sen., the machinery of a windmill. This he brought
with him with the intention of putting it up for
grinding purposes. For some reason or other the
erection was not proceeded with at once. John Hud-
son purchased the machinery of the mill from Mr.
Garrioch for some land, and proceeded at once with
its erection. It would be interesting to those who
have never seen anything but a well-equipped steam
power, to have a look at this old mill, situated at the
south extremity of what is now known as Main Street,
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close by the slough, on one of those days when it
could grind, which was only when there was a strong
north or south-east wind blowing. Settlers could then
be seen coming from all directions with large or small
quantities to be ground, when the wind was favorable.
On receiving fifteen or twenty pounds, they would
hasten home, to get it baked into bannock. At such
times all was hurry and bustle round the mill, with
one coming and another going, while bags of grain
piled on top of each other stood in all corners, filling
every available space. The old mill served its purpose
till 1873, when it was taken down and part of its
timbers utilized|in the construction of a blacksmith
shop, which was built, by William Longdon, precisely
on the site occupied by the old mill, and is still stand-
ing. After doing service in the designed capacity for
many years, it became the headquarters of the Mar-
quette Review, a journal published in Conservative
interests, by Thomas Collins, Esq., now of British
Columbia. For several years previously, however,
the old mill had fallen into disuse.

In the year 1853, Mr. Cochrane began the erection
of a log church, 40 x 85, with a tower and spire about
seventy-five feet in height. The site chosen was
close by the river, and east by south of where the
town of Portage la Prairie now stands. This chureh,
afterwards known as St. Mary’s, was finished in 1854,
Hargrave, in his “ Manitoba,” speaks of this as being
erected in 1857. The church records, now in posses-
sion of the present incumbent of St. Mary’s, the Rev.
Mr. Macmorine, contain the following document,
which will be proof conclusive of what we advance :
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“The first marriage in the parish of Portage la
Prairie was that of John Anderson and Christina
Whiteford, who were married by banns, on the 20th
of May, 1854, by the Rev. Thomas Cochrane, assistant
minister of St. John’s, The witnesses on this occasion
were James and Thomas Anderson. On April the 3rd,
1856, the last mentioned, Thomas Anderson, was
married to Elizabeth Demaris, by E. Hillier, in this
church.”

Here the people from Poplar Point, High Bluff and
vicinity gathered to worship, and it is to the credit of
those early settlers to say that, as a rule, they were
always to be found in their places for divine worship
on the Sabbath. A few years later, in 1866, the spire
was taken down, leaving only the tower, as it was
found that the strong winds to which the country
was subject were straining the body of the church.
Here it $tood till 1883, when it was sold, taken down
and removed. The cemetery only now indicates
where it stood. Like the sleepers that lie within
this “God’s dcre,” it has passed away, but its influence
reaching out and beyond our mortal vision, extends
farther than we can at present know, hear or see.

As he pens these lines, the inspiration of those old-
time services, with their associations, comes over
the writer, and many an incentive has he drawn from
them, to do to others as he would wish to be done by.
The tall, proportionately built form of the Archdeacon
rises before me; standing six feet two, possessed of
great physical strength, in fact reputed to be, in his
day, the strongest man in the North-West—often, when
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raising the church, lifting the end of a heavy log
against two men at the otler; the plain practical dis-
course, from which there "was no evasion; the rich
music which filled the large edifice, ascending upward
and outward, from the sanctuary on earth to the
sanctuary above, in the words of “Jerusalem the
Golden,” or “ Lead, kindly light, amidst the encircling
gloom,” or “Son of my soul, thou Saviour dear,” or
some other of those grand old hymns, cchoing and
re-echoing in the woods close by, all pass reverently
before me.

With the inception of a mission, next to the church
itself, the Archdeacon’s first care was the education of
the youth, a work in which both he and Mrs. Cochrane
actively engaged themselves. A log building was
erected, on the north side of the river road, close by a
bluff on the banks of the river, where Mr. Cochrane
had his home. Here Peter Garrioch, for the space of
three years, taught the young idea how to shoot. On
his retirement, the Archdeacon’s son, the Rev. Thomas
Cochrane, assumed control of the little school. During
his regime the log building became too small, and a
new and more commodious edifice was erected, near
the centre of the village, which still stands in good
order and repair, enclosed within Dr. Haggerty’s
grounds, but now used as aresidence. In 1864, Mr.
Cochrane also retired, and J. J. Setter, the late sheriff
of the Central Judicial Court, was appointed. Mr.
Setter, who is a native of the country, left the parent
settlement in 1856 for the United States; beconeing
tired of - eaming, he returned, and came to the prairie
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portage ifthe fall of 1859, where he located a claim
at the west end, close by Malcoim Cummins, the Indian
school-teacher, which he afterwards disposed of to Mr.
Sinelair.

Having been encouraged by the settlers, who were
anxious to have a mill to grind their wheat, there
being none in the peighborhood, with the exception of
William Hudson’s windmill, Mr. Setter in 1862 pro-
ceeded with the erection of a small water-power mill,
selecting a site on the south side of the Assiniboine
River, which gave every promise of having sufficient
water for that purpose. The succeeding year, how-
ever, showed the deceptiveness of appearances, while
to complete the demolition of prospective hopes, a fire
which swept through the bush at this time burned the
structure down before it had done any work, and
while the owner lay prostrated with sickness. On his
appointment to the charge of the school he continued
to discharge his duties as teacher until the February
of 1870, when he left with the Portage contingent to
release the prisoners under Riel, or retake Fort Garry
if possible. His work in this respect is given in the
following pages. He was appointed sheriff in Decem-
ber of 1871, an office he retained till the 24th March,
1890. Mr. Setter has been an active participator in
the most stirring events of the Province, and it is to
the personal influence of such men that much of the
solidity of our Manitoban institutions is due.

In addition to the above, the Archdeacon also
established a mission school for the Indians at the

west end, on what was known as the mission farm,
10
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Mr. Cummins was appointed teacher, and discharged
the duties of this position till 1865, when, on the demise
of its founder, the school was closed. Mr. Cochrane
was a warm friend to the Indians, often relieving their
wants in times of distress by judicious gifts of beef,
cattle, and other necessaries.

The decade of 1860 brought to the Province and
the settlements many new settlers who have figured
prominently in the history of the country; amongst
whom stands prominently the name of Dr. Schultz,
then a student at Queen’s College, Kingston, now
Lieutenant-Governor of the Province, a man whose
loyalty and devotion to the best interests of the
country of his adoption, and to the rights of the
settlers against sggression on the part of the Hudson
Bay Company in the matter of free trading, or against
the usurpation of constitutional power by any but
those legally appointed to dispense the same, brought
him into many personal dangers, out of which nothing
but a strong will, such as he possessed, backed by
great physical powers of endurance, could have brought
him safely. In 1857, the Canadian Government
organized an exploring party to report on the coun-
try, under the leadership of Professor S. J. Dawson
and Henry Youle Hind. After devoting two years! to
their work, these gentlemen made their report to the
Government, which, being published in 1859, attracted
considerable attention in Canada, and was the means
of inducing many Canadians, as well as English, to
come and settle in the country. In this same year the
first printing press was brought into the Province by
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William Buckingham and William Caldwell, who
established the first newspaper in the country, called
The Nor’- Wester. At Fort Garry these arrivals were
looked upon with dislike by the Hudson Bay Company,
who sought by every means possible to induce the
people not to patronize the paper. It is hardly neces-
sary to say that its tone was in favor of free trade.
In 1860, Mr. Buckingham sold out to Mr. James Ross,
an eminent scholar, of the Réd River College of St.
John’s, at that time sheriff and postmaster, who in
turn resold to Dr. Schultz in 1864. In the following
year, 1865, Dr. Schultz, having also bought out Mr.
Caldwell’s interest, became sole proprietor, and under
his regime no effort was spared to spread broadcast the
principles of free trade. A feeling of discontent was
thereby engendered among the settlers, which, later
on, assumed the form of opposition to the company.
The high-handed measures taken by the company in
cases of suspects only fostered this feeling. The con-
stable, in the discharge of his duty, would enter the
house of the suspected party, with or without liberty.
No place was sacred from his intrusion. With a long
pole he would poke up the clay chimney, and if such
a thing as even a mink skin were discovered the
unfortunate settler was immedigtely bundled off before
an officer of the fort, and either committed for trial
at some future date or made to suffer pains and penal-
ties on the spot. Treatment thus administered, with
all the high-handedness of ‘red-tapeism, was not calcu-
lated to soothe the feelings of a people who breathed
the very spirit of freedom from the billowy prairies
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by which they were surrounded, not to speak of the
influences exercised on them by their contact, with
American hunters and traders. The Nor'wester con-
tinued under. Dr. Schultz’s superintendence till 1868,
when it was sold to Walter R. Bohn, who continued its
publication until he became involved in the troubles of
1870.

In these days of associated press reports, and full
franchised newspapers, it is interesting to look back
at the contents of this old pioneer sheet, published ‘in
this then out-of-the-way corner of the world. While a
large part consisted of advertisements, a glance over
the contents shows selections from standard poetical
works and magazines, startling headings, and original
contributions of considerable merit. A beautiful poem,
entitled “ Far Away,” attracts our attention, also
quoted by Hargrave, but which will bear repetition.

* Upon the shore of evermore
We sport like children at their play,
And gather shells where sinks and swells
The mighty sea from far away.

‘‘ Upon that beach no voice nor speech
Doth things intelligible say ;
But through our souls a whisper rolls
That comes to us from far away.

‘“‘Into our ears the voice of years
Comes deeper, deeper, day by day;
We stoop to hear, as it draws near,
In awfulness from far away.
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‘“ At what it tells we drop the shells,
We were so full of yesterday ;
And pick no more upon that shore,
But dream of brighter far away.

‘ And o’er that tide, far out and wide,
The yearnings of our souls do stray;
We long to go, we do not know
Where it may be, but far away.

‘‘ The mighty deep doth slowly creep
" Upon the shore where we did play ;
The very sand where we did stand
A moment since, swept far away.

¢ Our playmates all, beyond our call,
Are passing hence as we, too, may,
Upon that shore of evermore, -
Beyond the boundless far away.

“We'll trust the wave and Him to save,
Beneath whose feet as marble lay
The rolling deep ; for He can keep
Our souls in that dim far away.”

In 1857, gold was discovered in the Saskatchewan
valley, by two miners, named Tim Love and Jim
Clover. A scientific society was also formed at Fort
Garry in the fall of the same year, called “The Insti-
tute of Rupert’s Land,” with Chief Factor McTavish
as president, and Dr. Schultz, secretary.

In 1857, the United States Government organized
postal communication with Pembina on the boundary
line, from whence a carrier brought the mail to Fort
Garry. In 1858, the Canadian Government endea-
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vored to established a mail service between Canada

and the Red River, by way of Lake Superior, but this g)o
proving a failure, the project was abandoned. atio
In 1859, E. H. G. G. Hay, now long and favorably Int
known in the country, came from the States to put start
the machinery in the first steamboat that plied on the Hos,
Red River; so satisfied was he with the change, that charg
he decided to remain, and settled down at St. Andrew’s, came
where he built the first steam grist-mill in the Red extrer
River settlement. /Beginning small at fitst, through the farm |
course of years His establishment assumed consider- old f:ox
able proportions, but was unfortunately destroyed by with Ia
fire in 1887. Hg removed shortly afterwards to the towards
Portage settlement~ Mr. Hay has ever taken a promi- was sit;

nent position in the country’s affairs, during the ran g
stormy times of 1869-70 and later, and was for many g

that am.
years leader of the opposition in the local house. ter’s hous
In the year 1860, the settlers in the eastern portion WﬂrehoU;
of the settlement at Poplar Point, feeling the incon- Was not ;)1
venience of the distance they had to come to worship, when thev
determined to build a church in their own locality. country
A site was chosen on the north side of the Assiniboine feet Ioné- |
River, where, nestling among the trees, stands to-day let inte th,e‘
in good order and repair, a neat log church and par-~ the plank

sonage, built by the early settlers of that date, many
of whom—the Taylors, Spences and others—have
moved to more north-westerly settlements, in order to
obtain more land for their numerous families. This
year also saw the arrival in the Portage settlement of
J. M. House, an American, who established a trading
store, but after remaining a couple of years, removed
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to the White Horse plains, leav‘iix‘lg his son Charlie
House in-charge. At the latter place he established
another branch of his business, as also at Westbourne.
In the fall of this year also, the Hudson Bay Company
started a small trading store near to that occupied by
House. In the spring of 1861, Mr. Lane, who was in
charge of the company’s post at White Horse Plains,
came to the Portage, and selecting a location at the
extreme west of thé settlement, now known as Lee’s
farm, built what was termed in Portage lore, “the
old fort” It was about one hundred feet square,
with large gates opening towards the river, as well as
towards the plains on the north. The master’s house
was situated to the north of .the enclosure, and from it
ran a gallery, or parapet, at a convenient height, so
that a man could look over. To the west of the mas-
ter's house was the servants’ residence, to the east the
warehouses, magazine and ice-house. The stockade
was not erected unti] after the massacre in Minnesota,
when the refugee Sioux had begun to arrive in the
country. It was built of 4 x 10 oak planks, twenty
feet long ; at every ten feet a 10 x 10 square post was
let into the ground ; stringers ran from these, to which
the plank was spiked. An Indian burying ground
occupied the bank of the river, immediately in front
of the fort, when the writer first saw it, which was
after the company had removed to their more central
location. At the present time only one of the original
houses remains, that in which Mr. Lee resides. The
stockade and warehouse have been removed, and the
little roofs of wood and canvas, which covered the
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Indian graves, have disappeared also. Very quiet,
indeed, is this wonted mart of trade and barter, dis-
turbed only by the lowing of domestic cattle and the
peaceful ripple of the swift-flowing river.

In 1860, the cathedral at St. Boniface was destroyed
by fire, as also the bishop’s palace. So rapid and
destructive was the conflagration that nothing of value
was saved. A blind old man named Ducharme, residing
in the palace, lost his way amidst the confusion, and
was burned to death. The records of the establish-
ment, with a large and costly library, also perished.
On the 30th of May, 1861, another fire occurred in one
of the barns belongiug to the establishment, which
destroyed four large buildings full of valuable stores,
but no lives. To complete this story of incident, the
oldest resident sister of charity died; this occurring
during the inundation, the body could not be interred,
but was placed in the church, waiting the subsidence
of the flood.

In 1861 and 1862, the settlers around High Bluff
concluded to follow the example of those at Poplar
Point in church-building, and the present edifice,
known as St. Margaret’s and standing in what is now
called the old village of High Bluff, i the result of that
effort. With the beginning of the sixties came a
quickening pulse-beat. Emigrants began t6 come in
in numbers. The Indians, regarding the land beyond
a certain limit, as far west as High Bluff, as inherited
from their forefathers, began to grumble, as claim
after claim was taken up, while no treaty had been
made with them in reference to the same, and the

x
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settlers had to act on their good behaviour. If any of
them failed to accord to the Indians what they con-
sidered proper treatment, it was no uncommon thing
for them to kill an ox, or help themselves to something
else of his property, to make up for his lack of due
attention, an ordeal which the narrator himself passed
through. The year 1862 was an important one in
many respects. Previous to this, the settlements south
of the boundary line were advancing in the direction
of the Red River. In the spring of the said year, a
bi-weekly mail service was organized by the American
Government, to Pembina, with which the settlement
authorities connected once a week. In 1862, also, was
built the steamer International, a hundred and fifty
feet long, thirty-feet beam, drawing forty-two inches
of water, with a registered tonnage of 133} tons. On
her first trip to Fort Garry, where she arrived on the
26th of May, she had on board a number of passengers,
amongst whom were Governor Dallus and family,
the Bishop of St. Boniface, John Black, the new
recorder of the colony ; John McLean and family, and
a number of miners, on their way to Cariboo gold
mines, British Columbia. Lord Milton and Dr.
Cheadle also arrived.in the Red River settlement
about this time, whose travels and experiences in the
Rocky Mountains were published in the following

year in a work entitled, “ The North-West Passage by
Land.”
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CHAPTER VIL

John McLean—First Crop—Trouble with Indians—Kenneth McKenzie

—Minnesota Massacre—Beginning of Winnipeg—Corbett Case—
Council of 1864—Sectional Feeling—More Trouble with Indians—

Sioux and Ojibeways—An Unpopular Candidate—Heat of 1864—
Freemasons—Dr. Ray—Standing Buffalo’s Visit—Grasshoppers.

THE name of John McLean introduces us to a gentle-

man who, though not figuring prominently in the

politics of the country, fills a large space in the his-

tory of the Portage settlement. On arriving at Fort

Garry, McLean endeavored to find suitable lands
whereupon to settle his family, and commence farming
operations. Not being satisfied with his researches
in that neighborhood, he pushed his way westward, to
the rising settlement of Portage la Prairie. Here he
purchaged from a French half-breed, named Revere, a
lo‘t f‘)hting on the slough, seven and a half chains
wide, and extending north two miles, for the sum of
$375 in gold. Some years later he bought from Peter
Garrioch, his neighbor to the west, ten chains more,
making in all seventeen and a half chains, which,
after farming successfully for nineteen‘years, he sold,

with the exception of a small plot on which is situated

his house and outbuildings, for the sum of thirty
thousand dollars. At the time of McLean’s introduc-

tion to the settlement there was in the old parish of
Portage la Prairie, which éxtended from George
Adams’ on the east to the Hudson Bay fort on the west,
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some sixty houses, with an average of five souls in each.
The only white settlers that he knew, west of Fort
Garry, were J. M. House, of Whitehorse Plains, Hall,
of Headingly, and Garret, of Sturgeon Creek—the
population being Indians-and Metis, des®endants of
the early settlers from the Red River settlement. In
July of 1862, he planted his first seed potatoes, from
which he received a good crop. McLean’s welcome
was certainly not a cordial one, and for years his path
was beset. with many difficulties. So unfriendly were
his relations with the first settlers that many of his
early purchases in stock were made from and through
the intervention of Archdeacon Cochrane, the natives
refusing to sell him live-stock. McLean was especially
unpopular with the Indians, who regarded him as an
immigration agent, and who, time and again, resolved to
burn him out, and carried on for years a sort of
aggressive war against his person, family and posses-
sions. The reason of this was his relationship to,
and the interest taken by him in, the incoming settlers,
most of whom called at McLean’s house to rest or
trade, or receive information as to unclaimed lands,
and the Indians were known to have threatened to
have a head of stock for every claim he had been
instrumental in having secured, a threat which was
carried out to some extent, ’six years later, as the
following pages will show. The real root of the trouble
was the fact that no treaty had been made with them
as to the lands situated in what is now known as the

Burnside settlement, and northward towards the lake,

and they did not wish to see those lands claimed and
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occupied by white men, without some arrangement on
the part of the Government, or the Hudson Bay

authorities. The matter, however, was rectified some

years later when Governor McTavish was sent.
It was no uncommon occurrence, at the time we
write, for the Indians to drive their ecarts into
McLean’s potato or turnip field, and at once proceed
to help themselves. If any of the roots were too
small, they were carelessly thrown aside and others
pulled up, thus destroying really more than they took,
and occasions were not wanting when he had to use
his rifle in order to protect his life and property. The
following incident is a sample of what he had to con-
tend against, and it also shows the coolness and cour-
age of the man: One Sunday afternoon, while quietly
resting at home, word was sent him by Mrs. Peter
Garrioch, a neighbor residing close by, that two
Indians were laying ‘concealed amongst some brush
on the side of the slough, a short distance from the
house, with the manifest intention of stealing the
horses, for which his eldest son and daughter had gone
to the plains; and if necessary, in order to secure their
purpose, to kill the children also. On receiving this
information, Mr. McLean at once proceeded to\mis
bedroom, where, disrobing himself of his customary
garments, he soon reappeared in full dress, tall silk
hat, dress coat, etc.,—royal receptions being rare in
this out-of-the-way settlement, McLean had not much
occasion for donning his robes of royalty, and with
such a metamorphosis had no difficulty in passing the
spot indicated without the Indians recognizing him.
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As he passed on the rorth side of the road, his keen
eye saw the two bucks lying concealed®*amongst the
brush on the other side. Passing on as if in great
haste, he proceeded a short distance west, then cross-
ing to the bank of the slough, came up softly to where
the Indians were concealed, and before they were
aware sprung in on them. Seizing one fellow’s gun,
and wrenching it from his grasp, he threw it into the
slough, and presenting a revolver to the other buck’s
head, told him to “fire off” or he would blow his brains
out, a request which was at once complied with. Hav-
ing disarmed them, John lovingly told them to get out,
and not be found in a similar position again, on
pain and penalty of being sent, earlier than they
desired, to the happy hunting grounds of their fathers.

Having referred to their threat of having a head of
cattle for every claim he located, the following are the
circumstances under which they partially succeeded :
When the present member of the Local Legislature,
Kenneth McKenzie, Esq., came to the settlement in
1868, he called on Mr. McLean, desiring him to guide
him over the country, and assist him in selecting
several claims. McLean, accompanied by his eldest
son, Alec, a young man of more than ordinary nerve,
who had also seen some adventures with the red
man, requiring considerable pluck, started out, tak-
ing McKenzie over what is now known as the
Westbourne, Gladstone and Totogan Districts, decid-
ing finally to locate on Rat Creek. The trio returned
to the Portage to get two yoke of oxen and a breaking
plough belonging to McLean; having secured which,
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McKenzie and Alec returned to the creek, and laid

off, with the aid of a pocket compass, eighteen hun- »
dred acres, running a furrow completely round their '
survey on both sides of the creek, then short furrows
eastward and westward, about a mile and a quarter

long, on both sides also. This finished, they returned

to the Portage, where they were warned that some
person had pointed out to the Indians McLean'’s cattle.

After this, for some time, they either herded the

cattle at the house, some member of the family watch-

ing all night, or drove them back two or three miles

on the prairie, and there watched them. One after-

noon, all the male members of the family being absent

from home, an Indian from the Bungay camp, which

was situated above where Cairn’s brewery now stands,

and close to the old Hudson Bay fort, came down to
Charles Cummins’, the next lot to McLean’s. Here
divesting himself of everything but his breech-clout

and gun, he asked Cummins to describe the color of 4
his oxen, as he was going to shoot some of “that bad

man’s ” cattle, meaning McLean. He then proceeded
north to where the cattle were grazing, just about
where now stands the Portage brewery, and deliber-
ately shot one ox and cow dead, and fired at another,
badly wounding it. The building which served as the
first saloon, and which was for several years under the
management of Charlie House, was then in process of
being erected. The workmen employed in the con-
struction rushed out to see the cause of the firing,
when the Indian, seeing that he was observed, fled to
the camp at the west end. Alec, who was the first to

~~
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reach home, found an American and a half-breed wait-
ing there, who informed him of what had occurred.
He at once proceeded to the camp, but the Indian,
fearing McLean and the result of his cowardly act, had
left for the Yellowquill Reserve, twelve miles farther
west.

McLean did not always fare the worst, however, as
the following anecdote will show. An Indian who was
" friendly to him kept him posted as fo who it was that
showed the Indians his cattle, And suggested the
following plan, by which the betrayer became himself
the victim. When any cattle were killed after this
manner, the Indians had a regular pow-wow over the
carcass, to which they invited a number of their half-
brothers, the Metis, many of whom, on the occasions of
these feasts, chewed the cud of enjoyment at McLean’s
expense. At the south extremity of what is now
known as Campbell Street, McLean had a large yard
in which, when the mosquitoes were bad, he coralled
his cattle, makipg a smudge in the centre to drive off
the insect marauders. Here the cattle from the entire
neighborhood would gather. This yard had an
entrance from the Slough Road and an exit northward
towards the avenue. Having let all the cattle in,
McLean would quietly let his own out by the Avenue,
and drive them away back on the plains, where some
‘mewmbers of the family would herd them for the night.
The Indians generally came along after dark, and pick-
ing out an animal like that pointed out to them as
belonging to McLean, would slaughter it. In phis way
several fine cows were killed by the Indians belonging
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to the very parties who had shown them McLean’s
animals. A couple of lessons of this kind, and the
identification of the hide by the owners when at the
feast, turned the laugh on the other side of the cheek,
and “he practice was discontinued.

The taking up of so many claims by McKenzie on
the ockasion referred to, so irritated the Indians, that
a speedy settlement of their rights had to be effected.
McKenzie, in this case, to smooth the irritation,
promised to settle with them for the land, if the
Government failed to do so. After completing his
loca'ion, he returned to Ontario, and in the following
year, i.e., 1869, brought out a portion of his family.

The fall of 1862 witnessed a terrible massacre of the
whites in Minnesota by the Sioux Indians. Fifteen hun-
dred settlers were murdered according to the most ap-
proved methods of red butchery. The massacrebegan at
thetownof New Uln,onthe Minnesota River,under Chief
Little Crow. Men were shot down, women violated
and then murdered, children tortured and thrust living
into stoves, or cut down with the tomahawk. So
intense was the exasperation against the Sioux and
so strong the thirst for vengeance, that those settlers
who escaped left poisoned cakes in exposed positions,
in order that the starving savages, in their search for
food and plunder, might eat them and die. It is also
reported that ornaments made out of the bones of
those Indians who were taken and executed during
this rising were publicly exposed for sale at St. Paul.
There can, however, be no doubt that though the

Sioux were a restless and bloodthirsty race, the
11
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Americans were themselves to blame for not onlv this
but other uprisings which marked the pages of their
diplomatic records with the Indians. Indeed, on this
occasion the Indians on the war-path took every means
available of assuring the Red River settlers that they
had no quarrel with the children of the Great Mother
over the sea, and a company of traders who were
preparing to go to St. Cloud by way of Fort Aber-
crombie were warned by them not to go, as that Fort
was besieged. Acting on this advice they returned to
Fort Garry. The mail carrier, Joe Whitehouse, who
was at the time entrusted by Governor Dallas with
important transactions, thought that, owing to the fact
of his being well known to the Indians, he could man-
age his way through, and proceeded despite the warn-
ing. Excitement ran high next day, however, when
runners reached the settlement with the news that
Joe had been shot. It would appear that, while in
the neighborhood of Fort Abercombie, he was crawling
along, dressed in a white cape, so as, if possible, to
escape detection. A buck observing the white object
among the grass fired. On going up to see what it
was, Joe was found dead. He had on his person bills
of exchange and other valuable papers which, when
demanded afterwards, were given up by the Indians
to Governor Dallas. Joe’s body was taken inside the
fort and interred.  One of the regular stages plying
between the Red River settlement and the States was
also stopped and the passengers killed and scalped.
This uprising interfered for some time with the trans-
port of goods and mails. Communication was first
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re-established by the arrival of Dr. Schultz, who
happened to be at St. Paul when the massacre broke
out, and who, accompanied by an American, succeeded
by travelling at night, without building camp-tfires, in
skirting the Sioux territory by way of the Crow Wing
trail. After being once captured by the Chippewas,
they reached Pembina in safety. The year 1862 also
saw the beginning of the present city of Winnipeg.
McKenny & Co. erected a store right on the corner of
what is now known as Saskatchewan Avenue and
Main Street, in the vicinity of the upper fort. This
was followed by other buildings in 1863. The fall
of the year brought other accessions to the Portage
settlement in the person of Kenneth McBain with his
family, and several others who settled down in the
growing nucleus of the present town, and who after-
wards figured prominently in the troubles of 1869 and
1870.

In December of this year occurred the famous
Corbett case at Fort Garry. Mr. Corbett, who was a
Chureh of England minister at Headingly, was arrested
on a charge of attempted abortion on a young girl
whom he had seduced. The gravity of this charge
was the cause of much disquietude in the settlement,
the accused being of a warm and generous disposition,
a kind friend to the poor, as also a strong supporter of
the principles of free trade and, consequently, an
opponent to the Hudson Bay administration. He had
also been a witness for the prosecution against the
company before a committee of the House of Commons,
during the winter of 1856-57, when certain charges
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were preferred against the rule of the Hudson Bay
Company in Rupert’s Land. Many of Corbett’s friends
believed that the charge was the result of animus on
the part of the company. Be that as it may, Corbett
was tried before a jury, found guilty and sentenced to
six months’ imprisonment, his confinement seriously
affecting his general® health and sanity. Early in
April a petition, signed by 400 inhabitants of the Red
River settlement and 110 of the Portage settlement,
amongst whom were Archdeacon Cochrane and his
son, the Rev. Thomas Cochrane, praying for Corbett’s
release and the remission of the sentence which then
remained unexpired, was presented to the Governor
and council of Assiniboia, contending that in the
opinion of the petitioners the law had been sufficiently
vindicated, and that ecclesiastical penalties following
the sentence of theicivil tribunal would be far the
more grievous, involving loss of social standing, repu-
tation, ministerial privileges of house and home, and
leaving a dismal prospect for himself and family in
the future. Before moving officially in the matter
Governor Dallas forwarded the petition to Judge
Black, who replied that he could not recommend the
curtailing of the imprisonment, the court, hefore
phssing sentence, having considered all mitigating
circumstances. In conformity with Judge Black’s
opinion, Governor Dallas refused to comply with the
prayer of the petition. A meeting of his parishioners
and friends was called with a view to his forcible
release from prison, which was effected on the 20th of
April, as follows: The petty court held on this date
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was as usual largely attended. The cell in which
Corbett was confined was situated in rear of the court-
room and under the same roof. The business having
been 'concluded and the audience dispersed, a few
determined friends surronnd(jd the door leading to the
cell, overawed the gaoler, #n old Frenchman about
sixty years of age, and with a crowbar burst the pad-
lock and staple. Corbett, hearing the noise and sus-
pecting what was the matter, had put on his overcoat,
and was standing ready to receive his liberators. As
the door opened he stepped out, and was driven home
to his family at Headingly. Warrants were at once
issued for the arrest of twelve of the leaders in this
affair. James Stewart, a school-master, William Hallett
and John Burke, all leading ™en in the parish, were
among these. Stewart was arrested and thrown into
prison, but before any further proceedings could be
taken against Hallett and Burke a strong force of
Corbett’s sympathizers appeared at the fort, headed
by Corbett himself, and requested an interview with
the Governor, which was granted. They demanded
the release of Stewart, and without further parley
proceeded to tear up the pickets which enclosed the
prison yard, broke open the gaol, and released their
friend. No further attempt at recapture was made
by the Hudson Bay authorities. A few days later
their magistrates, in a letter addressed to the Governor,
advised that no further pyoceedings be taken against
the rioters in the present state of feeling in the colony.
There can be no doubt of Corbett’s guilt. In hisletter
to Bishop Anderson he acknowledges as much. On
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his release he returnéd and lived with his family at
Headingly, but soon afterwards went to England,
where he was reported to be studying medicine and
agitating against the Hudson Bay Company.

Beyond the District of Assiniboia, that is to say
west of Fort Garry, the Hudson Bay Company exerted
little or no judiciary power. The Portage settlement
in moral and ecclesiastical matters was largely con-
trolled by Archdeacon Cochrane. The civil adminis-
tration consisted of regulations made and enforced by
councillors elected every year by the settlers. Whiskey
and beer were made and sold by license, as at present,
and many humorous and stirring episodes can be told
of these old-time elections and troubles. The personnel
of the Council of 1564 was as follows: Associate
Judges—Frederick Bird, John McLean, Farquhar
McLean, John Garrioch, Thomas Anderson, Peter
Heénderson, Charles Anderson, and the late Hon. John
Norquay ; the constables were William Hudson,
Henry Anderson, and J. D. McKay. For High
Bluff district, there were Charles Anderson and
Thomas Anderson. The oath was as follows : “I hereby
swear that I will do my duty as a justice of the peace
of Portage la Prairie according to my ability. So help
me God.”

In the beginning of this year, owing to a series of
disturbances which occurred in the Portage settlement,
a numerously-signed petition was presented to the
Hudson Bay authorities at Fory Garry, praying that
they should be included within the municipal limits of
the District of Assiniboia. The Council, in replying
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to the petition, stated that without military support
any attempt to extend new jurisdiction would be
hopeless to secure the desired end—good government ;
but they would request Governor Dallas, who was
shortly going to England, to represent their case before
the proper authoritiés. In December of 18683, under
the auspices of the Rev. Archdeacon Cochrane, a
council and court of justice had been formed, after the
model of the General Quarterly Court of Assiniboia,
with a president, associate judges, and clerk. The
term of office was for one year. Trial by jury, as the
birthright of every British subject, was established,
and all functionaries belonging to the said council and
court elected by the people. As might be expected,
from the mixed population of the settlement, sectional
feeling often ran high, and there were occasions when
it required the strong personal influence of Mr. Coch-
rane to guide the liberty-loving subjects of this
miniature republic towards the paths of peace, justice
and brotherly kindness. As some of these episodes
are humorous in the extreme, the writer proposes to
carry his readers from our well-disciplined courts of
the present day back to one or two of these old-time
trials, which were generally held either in the old
school-house on the river road, or in one of the settler’s
houses. On one occasion a party of Sioux had camped
in front of David Cussitar’s home, immediately between
the house and the river. Cleaning his gun one even-
ing he put in a charge of powder to dry it out, and
going to the door fired it off in the air. The Indians,
who were always on the watch for indemnification in-
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the shape of an ox or a cow, for some real or imaginary
wrong, lodged a complaint against Cussitar for firing
into their tepees to John Garrioch, one of the associate
judges of the Court. Cussitar was called to appear on
the above charge, which he did, but not being privi-
leged to conduct his own defence, John McLean
assumed the rdle of special pleader in his behalf ; a
Sioux interpreter from the States being present in
their interests. After taking the evidence of some of
the Indians, Jim Favel, a relative of the Favels still
resident at the river crossing, was put forth as the
principal witness for the prosecution. On being asked
by McLean if he had seen the flash, he replied, “ Yes.”
“How did it go ?” said John. “Did it go up in the air
or towards the Indians’ tepees ?” “It appeared to go
up in the air,” replied Favel. McLean then proceeded
to show that there was no evidence to conviet; that it
was an injustice to the settlers that Indians should be
allowed to squat on a man’s property wherever they
pleased ; that in the event of firing off his gun in the
direction of their tepees he was liable to be brought
up on a charge of shooting with the intention of trying-
to drive the Indians out. The interpreter, desiring
to cross-question McLean, advanced to him with a
large black book under his arm, saying that before
they would hear his evidence they would administer
the oath, which McLean refused to take until the
interpreter produced his authority or commission to
do so. “What book is that you have got any way ?”
said John. “Is it an almanac, or a Bible, a Pilgrims’
Progress, or Burns’ Poems ?” The unfortunate inter-
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preter, being unable to read, could not answer whether
it was on any or of all of these he proposed to swear
McLean. It was very soon evident that, despite the
leaning of the presiding magistrate towards the Sioux,
an opportunity was not afforded on this occasion, at
least, of awarding them an ox or cow from Cussitar’s
herd as a solace to their wounded feelings.

In this year also, the Red Lake Ojibeways came to
visit the Sioux, who had settled down at the Portage,
and who were camped near John Garrioch’s, close to
where Edward Scott now lives. The Ojibeways during
their visit remained at Pacheta’s house, possibly better
known to many as Farquhar McLean’s old home,
situated on the corner of Broadway and the river road.
After having several meetings, with a view to estab-
lishing a peace basis, which the Sioux were anxious
to do, but which the Ojibeways always postponed to the
following day, being apparently more  anxious for
feasting and amusement than anything else, an event
occurred which showed the true design of their visit.
At this time the place on which Mr. Scott lived was
occupied by a man of the name of Spence, who was
very sickly, and confined the greater part of the time
to bed. His wife, consequently, transacted most of
the business, and superintended the necessary work
around the place. Having to go for hay to the plains,
as out north was termed by the old settlers, she hired
a young Sioux, a lad between fifteen and eighteen
years of age, to drive one of her carts. The Ojibeways
seeing Mother Spence returning in the afternoon with
the Sioux driving the hindmost cart, could not resist
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the temptation—a Sioux scalp. Concealing themselves
in the long grass, they waited until the unsuspecting
Indian had come dpwn the river road to a point a little
west of where Drain now lives, and opposite the old
saw-pit on the bank of the slough; then with a yell
they rushed out, brandishing their tomahawks and
knives. The Indian, seeing that it meant life or death
to him, dodged between the carts for some time, but
was speedily headed off and shot. Before his body
could fall to the ground an Ojibeway with his scalping
knife, with dexterous rapidity, made a circle round
the top of his head and pulled off his scalp lock, then
sustained the body till every man of them, seven in
number, had plunged their knives into the unfortunate
Sioux, and, after further mutilating the remains in a
manner too horrible to relate, they threw the body
into the old saw-pit, and taking the scalp placed it on
the ground, and danced around it with fiendish glee.
Having indulged in this for some time they retired to
Pacheta’s. Mother Spence drove on as if nothing had
happened, which was, no doubt, the best policy under
the circumstances. The whole settlement was by this
time on the qui vive, anxious as to the probable result,
which might seriously affect even the settlers them-
selves. On the Ojibeways retiring to Pacheta’s house,
the Sioux congregated around the old saw-pit, and
swinging their blankets, shouted for the Ojibeways to
come out and fight, calling them cowards and other
scornful epithets in the Indian language. The Ojibe-
ways, however, would not come, and the Sioux, after
awhile, retired to their camp, carrying with them the
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lad’s mutilated body. After the Sioux had got to a
safe distance, the Ojibeways came out of the house, and
challenged them to fight, calling them also cowards,
etc. This pantomimic warfare continued for a day or
two, during which the Sioux, seeing too plainly the
object of the Ojibeways’ visit, made no further pro-
posals of peace, while the latter returned to their
camping-ground at Red Lake soon after the above
occurrence.

In 1864, a gentleman, a recent arrival from the
States, had been nominated for president of the council.
The nomination was unpopular, and voices of dissent
were heard from many quarters. An indignation
meeting was called—there was no trouble in getting
up these then—and while the crowd was collected in
James Whiteford’s house on the River Road, discussing
the pros and cons of the situation, Fu.rquhar McLean,
an old Hudson Bay man, who figured prominently in
the affairs of the settlement, and in the rebellion of
1869 and 1870, dropped in. After some conversation
Farquhar said : “ Gentlemen, I intend to vote against
that d d Yankee, and I want every man who
means to do the same to come over and have a drink.”
This decided the matter at once, and the entire com-
pany, president and all, found their way to Farquhar's
house, where, true to his word, he treated them all,
A short time after, the same individual who had been
nominated for president, and who also filled the office
of tax collector, proceeded to the west end, accom-
panied by Farquhar, to collect revenue from some
traders. Having imbibed too much of the traders’
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whiskey, he became so demoralized that he could not

walk. Farquhar got him along as best he could for
some time, but wearying of this kind of thing, and
coming to a log heap that stood close by Charles
Curtis’ blacksmith shop, he took this worthy indi-
vidual, and placing him heels up and head down, left
him there. As he finished his job, looking at him he
said : “ Ye'll no choke, it’ll rin oot.”

The summer of 1864 was memorable because of its
intense heat. For weeks the thermometer registered
one hundred and ten in the shade. No rain fell till the
middle of July, and this long-continued drought was
followed by a return of the grasshoppers, who, after
devouring the rising crop, made a clean sweep of
everything that remained in the shape of vegetation.

The necessary dispensation having been secured
from the Grand Lodge of Minnesota, the first lodge of
Freemasons was incorporated at Fort Garry, under the
title of the “ Northern Light Lodge,” with Dr. Schultz
as Worshipful Master, and Archdeacon Hunter, Chap-
lain. The eve of St. John, the 27th of December, was
observed by the members as a day of festivity. In
the afternoon the installation of officers was proceeded
with, at the conclusion of which addresses were
delivered by Archdeacon Hunter, Rev. William Taylor,
and Dr. Schultz. The officers-elect for 1864 were :
Dr. Schultz, W. M.; Mr. Bannatyne, S. W.; William
Inkster, J. W.; Mr. Coldwell, Secretary; Mr. Sheal,
Treasurer ; Archdeacon Hunter, Chaplain; Mr. Hall,
S.D.; Mr. Curtis,J. D.; Dr. Bird and Rev. W. Taylor,
Stewards, and Mr. Morgan, Tyler. From the lodge-
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room they proceeded to dinner, where suitable toasts
were proposed and responded to by Judge Black, Mr.
Clare and others. Afterwards the evening was
pleasantly spent at the residence of A. G. Bannatyne,
who threw open his rooms for that purpose. In 1864,
also, Dr. Ray, the famous explorer, passed through the
settlement on his tour across the continent, his aim
being to ascertain the practicability of establishing
telegraphic communication throughout British terri-
tory. He was accompanied by Mr. Schweiger, a civil
engineer from Canada, who executed a complete
survey of the route, and also prepared an exhaustive
report, which was handed to the company. The enter-
prise, however, was"never carried out, the feeling
being that, with the wild tribes of Blackfeet and other
Indians roaming through the Saskatchewan valley,
the attempt would be futile. The Hudson Bay Com-
pany had, however, in anticipation of this work,
imported many tons of wire, which was stowed away
at various posts throughout the country,‘and whigh
was afterwards sold to other lines established after
the transfer of the territory to the Dominion Govern-
ment.

In the fall of this year, the Portage settlement was
favored with a visit from Standing Buffalo, with
three hundred lodges of the Sioux nation, in all about
three thousand persons. No damage was done to the
property of settlers, other than by the Indians assist-
ing themselves to what they required from the open
fields. Here the main body remained, while Standing
Baffalo, with a few men, proceeded to Fort Garry to

.
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interview Governor McTavish. John MecLean, who
had this year begun to carry the mail between the
settlement and Fort Garry, was on his return trip
laden with flour and provisions for himself and Mr.
Corbett, who was moving to the Portage settlement,
when he met the deputation near Poplar Point.
Knowing that he would be solicited with “ Something
to eat, boy,” as also the destructive propensities of the
Indian when roused, he adopted a ruse to save the
load from their curiosity and inquisitiveness. Alec,
who was then a young lad, had accompanied his
father on this occasion. Coming off the waggon,
John walked aleng by the side, and instructed Alec
to drive on and not to stop when they came to the
Indians. The goods were covered closely with a can-
vas cover, to save them from getting wet. On coming
up with the band, McLean was accosted, as he expected,
with “Something to eat, hungry,” with their hands
pressed on the pits of their stomachs, and a few grunts.
A plan of action suggested -itself to his mind, as if by
intuition. Calling on Alec, who was driving #én,
to stop, he went up to the waggon, and taking out a
bag which contained the cakes and bread which Mrs.
McLean had prepared for their journey, opened the

mouth of it, and scattered the contents among the -

hungry savages. In the scramble which ensued, the
Indians forgot ail about the waggon, the attention of
each being occupied in securing as many cakes as
possible. Meantime Alec had driven on, leaving
quite a distance between him and the hungry Sioux.
On reaching Fort Garry they were kindly received by
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Governor McTavish, who gave them a liberal present
of provisions, on receipt of which they went away,
promising to do their trading at the Hudson Bay forts,
in the interior. Had any overt act of violence been
committed on these strangers by our Saulteaux, or
Bungays, who hated the Sioux just as much as they
feared them, the result might have been sad indeed.

In the spring of 1865, it was found that the vast
swarms of grasshoppers which had destroyed the crops
of the previous year had deposited their eggs, and the
young proved as destructive as those of 1864.
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CHAPTER VIII.

Death of Archdeacon Cochrane—Notes of a Busy Life—Force of Char-
acter—Anecdotes—Muscular Christianity—Too Much Beer—*‘ Poor
Lo”—Dr. McRae—Scarcity of Food—A Shooting A firay—McLean’s
Trial.

IN the fall of 1865 occurred the death of the vener-
able Archdeacon Cochrane, a man who might well be
called the father of his people.

The Archdeacon had just lately returned from
* Ontario, whither he had gone to return no more to
the wilderness, as he expressed it, but hearing of the
visitation of the hoppers and that the crops were
entirely eaten up, he returned in hot haste and unex-
pectedly, to do what good he could amongst the people
who were so dear to his heart and amongst whom he had
labared for forty years. While at Westbourne, one
warm afternoon he went in to bathe in the White
Mud or Westbourne River. The water was cold, and
the old man received a chill which brought on diar-
rheea. He resorted to his usual and only remedy,
Parr’s Life Pills, but these only aggravated the disease.
Mr. and Mrs. John McLean, who were close friends of
the Archdeacon’s, hearing of his illness, drove out to
Westbourne on the Sabbath to see him. While they
were there Mr. Cochrane expressed the desire to be
conveyed to his home in the Portage. McLean not
being able to take him that day, made arrangements

to return next morning, when, accompanied by his
12
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son, he brought the Archdeacon and Mrs. Cochrane
home, the old man reclining on a mattress laid on the
bottom of the democrat. He lived only a few weeks,
yielding up his spirit willingly to the Master whom he
had so long and faithfully served. He died on Friday,
the 7th of October, 1865. Forty years previously, on
the same day of the week and month, the 7th of
October, 1825, he landed at Red River, to become
assistant to Rev. Mr. Jones at what was called the
Upper Church, now the Cathedral of St. John. At the
time of his demise he was seventy years of age, and
was universally regarded in the colony as the founder
of the ‘English Church in Rupert’s Land. Previous to
Mr. Cochrane’s arrival at Red River, Mr. Jones, who
had sole charge of St. John’s, or the Upper Church, had
established a mission six miles farther down the river.
A wooden church was erected, known as the Middle
Church, now as St. Paul’s. Between these two missions
Mr. Cochrane and Mr. Jones labored conjointly in
1825. In 1826, Mr.Jones returned to England on
leave of absence for a year, leaving Mr. Cochrane in
charge of the field. In his wanderings up and down
the river, the beauty of the scenery around what was
known as “ The Rapidéj" now as St. Andrew’s, attracted
Mr. Cochrane’s attention, and he conceived a love for
the place, which only strengthened with time.” On the
return of Mr. Jones in 1827, he removed thither, and
commenced a mission on behalf of the Church Mission-
ary Society, preaching to the settlers in his own house
on, Sunday till alog building was erected, which served
as a church and school, until a building fifty by twenty
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was completed and opened for divine worship on May
the 2nd, 1832. It was in this school that Donald Gunn,
one of the Red River historians, taught for many years
the youth of hisday and generation. Not satisfied with
this, Mr. Cochrane extended his efforts farther north,
and in behalf of the Indians, established a mission
twelve miles farther down the river, now known as the
Indian Mission, or St. Peter’s. He persuaded the red
men to settle down on the lands and cultivate the soil,
educating them personally in sowing and reaping, and
superintending daily the construction of the church,
necessitating a walk of twelve miles to and from his
home. This has been considered the most successful
of Indian missions. To this day the snug houses and
farmed fields are occupied by a Christianized Indian
population. The church at St. Andrew’s becoming too
small to hold Mr. Cochrane’s increasing congregation,
he commenced in 1846 to make preparations for the

erection of a large stone church, which, when completed
in 1849, was considered the finest and most substantial
of Protestant churches in the colony. It was conse-
crated by Bishop Anderson on his arrival in the
country, being almost his first official act as Bishop of
Rupert’'s Land, and known as the Lower Church.

While proceeding with the erection of this church, so

strong apparently was Mr. Cochrane’s affection for

“The Rapids,” that he expressed the desire to be laid,

at his demise, at the south-west corner of the tower.

On realizing that his hour had come, he gave instruc-

tions that his remains should be conveyed to his loved

St. Andrew’s, and that his body should remain a night
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in each mission church which he had founded on the the
way thither, a request which was carried out so far as the
Poplar Point, Headingly, St. John’s and St. Andrew’s bec
were concerned. On the south side of the entrance to he ¢
the church, and close by the walk, a plain flat stone cee
marks the last resting-place of Archdeacon Cochrane, Que
whither his remains were conveyed by J. J. Setter, retu
William Garrioch, John Corrigal and John McLean. retu
In 1885 a beautiful memorial window was put in the unt;
east end of the church, which was designed and sent the
from England at a cost of about $1,000. A scholarship no ¢
was also founded in St. John’s College in his memory, to g
which amounts to-day to about three hundred and fifty The
pounds sterling. mar
Before bidding farewell to this eminent pioneer and atte
missionary, who filled a space in the country’s history but
which none will probably repeat, it might be in place atte
f to show his force of character by a few anecdotes. phre
! Amongst his parishioners at St. Peter’s was an deac
| Indian named “Quewe Den.” This man, for some ' to r
reason or other, had left his own, and taken up with W
‘ " another man’s wife, refusing to contribute to the sup- bein
' port of his early and legal spouse. The Archdeacon, who
f who made it his duty to. become acquainted with his Fort
A people’s wants and circumstances, for in this respect ' alter
’ he was almost a father to them, had remonstrated with the ¢
| Quewe anent this matter, but Quewe refused to com- hear.
‘ ply with his request. One memorable Sunday the “you
! Archdeacon said to his old officer, “John, go into the place
‘ bush and cut me three withes, and bring them to the Proc
church.” The service being over, it was customary for in hi
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the male portion to gather outside where, seated on
the grass smoking their pipes, private or public affairs
became the theme of conversation. Calling his officer,
he said, “John, bring those withes and follow me.” Pro-
ceeding to where the men were sitting, he approached
Quewe, and said, “I have asked you time and again to
return to your legal wife, and allow this woman to
return to her own husband. Now, I shall beat you
until you promise to do so.” In questions of morality
the Archdeacon’s fiat was law, from which there was
no appeal. Seizing hold of Quewe, he requested John
to give him a withe, or more vulgarly termed a gad.
Then began a tussle. The Indian, who was a younger
man and very powerful, resisted the Archdeacon’s
attempt at castigation to the utmost of his strength,
but it was soon evident that in the old man’s hands his
attempts were useless. In fact, to put it in common
phrase, he had not the ghost of a show, and the Arch-
deacon belabored him there and then until he agreed
to return to his legitimate wife.

While the present stone church at St. Andrew’s was
being built the foreman mason, an old Scotchman,
who still resides in the Red River settlement at Lower
Fort Garry, would often, in the course of some little
altercation with the Archdeacon, say, “ Mr. Cochrane,
the church is too large, the people at the end will never
hear.” “Duncan McCrae,” said the old man sternly,
“you go and stand at the end, and I will occupy the
place of the pulpit, and try whether you hear or no.”
Proceeding to the position designated, the Archdeacon,
in his usual pitch of voice, said, “ Duncan McCrae, you
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are doing injury to the young men of the settlement,
you are keeping too much beer here. Do you hear,
Duncan McCrae ?”  “ Yes,” said Duncan, “I hear.” “I
thought you would,” retorted the Archdeacon.

Travelling one day on horseback, and coming along
close by where his old officer resided, he saw him plough-
ing in the field. While yet unperceived he observed
that, every little while, John would retire into a bush
which skirted the field,"and that his steps on returning
to the plough were very unsteady, at last so much so
that he could not follow at all, but fell down right in
the furrow. The Archdeacon, who was a strong
enemy to intemperance, shrewdly suspected that, con-
cealed in the bush, John had something stronger than
cold water. On investigating, he found a keg of beer.
Cutting what he termed a withe he came to where
John was lying prostrate on the ground, and adminis-
tered such a flogging as brought back the dawn of
sobriety and sensitiveness to John’s humiliated consti-
tution.

In a sermon delivered upon a certain occasion, he
thus describes the characteristics of his Red River
hearers on coming into church: “ Looking in the dis-
tance,” he says, “ you see a cloud of dust or snow flying
in the air, from out of which emerges a steaming
horse, behind which is seated the proud half-breed,
with his fine cariole and robes, his ling-longs and his
bells, and as he walks up the aisle he seems to say,
‘Who's like me ?” Then comes the proud Scotchman,
dressed in his best home-spun, and as he glides in on
tip-toe, as if afraid to disturb his neighbor’s devotion,
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says, ‘Who's like me?’ and lastly, there comes the
mean Orkneyman, who prides himself on his industry
and frugality, and who, as he brushes past his neigh-
bor with hasty steps, seems to say, * Who's like me ?’”

In 1865, a band of Sioux were camped where now
stand the Aloway & Champion Bank, McKenzie’s
carriage shop, and other buildings, close by the famous
Union Square. By some means whiskey had been
obtained, and they were having, in cant phraseology,
a “high old time.” A quarrel ensued between a Sioux
belonging to the camp and a Bungay Indian, who
made his home with William Gaddy. It would appear
that the latter had taken a strong fancy to a pony
belonging to one of the Sioux. Having imbibed
enough whiskey to start a row, the Bungay proceeded
to Gaddy’s house to get a gun. This being out of
repair, he seized a knife, and started back for the camp.
Seizing hold of the rope by which the pony was tied
he endeavored to take it away, when the Sioux,
coming between him and the pony, cut the rope and
caught what remained of it. The Bungay then did
the same to the Sioux. This was repeated time and
again by both parties, till the Bungay found himself
grasping the pony by the head with the rope all cut
away. The Sioux, seeing but one resource left, seized
a gun from a cart close by, and covering the Bungay
shot him in the back, killing him instantly, the body
falling on the ground face down. No sooner had the
sound of the shot died away than the whole camp was
in motion, tents were struck, carts loaded, ponies
hitched, and soon the entire camp could be seen wend-
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ing their way northward over the prairie, leei/ving the The «
dead man lying on the ground. Word was sent to betw
Fred Bird, William Hudson, William Gaddy, John fall h
McLean, and others, who at once proceeded to the scene been
of the shooting. A cart was procured, and spreading \ old 1
the Indian’s blanket on the ground they rolled him in count
it, and putting him in the cart took: him to the west the 1
end, where, at the corner of Dr. Cowan’s old residence, resulf
on the Slough Road, now owned by R. C. Culbert, they Cana
dug a hole in which they deposited the remains of deper
“poor Lo.” Here a dilemma presented itself. The ¢ hunt
hole was too short, and the Indian’s knees protruded as us
above ground, and absolutely refused to be straightened. bushe
“T’ll straighten them,” said John McLean, and suiting ordin:
the action to the word he jumped straight on the . In-
obstinate knees, pressing them into a position below ) severt
ground, which they retained, and the earth was filled in. was |

On the 13th of October the Rt. Rev. Dr. McCrae, | side o
the new Bishop of the Diocese of Rupert’s Land, ' south
arrived in the Red River settlemet, seventeen months t occuri
after the departure of Bishop Anderson. He at once i‘f field «
assumed charge of the parish of St. John, and also \ groun
took steps for the resumption of work at St. John’s churel
College. The harvest of 1865 turned out better than west |
was anticipated, notwithstanding the ravages of the ' trader
hoppers in the spring. The mischief done by these among
was, in the Red River settlement, chiefly confined to wome!
that part occupied by the Scotch farmers, who were as a si
supposed to be better able to bear the loss than the runnir

settlers in any other portion of the community. The - De Mo
crops in the parish of St. Paul were totally destroyed. ~ of th
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The other portion of the colony which escaped, yielded
between thirty and thirty-five bushels per acre. The
fall hunt turned out a more complete failure than had
been known for years. The Sioux, driven from their
old hunting grounds, scattered themselves over the
country usually hunted by the Red River people, and

‘the buffalo fled in large herds before them. The

result was a scarcity of food amongst the French-
Canadian half-breed section of the community, who
depended for their subsistence chiefly on the buffalo
hunt ; the lake fisheries, however, succeeded as well
as usual. Wheat brought this fall six shillings per
bushel; barley, oats, peas and potatoes gave their
ordinary returns.

In the spring of 1866, as John MecLean, assisted by
several of the male and female members of his family,
was preparing to put in some potatoes on the west
side of what is now known as Campbell Street, on the
south corner of which the old house stood, an event
occurred which has’been much misunderstood. The
field extended north to the avenue, taking in the
ground now occypied by the Baptist and Presbyterian
churches, Roe’s stables and other buildings. A little
west of ﬁhe house, at this particular time, were two
traders’ ‘tents, belonging to some half-breeds, and
amongst the party encamped here were two young
women. Alec had just left his father to put up a stake
as a sight to run his furrow, when one of these came
running up, pursued by a half-breed named Francis
De Mouris,a man who was néted for the predominance
of the animal propensities, and whose presence,
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especially when under the influence of liquor, of
which he was fond, was a source of terror to the
women of the settlement. Hastening to where
McLean and his oldest daughter were standing, she
called out, “ Save me; save me from this man.” On
Miss McLean telling the girl to come beside her and
she would be perfectly safe, she at once rushed to
Clementina’s protection. De Mouris, not caring to run
tilt with Clementina, who was a keen shot, and always
prepared, left off pursuing the woman, and running to
where McLean was, said, “ Will ye fight me ?” John
replied that he had no desire to quarrel with him.
“Will you wrestle with me, then ?” he said. McLean,
looking at him closely, saw that he had a knife in his
hand, and that he meant fight, reached down to the
ground, and picking up an old-fashioned sickle which
lay close by, said, “Stand back or I'll cut your throat
with this.” Francis at once turned as if to go away,
but on seeing McLean throw down the sickle, sprang
back on him like a tiger. McLean, however, was pre-
pared for him, and in the offset, throwing his foot be-
hind De Mouris, tripped and threw him heavily on the
ground, the knife flying out of his hand by the force
of the fall. McLean picked up the knife and threw it
towards the slough. With the loss of the knife,
De Mouris seemed to lose all courage, and getting on
his feet, said, “ You will soon see me again,” and ran
for Wm. Gaddy’s, which was situated a short distance
east of McLean’s, jumping over the fences on his
way thither. He soon reappeared, running, with a
double-barrelled gun, and made straight for McLean’s
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house. " The children, seeing De Mouris coming, called
to their father that Francis was coming to shoot him.
John went into the house by the back, and taking
down a Colt’s revolver, which hung inside the front
door, facing the Slough Road, placed it on a stool in
the doorway so as to be handy, and proceeded through
the front. By this time Francis had reached the fence
in front of the honse. Calling to McLean, he said, “1
have come to shoot you.” Some words having passed
between them, John replied, “ Shoot and be d d.”
De Mouris at once fired, the ball passing close to
McLean’s head, who lost his sight for a moment as it
were by the flash. He stooped down to grasp the
revolver, at which De Mouris snapped the second
barrel, which, though charged, did not go off. The
children seeing McLean stoop, thought he had been
shot, and called out that Francis had shot father. By
this _time McLean had rallied himself, and covered
De Mouris with his revolver, who dodged behind a tall
stump. The ball in passing knocked a sliver off
the side. Being compelled to leave his shelter,
through McLean pursuing him, he got behind a horse
of the latter’s, which had gone down to the slough to
drink. John again fired at him below the horse’s ,
belly. The animal galloped off, not relishing the smell
of powder so close, and De Mouris was left at McLean’s
mercy, who forebore to fire, seeing that he was directly
in the line of the traders’ tents close by. At this
moment Alec appeared, when De Mouris raised the
gun, and again snapped the barrel at Him, with the
former result. Alec at once covered him with the
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revolver and fired, the ball striking him in the spine,
when he fell. Some of the traders at this juncture
came forward, and taking the gun from De Mouris’
grasp, broke the stock against 'a tree. On Miss
McLean coming up to where he lay, he asked her for-
giveness for-trying to shoot her father. John at once
proceeded to Gaddy’s, who, on hearing the shooting,
had gone down to Fred Bird’s. “He overtook him,
however, just as he was going over the steps in front
of Fred Bird’s house, and said to him, “Now that you
gave Francis the gun to shoot me, you had better come
and attend to him.” Francis was picked up and
removed to his home, where he died in about a couple
of weeks. His last words were, “Do nothing to
McLean; I brought it on myself” The McLeans
were duly indicted, especially Alec, against whom the
charge was made. Information descriptive of the
event was forwarded to Judge Black, who, accom-
panied by Governor Dallas, visited the Portage early
in August, to inquire into the matter. After an
investigation, which was held at the old Hudson Bay
fort at the west end, Alec was committed to stand
his trial for manslaughter at the quarterly court,
which met at Fort Garry on the 24th of August.
Bail for his appearance at the said court was given
and accepted—four hundred for himself, four hundred
for Mr. McLean, and four hundred for Robert Bell.

On the case coming before the grand jury, a true
bill was returned, but Alec, acting on the advice of
his counsel, Mr. Enos Stutsman, special agent of the
United States Treasury at Pembina, had crossed the
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line the night previous, Mr. Stutsman seeing, from
the color of the jury, that his client was, in popular- 1
phrase, “ going to have a poor show.” Penalty being
demanded by the court from the bondsmen, Mr. Stuts-
man pointed out that McLean had been delivered to
the court, in fact, had come himself, and that they
themselves were responsible for his own appearance,
having allowed him to escape, thus relieving his
bondsmen. New bonds having been accepted for his
appearance, a special day was appointed, the 25th of
September, to proceed with the case. On this occasion
McLean was present in propria persona. Mr. Stuts-
man, in his defence, said, that had he known, when he
first took the case in hand, as much about the people
of Red River and their courts “as he had since learned,
he would not have counselled his client not to appear
at the previous court. The investigation which
followed showed that men and women at the Portage
were in the habit of constantly carrying firearms for
self-protection. The jury, after hearing the case,
acquitted the prisoner. Even if they had brought in
a verdict of guilty, life was still dear to Alec, and he
had_determined and was prepared to make a bold dash
for freedom. For, as he stood in the box apparently
helpless, he was in reality well armed ; while on either
side of the aisle leading to the door were friendly
miners also armed, who were there for the ostensible
purpose of aiding him to escape if necessary, while his
sister sat against the door, and would not allow it to
be closed. A horse was also in waiting, close by, to
take him across the boundary.
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CHAPTER IX.

First Episcopal Conference—Sioux Killed by Red Lake Indians- The
Last Indian Fight—A Half-breed Kills an Indian—Spence and
Dutch George—A Boisterous Meeting—Indian Letter to the Prince
of Wales—An Indian after Fire-water—Fatal Results of the Fracas
—Chief Factor Clare Returns to England to Die—A Complicated
Case before the Courts—Dr. Schultz Arrested and Bound—Liberat-
ed by his Friends.

ON the 13th of May, 1866, the first conference of clergy
and lay delegates from the Fm'ishes in the diocese of
Rupert’s Land was convened by Bishop Machray in
the school-room at St. John’s. Ten clergymen and
eighteen laymen composed the meeting.

The Bishop read a long address dealing with the
leading questions in the diocese, among which was the
establishment of a theological college to be called St.
John’s, to perpetuate the name of the original institu-
tion, as also founding a scholarship in connection to
be known as the Cochrane scholarship, in memory of
the deceased Archdeacon. The sum of one hundred
and sixteen pounds was immediately subseribed for
that purpose. The Rev. John McLean, of London,
Canada West, accepted the office of Warden, and the
Church Missionary Society intimated its intention to
support six pupils. A collegiate school was also to be
established in connection with the college, to be taught
by the Warden, the Bishop, and the Rev. Samuel
Pritchard, whose private school was amalgamated with
the new one ; the library, also formed by Bishop Ander-
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son, was largely increased by Bishop Machray, aided by
various societies and people friendly to the enter-
prise.

In the following June, as a party of Indians belonging
to Standing Buffalo’s band who had been visiting
Chief Factor Clare at Fort Garry were returning to
the Portage, they were attacked about a mile from the
fort by a band of Red Lake Indians, who fired into
them, killing four of the Sioux. The remainder fled
for their lives, and would probably have been pursued
by the Ojibeways had not a party of the settlers, seeing
the attack, fearlessly ridden up to the scene of action
and stopped the slaughter. The bodies of the four
murdered Sioux were horribly mutilated. Charles
Mair, now of Prince Albert, who was present on the
occasion, writes as follows concerning it: “ After the
scalps had been torn off, the most horrible and devilish
barbarities were committed upon the bodies, and when
the ingenuity of the sferner sex had been exhausted,
the squaws roped themselves with the entrails of the
dead men and smeared their bodies with blood squeezed
from the quivering flesh, which they gnawed and tore
like dogs. They then crossed over to St. Boniface,
where, after indulging in war dances and other mystic
ceremonies, it is said they actually proceeded to par-
take of Sioux viscera.”

Fearing a return of the Sioux to avenge their slain
warriors, an immediate session of the Council of Assini-
boia was convened, and authority given the Governor

to collect from among the settlers, fifty to one hihdred
armed and mounted men to meet the Sioux on their
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return, and either persuade them to go back to the
plains or prevent them from doing further mischief
during their stay in the colony. As the Sioux did
not return, the necessity for using this power did not
ocdur. This was the last Indian fight in the neighbor-
hood of Fort Garry.

On the 18th of July,an altercation took place between
a Saulteaux Indian, residing near Fort Garry, and a
half-breed named John Desmaris, close by the door of
the public sale shop and within the ‘walls of the fort.
In the heat of the dispute the half-breed drew a knife
and stabbed the Indian three times in the \abdomen

till his intestines were protruding. In this éondition

he walked into the shop, and asked the clerk for some
cotton to bind up his wounds. He died on the follow-

ing morning. A coroner’s inquest was held, and a

verdict of wilful murder was returned. Desmaris was

thrown into prison to await his trial at the August
quarterly court. The official Cree interpreter declining
to act in the present instance, another was appointed,
who had a habit of spasmodically grinning and smiling,
as also bowing alternately to the bench and to the
prisoner. This looked so much like a burlesque on
the gravity of the occasion, that quite a ripple in court
was occasioned thereby. Desmaris was sentenced to
be hanged on the 4th of September, but was also
informed that the Governor had power to commute
the penalty. A strong feeling existed on the part of
the relatives of the murdered Indian, several of whose
lodges were pitched close by the prison, and they

boasted that if Desmaris were not hanged they would
13
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take the law in their own hands. A petition numer-
ously signed by the general public and, some of
Desmaris’ relatives was presented to the Governor,
praying for a commutation of the sentence. Throwugh
this influence it was changed to banishment for life.
After some difficulty in conveying Desmaris ‘put of
the settlement without the knowledgé of the Indians,
he was sent from one post to another, and ultimately
restored to liberty in New Caledonia.

In this year-also Governor McTavish returned from
England, whither he had gone to represent the griev-
ances of the disaffected chief factors and traders
before the Hudson Bay Company directors there.
His mission, however, was unsuccessful. Onreturning
to Red River, he at once proceeded to Norway House,
to attend the annual meeting of the council of chief
factors and traders which was always held there.
During this summer also the Rev. Mr. Bomnpas arrived
in the Red River settlement, accompanied by Mr.
Gardner and Dr. Schultz. The first-mentioned pro-
ceeded without delay to his appointed field of labor
in the Arctic Circle; where he remained till he was
created Bishop of the diocesé. The beginning of this
winter saw the arrival of Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Spence,
also Mrs. Scott and son, at Fort Garry, the latter party
on a tour of business and pleasure, the former to stay.
Mr. Spence represented himself as having been an
officer in a foot regiment under Colonel Gorman, that
after quitting the army he practised for a considerable
time as a land surveyor, and |last, but not least, as a

politician. His first appearance in this latter capacity
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was at a public meeting held in the court-room, and
convened by him on Saturday, the 8th December, the
use of which room he had obtained by virtue of a
petition signed by a number of the inhabitants request-
ing the Governor of the gaol to place it at the disposal
of a meeting called for the purpose of memorializing
the Imperial Government to be received into and form
a part of the great confederation of British North
America, and to expresgour desire to act in unity and
co-operation with th)e/ neighboring colonies of Van-
couver and British Columbia, and to further British
fiterests and confederation from the Atlantic to the
Pacific. The object/ of the meeting being knbwn, it
was soon apparent that there was a strong undercur-
rent, whose design was to advocate annexation to the
United States. By an ingenious device the designs of
the latter party were partially frustrated. The meet-
ing was called for 10.30 a.m.  Precisely at that time,
according to Mr.Spence—or an hour previous, according
to his opponents—Spence and four other gentlemen met
at the rooms. Having obtained possession from the
sheriff, they proceeded at once to business, passing the
above resolutions, also that three cheers be given in
honor of her Most Gracious Majesty the Queen.
With such uproarious expressions of enthusiasm was
all this accompanied that it is said the little gray-
headed gaoler resident on the premises thought that
the five Englishmen assembled in the court-room were
a little off their base or cracked .in their upper
story.

The business of the meeting disposed off, our five
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loyalists dispersed. On their way across the Hudson
Bay land reserve, which separated the village of Win-
nipeg from Fort Garry, they met “Dutch George” at
the head of a numerous following of citizens in cari-
oles and on foot, a considerable number of whom were
laboring under the influence of Mr. Emerline’s “ Oh
be joyful,” a supply of which he had also brought
along for free distribution. On learning how they
had been outwitted, George’s wrath knew no bounds.
He denounced it as a piece of sharp practice, asserted
that they (the company that were with him) were the
public, and not the tive unknown individuals without
stake in the country. These denunciations had such
an effect on the mind of the chairman, Colonel Robin-
son, who had previously held a commission in the
United States army, that he at once returned and
placed the position before the sheriff, requesting
renewed permission for the use of the room, to which
that functionary, after hearing the explanation, gave
his assent. *As the news had already spread, a general
rush was made from the village to the court-house,
which was literally packed., A new chairman was
elected, and the proceedings of.:the former meeting
were, by vote, declared informal, null and void. This
was carried by an overwhelming majority, and with
tremendous applause. A more difficult task followed,
however, no person, apparently, having any new reso-
lution to pass; and the tendency and temper of the
meeting being rather to oppose any possible motion
than support any policy leading to a definite result,
confusion became worse confounded. Several per-
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sons tried to get the ear of the meeting, but without
success. One individual, more hopeful than the others,
began to speak, when he was asked by Dutch Gegrge
to pay that last treat which he had at the bar, some
months previous. This personal reminiscence led to a
series of close contests, in the course of which the
creditor, Mr. Emerline, received a blow from the butt
end of e*\ip-handle, which produced a copious flow
of blood afid prostrated him close to the table of the
Clerk of the Court. An ardent friend of George’s at
once sprang on the platform, and throwing off his coat,
squared up to the now infuriated crowd, and began to
sing, “ Come, landlord, fill the flowing bowl.” A scene
of wild confusion reigned; parties and party feelings
were drowned in a host of personalities, as individuals,
themselves hurried to and fro by the turbulence of
the mass, hit rudely against others who, eager for the
fray, retorted on their involuntary and crowd-cramped
assailants with violence. After some time the entire
crowd sought a hasty and uproarious exit from thé
doors, some imagined with the view of continuing hos-
tilities on a more extended scale outside. But the
cooling influences of the December wind led them to
seek shelter at Mr. Emerline’s, where an orgie was
instituted, which ended about midnight in the demoli-
tion of his bar and the general destruction of his bottles
and earthenware, not to speak of the damage done to
his fluids.

Mr. Spence next posed as a legal practitioner in
1867, and, as such, had certain clients which brought
him repeatedly under the notice of the ruli}xg powers.
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We do not, however, propose to follow him through
the mazy'labyrinths of law. The Canadian News of
April 14th, 1867, contained the following translation
of a lettet which was said to be sent from the Indians
of the Red River settlement to his Royal Highness
the Prince of Wales: “To the first-born of our Great
Mother over the sea. Great Chief, whom we call
Royal Chief, we and our people hear that our rela-
tions, the half-breeds, and the pale-faces at Red River
have asked you to come and see them the next sum-
mer, and we and our people also wish you to come and
visit us. Every lodge will give you a royal welcome.
We have the bear and the buffalo, and our hunting
grounds are free to you. Our horses will carry you,
and our dogs will hunt for you,and we and our people
will guard and attend you. Our old men will show
you their medals which they received for being faith-
ful to the father of our Great Mother, the great Royal
Chief. If ycu will come, send word to our guiding
‘chief at Fort Garry,so that we may have time to meet
and receive you, as becoming our great Royal Chief.”
The News of the World, of the 21st April, 1867,
speaks of this letter thus: “ The letter itself is unique,
and we doubt whether the mail bags of any nation
ever carried its like. The Indians, who feel a great
degree of traditionary respect for the royal family,
and with a certain taste for barbaric show and glit-
ter, felt that an ordinary ink and paper invitation
would scarcely convey the earnestness of their wish
that the Prince should come, so they have sent their
request in a style peculiar to themselves. The mate-
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rial on which the letter is written is the fine, inner
rind of birch bark, surrounded with a border of gilt.
The letters of the heading are in red, white and blue,
the capitals throughout being in Qld English gilt.”

This document lay in the house of Dr. Schultz for
inspection, for some time previous to being sent to
England. The original draft was written in English
and translated into Indian by a young half-breed
attending school in Winnipeg. Mr. Spence was the
reputed prime mover and manipulator of the invita-
tion, and serious doubts are entertained as to whether
the Indians of Red River knew anything of the matter
at all. The fact also remains, that in the matter of
ornamentation, the Indians knew more about porcu-
pine quills and dyed moose hair—the natural products
of the country—and about wampum and beads, than
about the use of gold in decoration. In the following
June, a letter was received by Mr. Spence from the
secretary of the Governor-General ofCanada, enclos-
ing copy of despatch, from the Duke of Buckingham
and Chandos to Lord Monck, in which the Colonial
Secretary acquainted the latter that the address from
the chiefs, forwarded through his Lordship, had been
presented to the Prince of Wales, who desired that his
sentiments on receiving their address should be com-
municated to the chiefs, adding that his Royal High-
ness was unable to visit the country, but would have
been much gratified had it been in his power to com-
ply with the invitation.

About this time three Americans came to the Por-
tage settlement to pass the winter and to trade
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named Bob O’Loane, Billy Salmon and Jim Clewett. fence,
Salmon was a retired sergeant of the American army. War-v
At the west end they rented a house and stable, the that
one to live in, the.other to keep their peltries and fired
goods. The places were distant, possibly thirty feet dead
from each other. In the stable, which was used as a Road,
store, they had a cask containing about one hundred haste
and fifty gallons of whiskey. Amongst the Indians Salmo
who frequented the Portage at this time, was one John |
named Wolverine, a man who was at the bottom of to the
every mischief, as also a noted thief. The Indians neight
I knew of the liquor being here, and formed a plan to him.
| get possession of it. On Sunday morning, Salmon saw lying
’ Wolverine making for the stable door where the liquor exami
was stored. Realizing his mission, Salmon ran to had fo
prevent his getting inside, but before he could reach and go
the door the Indian had got there. Clewett, who to his
generally slept in the stable to protect the goods, on Salmor
seeing Wolverine come in, attempted to put him out, sufferir
but the Indian drew a knife and gave Clewett an McLea,
ugly wound in the side, from the effects of which an easi
he fainted and fell on the floor. Wolverine seeing a bed f
Salmon coming to put him out, put his body to the his wh
door to keep him from getting in, while Salmon him, as
, tried to push it in. Allowing the door to come suffi- prepare
1: “cigntly ajar, the Indian used his gun with fatal man, he
| egect on Salmon, shooting him in the side, who, "On his
| believing himself to be mortally wounded, made for Indian
ﬁ « the house. Wolverine then opened the door, gave a sitting
yell and fled. At the discharge of Wolverine’s gun, McLean
another Indian, who was close by, jumped on th the frac
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fence, and swinging his blanket began to chant the
war-whoop. O’Loane, who was in the house, realizing
that danger was brewing, seized his Henry rifle and
fired at the shouting Indian, who fell off the fence
dead as a door-nail. He then ran along the Slough
Road, eastward, for all he was worth, passing in his
haste some of the neighbors at work, and leaving
Salmon and Clewett in the house, both wounded.
John McLean, hearing of the fracas, at once proceeded
to the scene of the shooting, although warned by his
neighbors not to do so, as the Indians would shoot
him. On entering the porch, McLean found Clewett
lying with a severe knife-wound in the side. On
examination he found it was not fatal, as the knife
had followed the rib, glancing out. He raised him up
and got him inside the house, and otherwise attended
to his wants. On entering the inside door, he found
Salmon stretched out where he had fallen, and
suffering great pain, as he was bleeding internally.
McLean at once proceeded to place the injured man in
an easier position. Getting some buffalo robes, he made
a bed for him in the corner; then causing him to put
his whole arm round his (McLean’s) neck, he lifted
him, as gently as possible, on to the couch he had jusﬁ
prepared. After doing what he could for the wounded
man, he left, promising to return as early as possible.
"On his way home he passed the body of the dead
Indian lying on the avenue, with two or three squaws
sitting round, loudly lamenting his untimely decease.
McLean informed all the neighbors of the result of
the fracas, and asked them to come and sit with the
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wounded men for the night. In the evening, quite a
number put in an appearance, among them Farquhar
McLean, and some other white settlers. The half-
breeds were afraid to remain, while the whiskey was
in the stable, fearing a return of the Indians, but were
willing to do so, provided it was removed. A waggon
being procured, the two McLeans, assisted by‘i’several
others, had the hogshead rolled on, taken awlay, and
dumped in a manure heap, close by John McLeak's resi-
dence, where it remained safe an?iunmolested il the
following Monday, when O’Loane returned, and tilling
the liquor into smaller barrels, took it away. He also
had Salmon conveyed to Winnipeg, against his desire,
which was rather to remain in the Portage, as he
feared the effects of the shaking of the waggon, which
certainly was the means of hastening his death. He
died shortly after reaching Winnipeg, and was buried
in St. John's cemetery. The hogshead still remains,
not in the manure heap, but at the bottom of McLean’s
well, where it does duty as a curb.

In November of this year also, Chief Factor Clare,
in charge of the upper fort, of whom we have made
previous mention, left Red River for England, to
attend to some private matters which required his
personal supervision for a few months, for which he
obtained leave of absence. Shortly after quitting
Fort Garry he became seriously ill, but being anxious
to get home, he pushed forward on his journey, reach-
ing the home of his relatives in London a few hours
before he died. Being highly respected in the settle-
‘ment, the news of his sudden demise caused quite a
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commotion amongst his friends. Being a member of
the Council of Assiniboia this caused a vacancy, to
which the Nor'-Wester drew the attention of the
Red River public. A petition was drawn up in favor
of Dr. Schultz, which along with a letter from Mr.
Spence, was handed to the clerk of the Council. The
latter informed Mr. Spence and the petitioners that,
as it was by the Governor and committee of the Hud-
son Bay Company, and not by the Council of Assini-
boia,that the membersof the latter body were appointed,
the petition would be sent to England. But he also
informed petitioners that a counter-petition had been
presented from other inhabitants, and that both would
be transmitted at once. This counter-petition caused
quite a dust for awhile, and called forth editorials,
more instructive than complimentary, of which the
following is a specimen : *“ As a solution of the unsatis-
factory state of things, it was stated that people
were openly discussing the propriety of taking the

Government from its present hands into their owng

while the authorities were accused of being prepare(\l\
to sell summonses or saltpetre, writs or writing paper,

or to furnish as part of their business, liquor or

marriage licenses, pemmican, law, justice, pain-killer,

powder and peanuts, or, in fact, anything that is in

" their line of trade.”

A case of considerable interest came before the general
quarterly court held in February of this year. The
firm of McKenny & Company, spoken of in the
previous pages, the partners in which were Henry
McKenny and Dr. Schultz, had dissolved partnership
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in 1864. So complicated were their affairs that
apparently no settlement could be effected without
resorting to litigation. In May of 1865, Schultz
entered an action against McKenny for three hundred
pounds, as the sum still due him before he would con-
sent to the closing of the accounts of the firm. Owing
to the amount of documentary evidence to be examined
in this case, the court appointed a commission to inves-
tigate, and by consent of the parties concerned, act as
arbiters. The members of this commission were
Judge Black and Francois Bruneau. The death of
the latter, in the summer of 1865, from fever, broke
up the arrangement—it was again brought up in
February of this year, but owing to the unavoidable
absence of McKenny in England, was postponed till
May. On coming again before this court, Dr. Schultz
publicly declared that the court had permitted itself
to be bullied and browbeaten, and had neither the will
nor the power to do justice. He was at once stopped
and ordered to retract the offensive expressions, but
refused to do so. He was then informed that until he
did so he could not be heard personally at the bar, but
was at liberty to appoint an agent, which he refused
to do—and several cases in which he was interested
remained unheard. One of the creditors of the firm
was a Mr. Frederick E. Kew, of London, England, who
also acted as commission agent for them there. This
gentleman visited Red River in the spring of 1865,
and closed his accounts with the firm by taking a joint
promissory note for fourteen hundred dpd sixty pounds,
being the\ balance due him. On leaving the settle-
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ment, he appointed Mr. John Inkster his agent, to
collect from the firm this amount. In 1865, Mr.
Inkster instituted several actions against McKenny
and Schultz, demanding from each half the sum still
due on the note. On further consideration, he with-
drew the case, before any action had been taken
regarding it by the court. In August of 1866, he
sued McKenny for the total sum then outstanding,
about six hundred pounds, the original amount having
been reduced to this by instalipents paid on account.
McKenny contended that he sh&
for the entire amount, and dema ided that his former
partner, Dr. Schultz, should be procéeded against at the
same time. The judge, however, instructed the jury
that on such a note as the one before the sourt, either
party singly, or both together, might b@ suéd for the
whole amount, as the holder of the note~might deem
expedient. The result was a verdict in favor of Kew,
and against McKenny. Inkster availed himself of this
result to close with McKenny for half the sum, which
was paid in May of 1867, and commenced action
against Schultz for the remainder. Though cited to
appear at the May court, Dr. Schultz quitted the
settlement, previous to the session of the court, having
made a declaration before a magistrate relative to his
non-appearance, which was not produced in court, and
in consequence, judgment was given by default. On
his return, he was called on to pay the balance; he
endeavored to obtain a new trial, which the judge
refused for insufficient reasons. Inkster repeatedly
applied to Schultz to meet the judgment, which he

ld not be sued alone.__.
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refused to do. After waiting eight months, without
apparently coming any nearer the realization of his
object, he resolved to enforce it, and with the reader’s
permission, I will now allow the Doctor to tell his own
story, as we find it in the pages of the Nor'- Wester.

“Once more the doors of the Hudson Bay Com-
pany’s prison have opened to the persuasion of an
oaken beam, handled by the stout arms of men who
were as careless of the frowns as of the favor of this
august humbug, the Hudson Bay Company. The case
occurred in this wise. In one of the quarterly courts
judgment was obtained against Sheritf McKenny for
a sum of money. Being sheriff he paid half, and suc-
ceeded in cajoling the simple-minded agent of the
plaintiff into bringing an action against Dr. Schultz,
his former partner, for the other half. By some artful
dodging a judgment was obtained against the Doctor
in his absence, and his application for a trial of the
case before a jury .disregarded by our Hudson Bay
judge. The Doctor, thus treated, refused to pay unless
a trial was given, and the agent of the plaintiff, feeling
probably the injustice of the position, would not push
it. The sheriff meanwhile, caught in England, pays
the other half, and then follow the events of Friday.
At nine in the morning of Friday, the sheriff with a
posse of constables entered the trading house of Dr.
Schultz, and the Doctor appearing, a demand was
made by McKenny for immediate payment of the
sum. The Doctor asked to see his authority for its
collection, which McKenny refused to show, and said
that he must seize the goods. Schultz replied that
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none of his property should go without the evidence
of proper authority. The sheriff then declared every-
thing seized, and directed the constables to first take
out a large pair of platform-scales, which they pro-
ceeded to do until stopped by the Doctor, who then
proceeded to secure the door which had been opened
by McKenny. The sheriff then laid hands on the
Doctor, but was thrown over some bags (not struck),
and ‘on rising, directed the constables to arrest Dr.
Schultz for assault on the officers of the law. The
Doctor told him that he was willing to be arrested, but
not that his property be removed. The Doctor then
gave himself up, and offered no resistance till rudely

taken hold of by the constables, when he threw them

off, without striking; and then McKenny, calling on

all present to assist, declared that the Doctor must be

bound, and directed one of the constables to bring a
rope. The Doctor said that was unnecessary, that he
would submit to be tied so long as no indignity was
offered. The Doctor then held his arms to be tied,
which was done by the constables, without opposition.
McKenny, however, then began to draw the ropes
tight, till the effect was painful,.and being warned to

desist, he refused, and so was again thrown over by

the now tied prisoner. After this there was no resis-

tance, and the Doctor was hurried off in a cariole,
without even being allowed to put on his overcoat.
Dr. Cowan was sent for, but shirked the case and sent
for Goulet. While waiting the arrival of Goulet,
Schultz requested, as there were a number of con-

stables present, that the court-house doors should be
14
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locked, and he should be unbound long enough to
write a note to his wife, who, as yet, knew nothing of
the case. This was refused, and the effort of writing
while in this bound position caused so much pain that
by a violent éffort one arm was freed, which McKenny
perceiving, made a rlﬁh, but was met and floored.
The other constables then joined their efforts, and the
prisoner was crushed by constables, gaoler and sheriff,
till a clothes-line was produced, which was tied and
pulled till the blood gushed from the arms of the now
helpless prisoner. Goulet arriving, after a consulta-
tion proceeded to hear McKenny’s charge of assault on
the officers of the law. Goulet then proceeded to
commit the prisoner, it being four o’clock. Thrust in
and locked up without food or fire, the Doctor was left
to reflect on the vanity of human things generally,
and of the belief in the rights of a peaceable man to
his liberty in particular. So ended the first act. A
ludicrous interlude occurred before the closing scene.
Constable Mulligan was left in charge of the now
seized goods in the Doctor’s store, and when Mrs.
Schultz wished to barricade it against the sheriff,
Mulligan refused to go out,and was nailed and spiked in,
where he remained till late at night, when, hungry
and half-frozen, he humbly petitioned to be let out,
and emerged cursing the law, McKenny and seizers
generally. Schultz was locked up at four. Before
nightfall the news had spread like wildfire, and angry
men sped their horses to the town, where they met
others equally as excited as themselves, earnestly dis-
cussing whether to break open the gadl at once, or

wa
the
adi
que
nig
Mr
to{
hin
of ;
obt;
Doc
pris
witl
ther
by t
saw
thu:
timl
on )
It 1
wersg
ther
vietc
but
clenc
woul
Mrs.
atten
frien
appli
held




eft

[rs.
riff,
(in,
g
ut,
rers
‘ore
gry
met
dis-
or

HISTORY OF MANITOBA. 207

wait till morning brought its hundreds to assist. But
the news that the Doctor’s wife had been refused
admission to him by the fort authorities decided the
question at once. The Doctor must not stop, even one
night, under this accursed roof. In the meantime,
Mrs. Schultz had been granted permission by the sheriff
to take some food to her husband, and remained with
him till the noise of sleighbells announced the tidings
of release. First there came a party to the door to
obtain peaceable entrance, then a request from the
Doctor to let his wife out of the inner door of the
prison, then a rush of the Doctor himself, who grappled
with the constables who were barricading the door ;
then the upsetting of the gaoler, and the bolts drawn
by the doctor’s wife ; and then, as the expeetant crowd
saw the attack on the Doctor within, came the heavy
thump of the oaken beam. Soon the crash of breaking
timbers, and then the loud hurrah, with maledictions
on McKenny, and the escort of the Doctor to his home.
It is well to know that no disreputable characters
were among the party. When the constables, of whom
there were six, with eight specials, ceased to resist, the
victors ceased their efforts, and no violence was used
but the breaking of the.door and the marks of a
clenched fist on the face of one of the specials, which
would not have been there had he not rudely assaulted
Mrs. Schultz, in her efforts to draw the bolts. No
attempt was made to recapture the Doctor or his
friends, and on the 4th of February he repeated his
application for a new trial. A general council was
held later on in the month, when it was agreed to
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accede to the Doctor’s request, which was set for the
5th of May. At this trial evidence was produced by
Dr. Schultz, through H. L. Sabine, a land surveyor,
~ who had been in Schultz’s employ, and who testified to
having seen the Doctor pay the plaintiff the sum of
two hundred and seventy-five pounds, on consideration
of this debt, no legal receipt being asked for or given

by either party.”

e, .

Seco

ON

cler,
of F
Eigl
ing.

ray

sync
nom
by 1}
knoy
ness
calle
leavi
more
this

John
succe

newe

had

New
sum
to gir



CHAPTER X.

Second Episcopal Congress—Diocesan Fund—Spence Comes to Portage
la Prairie—Council of Manitoba—Arrest and Trial of McPherson—
The Dawson Route—Archdeacon McLean—Grasshoppers—First
Commemoration of St. Andrew’s Day—Charles Curtis—Little Six
—Wolverine.

ON the 29th of May, 1867, the second congress of
clergy and lay delegates from parishes in the diocese
of Rupert’'s Land was held in St. John’s school-room.
Eight clergy and nineteen laymen composed the meet-
ing. Amongst the changes advocated by Bishop Mach-
ray was, that the conference should assume the name of
synod. The venerable Abraham Cowley had been
nominated to the archdeaconry of Cumberland, vacated
by Mr. Hur®er, whose long service on the settlement,
knowledge of the Cree language, and general useful-
ness the Bishop commended. The clergy supply
called for serious consideration, many of the ministers
leaving the settlement when their experience was
more valuable than ever. It was proposed to offset
this by obtaining native clergymen, educated at St.
John’s College. The latter institution was working

successfully. The Hudson Bay Company had re-

newed their grant of one hundred pounds, which they
had given annually to the old institution. The
New England Company also subscribed a similar
sum, and the Church Missionary Society agreed
to give two hundred pounds per annum. An effort
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was made to raise an endowment fund for the War- ing
den’s chair of theology, the first contribution for | ind
which came from Clinton, Ont., where Dr. Ander- | pos
son, late Bishop of Rupert’s Land, was incumbent. sch
The endowment for the scholarship in memory of Arch- add
deacon Cochrane at this time amounted to three hun- of t
dred and twenty pounds. The Bishop desired to raise 1 for
this scholarship to a value of twenty pounds per ¥ sett
annum. Parish schools, which had hitherto been sup- nig]
ported by the Church Missionary Society, and which mis
had been established in every parish but one, would pop
have to be supported by the parishes themselves, as ( proc
the Society had decided to withdraw the support it A
had, till then, afforded these. A book depot, started in ! Maj
1866, with the object of supplying school material, z and
had succeeded well. The Bishop regarded the organi- : peg,
zation of a diocesan fund as a vital one, for the follow- In
ing reasons : . the

1. To assist promising young men to qualify for Gar
holy orders ; to maintain clergymen actually employed » disp
in parishes and missions ; and to pension such as, from as ¢
ill-health or old age, might be incapacitated for duty. / men

2. To support schools, disseminate Bibles, prayer- pale
books, and other religious works, and to form parish laws
libraries. chos

The Bishop, in urging this scheme, said that the man
means at their disposal were limited, the people poor, can
and the tide of emigration, so hopefully expected presi
during the last few years, had not commenced to roll the |
in; that the sums collected from the weekly offertory, Man
the receipts from special collections on harvest gather- squa
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ings and other occasions, and donations from private
individuals, composed the entire means at their dis-
posal. These were distributed amongst the various
schemes referred to. Bishop Machray closed his
address, referring to the larger and denser population.
of the parish of St. Andrew as offering a better field
for the above operations than any other portion of the
settlement. The Rev. J. P. Gardiner had opened a
night school and ctasses for adults, had set on foot
missionary meetings, mutual improvement -classes,
popular lectures with penny readings and music, the
proceeds of which were devoted to a library.

About this time Sergeant Mulligan, late of her
Majesty’s 86th regiment, was appointed constable,
and had the honor to be the first policeman in Winni-
peg, at a salary of sixty pounds per annum.

In 1867, Mr. Spence, of whom we made mention in
the preceding pages, moved his residence from Fort
Garry to Portage la Prairie, where, from his peculiar
disposition, he was not long in inaugurating himself
as one of the leading factional spirits of the settle-
ment. The position of the settlement, outside the
pale of the judicial district of Assiniboia, with no
laws but what they made themselves, and what they
chose to observe, made it just the place for such a
man as Mr. Spence, and very soon we find a republi-
can monarchy, if such there/could be, with Spence as
president, and Findlay Ray secretary. The name of
the settlement was changed to Caledonia, and then to
Manitoba. Its boundaries included hundreds -of
square miles, extending indefinitely into parallels of
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latitude and longitude. The only defined boundary hin
was the eastern one, which consisted of the western . ing
limit of the municipal district of Assiniboia. A gov
council was also chosen, and an oath of allegiance ceel
administered to all those who would take it. The of
first desideratum with the new government was the ‘ reas
erection of a court-house and gaol. There being only @ Hug
one way of securing this, namely, a regular systém of \ dooi
taxation, a customs tariff on imports was decided on, ‘ Pro
" and preliminary measures taken to collect the same. to ¢
A notice was served on all traders;amongst them the four
officer in charge of the Hudson Bay trading post at Jatte
the Portage, who replied that he would pay no tax or the
duty on the goods imported for trade at his post, dist)
unless ordered to do so by the government of Rupert’s hors
Land. The council decided that, seeing they could he
not force him to do so at present, they would make it deep
hot for him when they got the gaol built. A shoe- strug
maker by the name of McPherson, who lived at High , and
Bluff, had made himself obnoxous to the president this |
and other members of the government, by asserting been
that the money obtained throngh taxation, instead of Road
being retained to build a gaol, was being expended in ing t
the purchase of beer and whiskey, for the use of the neari
government and council of Manitoba, a report which ' ran u
was generally credited as being true. Expostulations torn,
were of no use with McPherson, who only repeated the s
the story with addendas. At last they resolved to ran a
indict him on a charge of treason, and a warrant was ning .
issued for his arrest. Constables William Hudson and in co
Henry Anderson were at once despatched to bring “Sav(
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him dead or alive. It would seem that, before start-
ing out, these gentlemen had imbibed considerable
government whiskey, as the noise they made in pro-
ceeding to McPherson’s house attracted the attention
of his neighbors, who, by this means, divined the
reason of the 'constables’ visit. Arrived at the house,
Hudson entered, while Anderson kept watch at the
door. He found McPherson cleaning his revolver.
Producing his warrant, he endeavored, single-handed,
to enforce it.  Anderson, entering at this moment,
found Hudson and McPherson in close grip. The
latter, by some means, eluded both, and ran off with
the intention of getting within the boundary of the
district, of Assiniboia. The constables procured =
horse and soon gained on McPherson, who, seeing that
he was going to be overtaken, rushed out into the
deep snow on the plains, and was, after a severe
struggle, in which all his clothes were torn, secured
and brought to the Portage in a jumper. It happened
this afternoon that John and Alec McLean, who had
been threshing at Huddlestone’s, on the High Bluff
Road, were on their way home, when they saw, com-
ing behind them, a jumper with three men in it. On
nearing McLean’s sleigh, one of them jumped out and
ran up to McLean and his son. His clothes were all
torn, and he held his pants up with his hands. At
the same time another of the men jumped out and
ran after the first. McLean thought they were run-
ning a race, and called out, “ Fair play.” McPherson,
in coming up to him, appealed to him in the words,
“Save me ; save me, McLean!” At this moment Hud-
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son came up also, and attempted to force McPherson
away from McLean’s protection. John, who carried a
long two-inch augur, with which he had been repair-
ing a hay-rack, said, “Stand back, or I'll rin the
augur through ye.” He then desired an explanation,
which was given by both men; also demanding to see
the warrant. One of the constables who was in the
jumper said, “Don’t show it to him, he'll tear it.”
However, the warrant was produced, McLean read it,
and then inquired when and where the trial was to be,
advised McPherson to go with them, and assured him
that he would be there to see that he got justice, after
which the prisoner of the republic and his captors
proceeded to the Portage.

When McLean reached home he found three miners,
Bob Hastie, Yankee Johnston, and Mr. Chapman,
waiting his return. After supper, accompanied by
the above and two other men, making in all a company
of seven, they proceeded to William Hudson’s house,
which they found full of persons who had gathered to
hear the trial, which had been on for some time. On
entering the house they found Spence seated at one
end of a table, while McPherson occupied the other.
A lamp stood in the centre. McLean asked what he
was tried for. Spence replied, “ Treason to the laws
of the republic.” “ We hae nae laws,” said John, and
“Wha's the accuser ?” “Mr. Spence,” said one of the
constables. Turning to Spence, with indignation
written on his face, McLean said, “ Come oot o’ that,
you whited sepulchre, ye canna act as judge and
accuser baith.” At this stage of the proceedings
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Hudson ordered McLean out of the house, saying that
if he did not go he (Hudson) would throw him out.
McLean replied that seeing it was Hudson’s house he
would go out, but not through any fear of him or
Anderson either. Hudson then told nim to strip,
meaning to fight, to which McLean replied that he
would wait to see if there was any neccessity to do so,
and proceeded towards the door. Bob Hastie, seeing
Hudson and Anderson preparing to follow McLean,
said to the latter, “ Ye're no gaun oot yer lane,” and,
seizing McPherson by the neck of the coat, said,
“Come oot 0’ that an’ no be sittin’ there like a fule,”
and pulled him away from the table. A brother of
Anderson’s, observing Hastie’s movement, caught him
by the neck, and pulled him on his back. Hastie, who
was a powerful man, jumped to his feet in a moment,
and seizing Anderson threw him bodily against the
table, upsetting stove, lamp, table, Spence and all.
At this juncture the miners drew their revolvers and
fired at the ceiling. In less time than it takes to
write these words the house was empty, each one
making his or her exit on the double quick, through
the door or window, whichever was the most con-
venient in the darkness. Spence, who had fallen
under the table, was heard to implore, “For God’s
sake, men,don’t fire, I havea wife and family!” Ina
short time the lamp was relit, and after getting things
straightened McLean and the miners started for home,
taking McPherson with them. This event broke the
back of the republic completely. The following day,
while on a visit to Kenneth McBain’s on the river
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road, McPherson was again made the subject of arrest
by one of the constables, in McBain’s house. James,
one of the sons, seeing the attempt, seized a chair, and
threatened to knock the constable’s brains out if he
dared to repeat the act. McPherson at once sought
out Spence, and asked him what he was following him
up for. Spence replied that personally he knew
nothing of it, and that so far as he was concerned the
whole matter was dropped. A new suit of clothes
was given him in place of those destroyed during the
arrest, and thus the matter ended. McPherson still
resides in the Province at Lower Fort Garry, and his
recollections of the Portage republic and its associa-
tions are st:ll gregn, as well they may be.

In 1867, ti on. Alexander Campbell, Canadian
Commissioner of Crown Lands, gave instructions for
the commencement of the now famous Dawson route,
which was intended to form a line of communication
between Lake Superior and Red River, and a sum of
fifty-five thousand dollars was granted from the Upper
Canada Colonization Road Fund for this purpose. The
work commenced in May at Thunder Bay, extending
westward towards Dog Lake. Two distinguished
travellers also visited the settlement this year, the
Right Hon. the Earl of March, and Edward Hill, Esq.
Their principal object being hunting, and the country
around Fort Carleton offering many incentives, they
proceeded thither.

About the middle of December, 1867, the venerable
McLean commenced Sunday evening services in the
village of Winnipeg. " No church being there as yet,
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the building occupied and used as a theatre was placed
at the Archdeacon’s disposal by the lessees. The room
was generally overcrowded, and the services discon-
tinued during rough weather. In the summer of 1868
they were again resumed in the court-room at Fort
Garry, and in the fall the small church of the Holy
Trinity was opened, in which Archdeacon McLean
officiated regularly.

In the Portage settlement the grasshoppers were so
numerous in the fall of 1867 and the spring of 1868,
that many put in no crop at all. A portion of adiary
kept by the late Frederick Bird, the first representative
in the Local Legislature for Portage la Prairie, lies
before the writer, in which I find the following entries:
“ August 8th, 1867—Grasshoppers came. 11th—Com-
menced cutting the barley. 12th—Hoppers going off,
some falling. 13th—Still going, and some falling.
14th—Commenced cutting wheat, hoppers still as
thick as ever. 16th—Still as numerous.” So ends the
diary.

The first occasion on which was commemorated the
natal day of Scotia’s patron saint, St. Andrew, occurred
in 1867. Mr. Emerline, better known to the old
residents as “ Dutch George,” a gentleman of German
extraption, had, by dint of perseverance in the sale of
fruit fnd smallwares, worked his way up to be land-
lord the George Hotel, the principal one in the
village of Winnipeg at that time, and the centre of
conviviality. Emerline was a strong annexationist,
and had this year imported\\from the States a billiard
table, the first in the settlement, the profit on which
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was so large that he added another to his establishment
in the following year. He also established a Burns
Club, which met in one of his rooms, and which was
designed to provide means of social friendship to
Scotchmen resident in the colony, and to strengthen
the ties which bound them to their native land by the
study of the character and works of the poet by whose
name the club was known. Though not many noble
nor yet great attended these little meetings, it is
evident that they had not only the feast of reason but
the means of promoting the flow of soul. Early in
the afternoon of St. Andrew’s day enthusiastic Scotch
members, such as Jock McGregor, John MeDonald,
John McRae, Alexander McIntyre, Roderick McLeod
and others of like ilk, convened at the George Hotel.
After afew hours spent in fraternal intercourse, happy
greetings and auld Scotch sangs, in which the utmost
harmony and good feeling prevailed, just as the deep-
ening hour of twilight was beginning to shed its gloom
over this little company of Jock Thamson’s bairns,
some evil genius—or shall we call him imp of Satan ?—
suggested the superiority of the Hielands over the
Lowlands. The debate was taken up with interest by
both parties and quickly swelled into a tumult; the
room becoming too small to display their partizan
zeal, with ringing shouts they rushed into the street,
and commenced to demonstrate with fists what words
had failed to do. Within a short time they were rein-
forced with the inhabitants of the village, some of
whom took sides with the belligerents while others
looked on, enjoying the row. Sergeant Mulligan,
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single-handed, attempted to quell the torrent. The
maddened crowd surged from one corner of the street
to the other, yelling vociferously, as one pnfty or
another was pummelled and forced to give way; but,
as in all things the calm succeeds the storm, so in this
instance also peace was restored. Thus ended the first
commemoration of St. Andrew’s in Red River.

After the McPherson trial, Mr. Spence, with the
council, seems to have allowed the affairs of the republic
to go by default. In February, 1868, he paid a visit
to Governor Dallas, at Fort Garry, to consult with him
relative to affairs at the Portage settlement. The
Governor informed him that no duties would be paid
on the Hudson Bay Company’s goods imported unless
levied on authority derived from the company them-
selves, and he, Spence, and his council could collect
duty only from such as paid it voluntarily; that he
and his agents might be legally resisted in any attempt
to levy by force, and that the administration of the
oath of allegiance was an illegal act,and laid him open
to prosecution. Mr. Spence then addressed the follow-
ing letter to the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs,
to which he received a reply in the following August.

“ LA PRAIRIE, MAN,,
“Via RED RIVER SETTLEMENT,
“ February 19th, 1868.
“My LorDp,—As President-elect of the people of the
newly organized Government and Council of Mani-
toba, in British territory, I have the dutiful honor of
laying before your Lordship, for the consideration of




220 HISTORY OF MANITORA.

her Most Gracious Majesty our beloved Queen, the
circumstances attending the creation of this self-sup-
porting petty government in this isolated portion of
her Majesty’s dominions, and, as loyal British sub-
jects, we humbly and sincerely trust that her Most
Gracious Majesty, and her advisers, will be pleased
forthwith to give this favorable recognition, it being
simply our aim to develop our resources, improve the
condition of the people, and generally advance and
preserve British interests in this rising far West.

“An humble address from the people of this settle-
ment to her Majesty the Queen was forwarded to the
Governor-General of Canada, in June last, briefly
setting forth the superior attractions of this portion
of the British dominions, the growing population and
the gradual influx of emigrants, and humbly praying
for recognition, law and protection, to which no reply
or acknowledgment has yet reached this people.

“Early in January last, at a public meeting of settlers,
who numbered over 400, it was unanimously decided
to at once proceed to the election and construction of
a government, which has accordingly been carried out;
a revenue imposed, public buildings commenced, to
carry out the laws, provisions made for Indian trea-
ties, the construction of roads and other public
works, tending to promote the interests and welfare
of the people.

“The boundaries of the jurisdiction being, for the
time, proclaimed as follows : North from a point run-
ning due north from the boundary line of Assiniboia,
till it strikes Lake Manitoba; thence from the point
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struck, a straight line across the said lake to Mani-
toba Post ; thence by longitudinal line 51° till it inter-
sects latitude 100°; west, by a line of latitude 100°
to the boundary line of the United States and British
America; east, the boundary line of the jurisdiction
of the Council of Assiniboia ; south, the boundary line
between British North America and the United
States.
“I have the honor to remain, my Lord,
“Your Lordship’s obedient servant,
“THOMAS SPENCE,
“ President of the Council.”

The following is the reply received to the above:

“DowNING STREET, May 30th, 1868.

“SIR,—I am directed by the Duke of Buckingham
and Chandos to inform you that your letter of the
19th of February last, addressed to the Secretary of
State for Foreign Affairs, has been forwarded to this
department, and that his Grace has also received a copy
of a letter addressed by you to Mr. Angus Morrison, a
member of the Canadian Parliament, dated 17th of

February last. In these communications you explain

that measures have been taken for creating a so-called
self-supporting government in Manitoba, within the
territories of the Hudson Bay Company. The people
of Manitoba are probably not aware that the creation
of a separate government, in the manner set forth in
these papers, has no force in law, and that they have
no authority to create or organize a government, or

even to set up municipal institutions (properly so
15




222 HISTORY OF MANITOBA.

called) for themselves, without reference to the Hud-
son Bay Company or the Crown.

“ Her Majesty’s Government are advised that there
is no objection to the people of Manitoba voluntarily
submitting themselves to rules and regulations which
. they may agree to observe, for the greater protection
| and improvement of the territories in which they live,
| but which will have no force as regards others than

those who may have so submitted themselves. As it

is inferred that the intention is to exercise jurisdic-
tion over offenders in criminal cases, to levy taxes
compulsorily, and to attempt to put in force other
powers which can only be exercised by a properly
constituted government, I am desired to warn you
that you and your co-agitators are acting illegally

in this matter, and that by the course which you are
adopting, you are incurring grave responsibilities.

“I am, Sir,
“Your obedient servant,
»

««

Thus, doubly counselled, first by Governor Dallas,
and then by Buckingham, as to the responsibility of
the position which he had assumed, Mr. Spence
decided to lay aside, at once and for all, any further
hopes of building a republic at Portage 'la Prairie,
and began to look around for some other means of
subsistence. In those early days, much of the salt
consumed in this western country was obtained from
deposits in the neighborhood of Lake Manitoba. He
at once turned his attention to salt manufacture ;
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-
allowed the interest in the place he had bought, or had
agreed to purchase, in the Portage to be transferred
to Charles Curtis, who had been some time resident
at Silver Heights, and who removed Spence and his
family out to the scene of his future labors, for a
few years at least, on the salt springs of Lake Mani-
toba. On his return to the Portage, Mr. Curtis took
immediate possession, and, being a blacksmith by
trade, built a forge on the Slough Road, at what is
known as the Gilbert Home, where under the spread-
ing maple trees his village smithy stood.

The place in which Spence had lived belonged to a
man named Lamont, who was paralyzed on one side of
his body from a stroke of that nature. Lamont had
sold it to Spence, but he failing to make the payments,
it was resold, as we have seen, with Spence’s permis-
sion, to Curtis. Lamont had kept store in the house,
but, what with attacks from the Indians and others
with predatory motives, was so thoroughly intimi-
dated that he was anxious to rémove to more desirable
quarters. The only protection he had was two large
dogs, and when Curtis took possession, large pieces
were torn out of the side of the door by the frantic
efforts of the animals to get at the assailants on the
outside, during these melees. It required a stout heart
to come into a place under such circumstances, and

one outside the pale of civil law and protection, as the

Portage then was; yet here Curtis brought his wife

and little children, built his shop close by the house,

and immediately set to work to beat out the plough-
share, and do whatever else might be required of him.
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An American by birth, the refugee Sioux who had
settled down on the portage plains, had no particular
liking for him, and more so from the fact of his being
one of the three who had kidnapped Little Six and
his braves at Bannatyne’s, in Winnipeg. Mr. Curtis,

“in 1862, resided with his family at Sturgeon Creek,
in the vicinity of Silver Heights. After the massacre
in Minnesota, he was employed in building huts for
the soldiers at Pembina, and removing them there.
Little Six, with eight of his braves, had taken refuge
in Manitobg from the United States authorities, who
had offered rewards for their apprehension, and were
going the rounds of the settlement, terrorizing settlers’
families in the absence of the settler himself, and help-
ing themselves to what they needed. Terrible reports
had spread about him, and fears were entertained that

he might repeat, on some helpless family, some of the
butcheries with which he was credited on the other

side of the line. Mr. Curtis’ family lived in a large
new house, with a good-sized kitchen attached; this
last was the only portion that was completed, and in
this, for the time being, the family resided. One
afternoon, during his absence at Pembina, the door
opened, and Little Six, with his warriors, walked in.
Mrs. Curtis was so taken by surprise and fear that she
could not say anything, but sat down at the foot of
the bed, while the children gathered round her in
terror. After accommodating his followers with seats,
he sat-down himself. He then asked for a basin and
water. Mrs. Curtis pretended not to know what he
said. Seeing this, he rose and helped himself. He
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next requested a brush and comb, but receiving no
answer from her, and seeing what he desired, went
and took them, and arranged his toilet with care
before them. This done, he spread his blanket on the
floor, sat down and lit a long pipe, and, after taking a
few whiffs, passed it round to his followers. The
table-cover next attracted the gentleman’s attention,
which he immediately desired Mrs. Curtis to give him.,
Mrs. Curtis shook her head as much as to say no,
which seemed to displease him, as he at once drew his
knife, and made a pantomimic gesture with it, as much
as to say, “I'll cut your heads off.” In this trying situa-
tion Mrs. Curtis did not know what to do. Her only
hope was that some one would come along and relieve
her out of this terrible difficulty. One of the windows
looked out on a bay or meadow, where the settlers
made a large portion of their hay. Earnestly she
looked to see some load or jumper coming along the
trail. At length, as if in answer to the prayer of her
heart, she espied a one-horse vehicle coming along.
She jumped to the door, opened it, and, before the
Indians had taken in the action, signalled the driver
to come to the house, then returned inside and sat
down. In a short time the door opened and a neigh-
bor walked 'in. He had hardly time to take in the
situation, when, with a dash through the door, which
was now hardly big enough, Little Six and his eight
braves disappeared as mysteriously as they had come.
Seeing the lonely position in which Mrs. Curtis was
placed, he suggested the idea of acquainting her father,
who lived some distance away, and having her and the
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children removed to the paternal home, in the present
excited state of the settlement, until the return of her
husband from Pembina. To this Mrs. Curtis gladly
assented, and the change was made that same even-
ing, her father only too glad to relieve them from their
trying position. In a few days Curtis returned, and
found the entire settlement in a state of excitement.
Some scheme had to be resorted to to get rid of this
band of Indian cut-throats, who were popping up here
and there and everywhere. A meceting was held, at
which it was decided to offer them a dinner at Banna-
tyne’s, drug them if possible, and get them out of the
country to where their presence was specially desired.
Under the guise of friendship, the scheme succeeded.
The Indians were invited to a geand pow-wow at the
premises of the above, where, as is their usual custom,
they ate and drank freely. The liquor of which they
partook, however, was drugged, and the whole nine
secured and transported to Uncle Sam’s dominions,
where they were executed in the following spring.
It will be seen that the dislike to Curtis was borne
out by the Portage Indians, from the following inei-
dent. One day Wolverine, whose name appears in the
previous pages, and whose notoriety consisted of being
at the bottom of all mischief, evil and theft, who was,
in the true sense of the term, a bad Indian, came rush-
ing into the house to Mrs. Curtis, in a state of excite-
ment, “ Wanting to see boy; wanted to talk to him.”
Mrs. Curtis told Wolverine that he could not see him,
“not in.” Wolverine, not satistied, made to open the
door leading into the bedroom. Mrs. Curtis, placing
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her back against the door, told him he could not go in
there. He then seized her by the arm, and pulled her
away several times, but she only resumed the position
before Wolverine could open the door. At last, draw-
ing his knife, he said, “ Me make you.” Curtis, who
had been half-asleep in the room, hearing the scuffle
outside, opened the door, and taking in the situation,
seized Wolverine, as an Englishman would say, by the
seat of the pants and the scuff of the neck, and pitched
him bodily out of doors. The language descriptive of
Wolverine's apparel I do not guarantee as strictly
accurate; it may have only been a breech-clout,
Indians don’t always wear pants. Curtis, at all events,
got hold of something, at the extremity of the
Indian’s back, and used it as a lever with the above

results. As he fell on his face he dropped the knife,
which Curtis had not seen before, and which he at
once picked up. Wolverine, on gaining his feet,
approached Curtis with outstretched hand, desiring to
shake and be friends, but Curtis, with a light blow,
knocked his hand to one side, and told him *“be off
out of this,” which he at once did.
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CHAPTER XI.

Scarcity of Provisions—Poetry—Death of Mr. Curtis—An Indian Horse

Thief—Courts and Trials—Distress and High Price of Food—Mis-
sion to England—Arrangements with Hudson Bay Company—
Trouble Brewing—Hon. Wm. McDougall.

IN the winter of 1878-79, flour was scarce in the
settlement, and not to be had, as also beef. Potatoes
could be obtained, but at a high price. With a desire
to assist his brother-in-law and family in this trying
situation, Mrs. Curtis’ brother, then a young man,
residing with them, went to his own home, killed an
animal he was raising, and brought the carcass to the
Portage. The Indians coming to know of the meat, or
Probably seeing it brought tb Curtis’ house, nine of
them came along the day following and demanded the
beef from Curtis. His wife had just gone out into the
garden, to look after some vegetables, a few minutes
before the Indians came to the house, and, apparently,
had not observed their approach. While thus engaged
the children came running out to her, saying, “ Ma,
come in; the Indians are going to kill pa!” Running
in, she found Curtis in the middle of the floor with
his gun in his hand, while nine Indians stood in the
doorway, in a defiant position. Mrs. Curtis took in
the situation at a glance, and knowing the dislike the
Indians entertained to her husband, she persuaded him
to lay down his gun ; then, standing between him and
the Indians, she told them they could not have all the
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meat, but that they might have some of it; that if
they continued this kipd of work, assistance would be
had from Winnipeg, a##d they would be driven from
the Portage as they had been from Minnesota. The
Indians pretended to laugh her down, and make light
of what she told them. By-and-by, however, one
backed slowly out; then angther, and another, until
all had gone. Even then she was afraid to close the
door, in case they should resent it as an insult, and
return. Mr. Curtis was often visited by the muse,
and when beating out the glowing iron, or watching
the flames as they leaped up from his forge at the
stroke of his bellows, or some other suggestive inci-
dent, his thoughts would take permanent form in
verse on the leading events of the settlements, many
of which are worthy of quotation, and of which we
give a selection. Some such occasion as the last
referred to was certainly the cause of inspiration in
this poem, which is as follows :—

My hammer on the anvil lay,

And thus it spake, or seemed to say :
*“ This is too bad ;

Have I not always stood your friend,

To fashion, forge—to make or mend ?

Then why so sad ?

‘ Why standest thou so gloomily,
And givest ne’er a thought to me,
Thy willing slave ?
Have I not toiled from morn to night,
And earned thee many shillings bright
By strokes so brave ?
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Say, hast thou heard me once complain

When thou didst smite, with might and main,
The horse-shoe red ?

Those merry times thou dost forget,

When, with heavy swing, I made thee sweat

And wipe thy head.

‘“ Though times are hard as hard can be,
' And wayward fortune frowns on thee,
- God comfort sends.
That you are growing old, they vow,
With whiskers gray, and wrinkled brow ;
Yet I'm your friend.

““ With sorrow now those lines I see,
Which Father Time has marked on thee,
Yet never heed.
Your good right arm shall earn you bread,
And from the iron glowing red,
Full all you need.

¢ Shake hands with me once more, old friend,
For many merry days we’ll spend,
Nor more despair.
Heap on the coal, the bellows blow,
See in yon cheerful, ruddy glow,
Hopes bright and fair.”

¢ Old friend,” said I, ‘‘ your words are good,
And but 1 gain my daily food,
Content I'll be.”
Methought my hammer smiled with grace, '
And rang out from the anvil’s face
A merry glee.

But see, who comes? Here's work at last !
And sturdy blows, both hard and fast,
The hammer plies.
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Full soon I earn the price of food,
And haste me home with treasure good,
Ere daylight dies.

My good wife smiles, and says : “I’ll bake
For you, old man, a bonny cake ;

So cease your clamor.”
The children clap their hands and shout,
‘ Hurrah !—here’s bread, without a doubt,
Thanks to the hammer.” -

I thanked my hammer as I stood,

Forgetting Him who doeth good,—
““Not 80,” it said.

Once more its face of steel it raised,

And sang out softly, ¢ God be praised,

He is the head.

‘ Not unto me thy thanks are owed,
But to the great, the living God,
Who loves thee still.
To succor stretches forth His arm,
Feeds thee, and keeps thee from all harm,
Then do His will.”

The second was made on the occasion of the removal
of the school-house from the river road to the centre
of the village :

Hearken, a voice from out the forge
Sings loud in praise of Mr. George,
Praise for his sturdy enterprise,
i - His tireless zeal, and cmﬁnsel wise.

']

This school, brief time h;l.s passed away,
Since by the river side it lay,
“We'll find for it a fitter spot,”
Said he, ‘‘and move it every jot.”
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With honest heart, and good intent,
Full many an hour and day he spent,
Asked all to help with heart and hand,—
To ask with him was to eommand.

At willing work who could bestow,
Well spent has been our time we know,
Great trains of carts, huge beams we see,
These last hauled out by Ogiltree.

The carpenters worked with a will,
With strange device, and cunningskill,
For Mr. George, we know he said it,
The better work the higher credit.

And why forbear to say a word

Of praise to Gaddy and to Bird,

Who freely offered us the land

On which complete our school does stand.

With pride behold we every log,

Our school complete, and a pedagogue
To teach with voice and main astute
The young idea how to shoot.

Success to Hill and to the school,

May all grow wise beneath his rule;
And boys and girls who hear this rhyme,
Upward the hill of knowledge climb.

Our teacher sure will train you well,

It rests with you to make it tell ;
Knowledge is power, seek to be wise,
Strive, boys and girls, to win the prize.

And now, good friends, both short and tall,
I've given you credit one and all,

But ere I get me to my forge

Here’s three times three for Mr. George.
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The third was written at the close of a series of
entertainments which had been held during the
winter in the school-house alluded to in poem No. 2 :

My thoughts I'll collect
For a brief retrospect,
And sing you a tale of our doings in rhyme :
The winter has passed
And spring come at last,
And with innocent fun we've beguiled the time.

Mr. George in the fall

Proposed to us all °
To fill up the winter with reading and song.

Young and old with a jest,

We have all done our best ;

The winter is o’er and we've not found it long.

‘ Mr. George from his store
Read us proud ‘¢ Ellinore,”
And many a piece fraught with wisdom and truth, The
Till ’twas plain to us all

{
l How pride gets a fall, betweer
! Wise lesson for old as well as for youth. Court
| Cunning
t There's Mr. McLean,
i I'm sure it’s quite plain
‘ He did all that he could that was jolly and funny ;
In right good broad Scotch
’ Filled up many a notch
! With tales of instruction and stories so bonny. Cho
!

And then Mr. Field
His ‘‘ Dickens” would wield,
; i And we never got tired wag it ever so long ;
I About Pickwick and Weller
! | And Bob Sawyer, poor fellow,
| And betwixt full many a good comic song.
!
|
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Then Mr. John Garrioch,
Though never in Carrick,
Has lived on Red River for ever so long ;
With his glasses on nose,
Read poetry and prose,
Ever read his daughter with sweetest of song.

Cold water let’s bring

Straight forth from the spring,
Health to Mr. Halcro who never did fail ;

His broad chest expanding,

Gave forth songs of good standing,

““Cold Spring Water” and the ‘‘ Rose of Sweet Allandale.”

Then there’s Mr. Taucett,
"Tis no use to gloss it,
Says how often he suffers a terrible pain ;
He just has got married,
And sadly he’s harried,
And wishes to goodness he was single again.

The fourth refers to the election contest of 1871
between Mr. Ryan, the present judge of the County
Court of the Central Judicial - District, and Mr.
Cunningham, to which we refer later on:

Well, here I am once more again,
I scarcely know where to begin,
It’s so long since I took the floor
I feel like bolting for the door.

Chorus.—For politics are all the go,

The length and breadth the country, oh !
Election day I’'m bound to go
And plank my vote for neighbor Joe.

I hardly know now what to say,

Is there any one can tell me, pray?
If not, then I will drum this kettle,
And try and 'lectioneer a little.



HISTORY OF MANITOBA.

I'll not abuse Mr. Cunningham,
We know he’s not our countryman ;
He’s got his fill of Government lunch,
So good-bye now to Billy Bunch.

Now, boys, I think it is too bad
He should call our man a little lad ;
Goliath said 1ad, till the stone did sting ;
Lad David slew him with a sling.

I've got to say, upon my word,
The Ahing to me is most absurd
Th¢y should bring a man our votes to beg,
Frpm that noted city, One-eye-Peg.

Joe 18 man both true and smart,

Who has our interest, too, at heart ;
A countryman who lives with us,
A man we know we all can trust.

He’s promised that with all his might
He'll advocate our cause and right ;

If he's elected you may bet

Your bottom dollar, our rights we'll get.

Let each and every one read his address,
"Tis printed in the Winnipeg Free Press ;
The platform is pure, and by it he'll abide, ..
And to Ottawa I hope he'll ride.

On polling day be all on hand,

Each one who can a vote command ;
March to the poll bold as a lion,

And plank your vote for Joseph Ryan.

For he’s our own countryman,
And for our rights I know he'll stand,
He's the only man we can rely on,

Hurrah ! Hurrah ! for Joseph Ryan.
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Mr. Curtis died on the 6th of August, 1874, having
just returned from the Palestine district, whither he
had gone to secure a homestead and pre-emption.
During his stay there he had taken out logs for
buildings, and also put up hay for his cattle. He had
also, prior to this, in company with Charles Hay, Esq.,
now of Vancouver, B.C., completed a large bridge
across Rat Creek, near the residence of Kenneth Mec-
Kenzie, sen. On the evening of his return, after paying
his neighbors a visit, as was his usual custom, he
desired Mrs. Curtis and the baby to sleep in another
room as he felt unwell and did not wish to be disturbed.
His wife, noticing that he acted strangely, determined,
after getting the child to sleep, to watch him. Towards
midnight, an Indian boy arrived on horseback, with
an order from his father, who had been employed by
Curtis, for some provisions. Curtis told the boy to
put up his pony for the night, and desired his wife to
make a shake-down for the lad. This done, he walked
out on the veranda in front of the house followed by
Mrs. Curtis, lit his pipe, took a few whiffs, and fell
back on the grass. His wife ran to his assistance. A
premonition, however, told her that it wasin vain. The
last flutter of life was visible; a moment more and
she stood in the visible presence of death ; her husband
had passed from the seen into the unseen, from the
vale of shadow into the light that lies beyond. She
at once despatched the Indian lad for a doctor, and
woke up the children and neighbors. Being a promi-
nent freemason, the brothers of the craft, amongst

whom were Charley Mair, Sandie Anderson and Charlie
16
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House, took charge of the remains and had them in-
terred with masonic rites at St. Mary’s cemetery. Here
they remained till 1884, when they were taken up
and reinterred in our west end cemetery, where a_
beautiful marble monument marks his last resting-
place.
About this time also, an Indian who had been
stealing horses, killing and selling the carcasses for
moose meat, was heard, while in a state of intoxication,
to make a boast of it, stating that he only lacked two
of having killed ten, most of them belonging to the
Portage settlement. Assome of the finest horses owned
by the settlers had mysteriously disappeared without
their being able to find any trace of them, feeling
ran high on the subject, and a warrant was issued by
the council for his arrest. A constable was at once
despatched, and the Indian arrested at Cram Creek.
He was brought into the Portage and tried before a
jury in Hudson’s house, found guilty, and sentenced
to be hung on an oak tree that grew in front of Fred
Bird’s old place. Exception being taken to the severity
of the sentence by John Garrioch and others of the
settlers, who contended that the council had no power
to mke"away life, it was agreed to send him down to
Fort Garry, to take his trial before the court of Assini-
boia. He was detained a prisoner in the house where
he received his trial. Fred Burr, a trader from Poplar
Point, and John McLean were placed guard over him
for the night. His arms were placed across his breast
and tied. During the night he managed to loosen the
rope with his teeth, and was endeavoring to raise the
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window and escape. McLean, who had been watching

his movements, touched Burr, who was half-asleep,
and patting the revolver that lay at his side whispered,
“Let him try it.” The Indian, hearing McLean whisper,
knew that his game was up, that his efforts to escape
had been observed, and preferred remaining a prisoner
to being shot in his exit through the window. He
was immediately re-pinioned, this time with his hands
behind his back, and in such a manner as made it
impossible for him to loosen them. He was sent down
to Fort Garry next day in charge of two constables,
one of whom was Charles Curtis, and lodged in the
gaol there. But it appears the door was never locked
on him, and he made his escape, reaching the Portage
before the constables. An order for his re-arrest was
issued some months later from Fort Garry, and twenty-
five men wounted on horseback went south of the
river to the sugar bush, in search of him. But the
bird had flown, andwas leisurely rusticating north at
Lake Manitoba.

From an old book in the possession of Mrs. Frederick
Bird, I am enabled to give my readers an insight into
the courts of those early days. The following is a
verbatim copy of the docket for January 7th, 1869 :
TERRITORY OF MANITOBA, | ~

QUARTERLY COURT. § S. 8.
Court convened at W. Hodgson’s house, January
7th, A.D. 1869, at 9 a.m.
DOCKET.
1. Dan. Shea '
James Asham.

v8 s Action for money.
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Postponed—brought back—postponed again to the
next court for want of evidence—brought back
again—verdict, for plaintiff for £8 and costs of
suit. Court orders an exepution to be issued.
Settled by the parties to suit.

2. James Asham } Action for the recovery of pro-

8. :
John Spence. perty.
Postponed—brought back and dismissed.

3. John Spence )
V8. - Action to recover property.
F. McLean. |

Postponed—brought back—judgment against plaintiff
by default.

4. The g;l]bllc ' Action for recovery of public
F. McLean. | property.

Judgment rendered in favor of defendant, and ordered
that F. McLean be paid ten shillings sterling for
the freight and storage on the property in his

hands, upon delivering the same to the treasurer.

Many and humorous are the episodes connected
with these old courts. Amongst the early litigants
who figured prominently in its sessions was a gentle-
man, still resident in the Portage, on whose shoulders
the hand of time is beginning to bear heavily, and
who has already been referred to in previous pages,
who in those early years kept a store and also acted
as a real estate agent. A valuable farm, about three
miles east of the town, now owned by Mr. Richardson,
was amongst the properties which this gentleman had
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to dispose of. A bargain was made between him and

a man by the name of Tom Hellis. Shortly after the
conclusion of the transaction, our friend of the first
part began to haul away the fence rails. Hellis,
getting word of it, came along to where the primary
owner was loading up, and asked him what he was
doing. “Suppose I sold you the farm, I did not sell
the fence,” said the seller, and proceeded with the
work: - Hellis, seeing that he did not mean to desist,
at once grappled with him in close quarters. The old
gentleman, who generally wore his hair long, came off
second-best in the scuffle, and Hellis could do with
him almost what he pleased. While they were thus
struggling, our old friend’s wife came along, and
covering Hellis with a revolver, said, “ By G-0-0-0-d, if
ye hurt ma man I'll shoot ye.” The same gentleman
being for a short time president of the council in the
early part of the sixties, a communication was sent to
2‘ by A. G. Bannatyne, the first postmaster at Fort
rry, anent postal communication between the
latter place and the Portage. Receiving no reply, he
told some of the settlers, who interviewed the presi-
dent about the matter, who replied thus,“ What be he ?
he’s only a postmaster, I'm Governor of the Portage.”
In 1868 the Canadian Government, on hearing of
the distress in Red River, instructed Mr. Snow, a sur-
veyor, to proceed thither and open a road towards the
north-west angle of the Lake of the Woods. While
thus engaged, he agreed to purchase from the Indians
a block of land five miles square, at St. Anne’s Point
(Du Chien), giving them flour, pork and drink in
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exchange for the same. The half-breeds, considering
that they were entitled to the land, part of which had
been already numbered and claimed _at once lodged
information with the local government. Snow was
at once brought before the courts, charged with selling
liquor to the Indians, and fined £50. The discontent
caused by this transaction was so great that Snow and
his paymaster, Charlie Mair (now of Prince Albert),
were for a time compelled to leave the locality. Mair,
who had been corresponding for the Toronto Globe, did
not help matters any, as his letters abounded with
offensive allusions to the native character, which raised
such a storm of indignation about his ears that he was
only allowed to remain in the Province through the
intervention of Governor McTavish, and on apologizing
to the leading half-breeds and promising to write no
more letters of such a nature. Snow was permitted
to resume his duties after satisfying the half-breeds
that he would content himself with doing the work
ordered by the Government. The manipulation of the
government stores by the officials in charge is spoken
of to this day as a piece of wholesale jobbery. The
Government intended the employees and poor people
to receive their provisions at cost. Instead of follow-
ing out their orders in this respect, employees were
charged from £3 12s. to £5 per barrel of flour, which
they should have had at £3. Some employees received
orders on a store kept by Dr. Schultz, which were
afterwards cashed by Dr. Bown, and a wholesale sys-
tem of jobbery indulged in, discreditable to all con-
cerned, and which latterly nearly cost Snow his life.
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In his deposition before the Government on May 21,
1874, Col. Dennis implicated Dr. Schultz as being con-
cerned with Snow in"the land transaction referred to.

In 1868 Sir George E. Cartier and Hon. William Me-
Dougall were, by an order in council, appointed com-
missioners to proceed to England and put themselves
in communication with the Imperial Government and
the Hudson Bay authorities, with a view to the
acquisition by Canada of Rupert’s Land, and to arrange
for the admission of the North-West Territories. They
sailed for the above country on the 3rd of October,
1868. The first proposition of the Hudson Bay Com-
pany was that they should relinquish the right of
government and elaim to the land, but retain a royalty
interest in the land and mines, as well as certain reser-
vations for hunting, and some trading privileges. This
the commissioners declined to entertain, urging that
whatever arrangements were made must be conclusive,
and that all right of title to the land must be abso-
lutely relinquished by the company, as well as the
exclusive right of trading, fishing, and other privi-
leges.

While these negotiations were going on, the Disraeli
Government, which was in power, was defeated, and
in the changes which ensued Earl Granville was
appointed Secretary of State for the Colonies. On
the 18th of January, 1869, negotiations were again
resumed, and concluded by the 9th of March, which
were as follows: That the Dominion Government
should pay the Hudson Bay Company £300,000 on
the surrender of their rights to the Imperial Govern-
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ment, and that the Imperial Government should, within

one month of such transfer, re-transfer the same to
Canada ; the company retaining certain reservations
of land in the vicinity of their posts, which were
under cultivation, and two sections in each surveyed
township, amounting to about one-twentieth of the
whole territory.

A pamphlet published this year showed the com-
pany to own about 7,000,000 acres in the fertile belt.
These preliminaries arranged, a bill was passed by
which the Imperial Government agreed to guarantee
a loan of £300,000, to pay the Hudson Bay Company,
on condition of certain requirements being complied
with by the Dominion Government, the date of trans-
fer being fixed for the 1st of October, 1869.

Preparations were at once begun by the Dominion
authorities for this event, and to take advantage of the
coming summer to survey the lines of the townships
into which it was proposed to divide the Red River
settlement. Col. J. S. Dennis was directed by Hon.
Wm. McDougall, Minister of Public Works, to proceed
to the above, and prepare a plan for laying out said
townships. After consulting with the United States
and the Crown Lands Department of Canada, Dennis
submitted his report, and on the 4th of October
received an order to proceed with his survey.

Some difficulty having arisen with the Home Gov-
ernment respecting the paying over of the £300,000
to the Hudson Bay Company, the date of transfer
was postponed two months later on, to the 5th of
December. Meanwhile the Dominion Govemmer)f
pushed its preparations. 7
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On the 28th of September, by an order in council, the
Hon. Wm. McDougall was appointed Lieutenant-Gover-
nor of the North-West Territories, at a salary of
$7,000 per annum, and instructed to proceed at once
to Fort Garry and put himself in communication with
Governor McTavish, of the Hudson Bay Company, at
that place.

Mr. McDougall reached Pembina on the 30th of
October, accompanied by his family, A. N. Richards,
the Attorney-General, and J. A. M. Provencher, Secre-
tary, and Capt. Cameron ; as also 300 rifles and plenty
of ammunition.

Here he found a half-breed who had been awaiting
his arrival for several days, and who served him
with a formal notice to quit the territory. Disregard-
ing this protest, he pushed two miles farther to the
Hudson Bay post; from here he forwarded to the
Secretary of State a report on the condition of the
country, enclosing in the same despatch Col. Dennis’
account of his reception by the French half-breeds,
and the feeling of the people anent his reception as
Lieutenant-Governor.

From this document, it would appear that while a
surveying party under Mr. Webb were running a base
line between townships six and seven, Riel, accom-
panied by about twenty ¥French half-breeds, approached
the party and ordered them to desist, as the property
they were surveying belonged to French half-breeds,
sayimg that they would not allow it to be surveyed
by the Canadian Government, and that they must at
once retire from the south side of the Assiniboine.
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During the altercation no violence was used, Riel®
and a few of his men simply stepping on the chain.
Mr. Webb, though seeing no arms on the French party,
thought it prudent to retire at once, reporting the
situation to Col. Dennis, who applied to the Hudson
Bay authorities. Governor McTavish and Dr. Cowan
at once interviewed Riel anent the matter, who replied
that the Canadian Government had no right to pro-
ceed with the surveys without the consent of the
half-breeds.

Father Lestang, who had charge of the St. Boniface
Missiony during the absence of Bishop (now Arch-
bishop) Tache, who at that time was on his way to
attend the (Ecumenical Council at Rome, was appealed
to. Lestang declined to interfere, lest by doing so
the influence of the Church over the people should be
lessened.

Dennis went on further to say that meetings of the
disaffected half-breeds had been held at various places,

anotably at the house of John Bruce, where resolutions
were pass @esist, by force if necessary, McDou-
gall’s vntmnu the territory; that an armed
‘%\ French half-breeds had gathered
gl |

e, on the road between Fort Garry

force of al
at the Ri
and Pembin
camped at Scrafghing River, nearer the boundary, for
that purpose. Col. Dennis concluded his report by

hat another body under Riel was

saying that the attitude of the English-speaking
colonists was that, though they had every confidence
in the future government of the country under Cana-
dian rule, and were prepared to accept the new admin-
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istration, even though it had been made up in Canada
without ever consulting them as a people—a fact which
they regretted, and which certainly was the cause of
the trouble on the part of the French—that they
were not prepared to face an issue with these people,
with whom they had hitherto lived in friendship,
backed up as that issue would be by the Church of
Rome and the Indians; that as the Dominion Gov-
erniceht had been the cause of this trouble, they alone
should assume the responsibility of establishing what
they and they alone had decided; that they were
willing, should the Council make an appeal to the
settlement, to meet unarmed and escort the Hon. Wm.
McDougall to Fort Garry, and show to the French
party under arms that they were opposed to the pre-
sent threatening movement assumed by them towards
McDougall. »

On learning the attitude of the French towards him,
McDougall remained at the Hudson Bay post, waiting
a reply from Governor McTavish by Mr. Provencher,
whom he had despatched with a message. Provencher
was stopped at Scratching River, and sent back under
escort, with the warning that none of his party would
be allowed to proceed to Red River.

On the 1st of December, Col. Dennis and Wm. Hal-
lett, by making a detour bf the prairie, avoiding
the French stationed at Seratching River, reached
the Hudson Bay post at Pembina, from Fort Garry,
and reported that the French were very excited and
that the Hudson Bay authorities were either powerless
or disinclined to take any steps to secure McDougall’s
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entrance into Fort Garry. On the 2nd of November,
a party of fourteen men approached the post, and
warned MecDougall to leave. Not complying with
this notice, they renewed the warning next morning,
stating that unless he and his party vacated the post
by nine o’clock they would not answer for their lives,
and showing by other military preparations that they
were prepared to put the threat into execution.
McDougall deemed it wise to retire at once to United
States territory, whither he was escorted by a party
of the French, who, when they reached the post that
marks the 49th parallel, stopped, and addressing Mr.
McDougall in French, said: “You must not return
beyond this line.”

About this time rumors began to be circulated at Fort
Garry that the insurgents intended to take possession
of the fort, of which the authorities were duly warned
by Sergeant Mulligan, Chief of the Police at Fort
Garry, and others. Mulligan urged Dr. Cowan to call
out a number of the special constables, as also the pen-
sioners, for its defence. No notice, however, was taken
of these warnings by Governor McTavish.

The mails which passed at this time were also inter-
cepted. All letters for those favorable to Canada
were stopped, and a general surveillance exercised
over all matter coming to the settlement. This
occasioned great trouble in getting reliable informa-
tion as to the true state of matters.
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CHAPTER XIL

First Act in the Rebellion of 1870—Riel and Governor McTavish—
Council Called by Riel—Lawless Acts-—Second Meeting of Council
—Bill of Rights—Dennis and McDougall Retire—Riel’s Prisoners
—Riel President of Government—Arrival of Donald A. Smith—
Escape of Schultz—Second Bill of Rights—Provisional Government.

ON the afternooon of the 2nd of November a force of
armed men, to the number of about one hundred, was
seen approaching Fort Garry from the River Salle
Road. They walked through the open gates, and pro-
ceeded at once to billet themselves throughout the
various houses of the fort. Appoaching Riel, Dr.
Cowan said, “ What do you want here with all those
armed men?” “We have come to guard the fort,”
replied Riel. “Against whom,” said Dr. Cowan.
“Against an enemy,” said Riel. The French at once pro-
ceeded to exchange their shot-guns for Enfield rifles,
closed the gates, set a guard, and placed the cannon
in position. Having plenty of ammunition and small
arms, as also provisions and stores sufficient to last the
winter, they felt themselves masters of the situation,
and that the first grand act in the great drama of
rebellion had been consummated.

Four days after occupying the fort, Riel walked
down to the office of the Nor’-Wester, to which we
have referred in the earlier pages, and directed Walter
Bohn, the proprietor, to print a proclamation, which
Bohn refused to do. He was at once made a prisoner,

e —————————
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and a guard placed over the office, while the proclama-
tion was printed under the supervision of James
Ross.

At this juncture, Riel was joined by W. B. O’Dono-
hue, who assumed the duties of treasurer, and who, at
this time, occupied the position of teacher in the
Roman Catholic sehool at St. Boniface ; as also private
tutor to Governor McTavish’s children, and who
began at once to collect the usual four per cent.
imposed on alk merchandise, as was the custom with
the Hudson Bay Company ; also- inspecting all goods
coming from the United States. He also seized
several single and double buffalo hunting guns, with a
quantity of ammunition, which was a severe loss to
the owners, who could obtain no redress, as “ might
was right.”

O'Donohue also, in a letter addressed to the Speaker
of the House of Commons, of the 26th of February,
1875, says the insurrection was advised by Governor
Wm. McTavish, who, with other officers of the Hudson
Bay Company, also aided and abetted it from its incep-
tion to the very day it ceased to exist; that Riel
was in constant communication with Governor
McTavish, and in many cases under his instructions;
that he (Governor McTavish) fully recognized the
provisional government; that Donald A. Smith, on
arriving at Fort Garry, recognized the government in
his own hearing, and, with Governor McTavish, was
Riel’s adviser. During his stay in the fort, and after
the departure of both these from the country, Riel
continued to hold counsel with John MecTavish, who
then represented the Hudson Bay Company.
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The capture of the fort, with the seizure of the
arms, showed the Canadians that the aim of the
French was to establish a government by force if
necessary. A numerously signed petition was pre-
sented Governor McTuviqh, urging him to issue a
proclamation calling upon/the insurgents to lay down
their arms. This was prgsented on the 12th.

Though unwilling to recognize the proclamation of
Riel, which ran as follows :

“ Public notice to the inhabitants of Rupert’s Land.
—The President and representatives of the French-
speaking population of Rupert’s Land in council (the
invaders of our rights being now expelled), already
aware of your sympathy, do extend the hahd of friend-
ship to you, our fellow friendly inhabitants, and in so
doing, do hereby invite you to send twelve representa-
tives from the following places: St. John’s, 1; Head-
ingly, 1; St. Mary’s, 1 ; St. Clement’s, 1; St. Paul’s, 1;
St. Margaret’s, 1; St. James’, 1; Kildonan, 1; St. An-
drew’s, 1; St. Peter’s, 1; Winnipeg or Fort Garry, 2,
in order to formm one body with the above council,
consisting of twelve members, to consider the present
political state of this country, and to adopt such
measures as may be best fitted for the future welfare
of the same.

“ A meeting of the above council will be held at the
Court House on Thursday, the sixteenth day of
November, at which the invited representatives will
attend.

“By order of the President,

“Louls RIEL.
“Fort GARRY, Nov. 6th, 1869.”
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Yet, with the hope that they might influence the con- The
vention to good purpose, they finally agreed to send of Go
the following delegates to represent their interests: weak |
the Fr.

ENGLISH MEMBERS. ‘ which

Fort Garry—H. F. Kenny, H. F. O’'Lone. and a
Kildonan—James Ross. against

St. John’s—Maurice Lowman. The
St. Paul’s—Dr. Bird. conven
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